
  

CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF 

COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
GWŶS I GYFARFOD PWYLLGOR 
 
C Hanagan 
Y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd CBSRhCT  
2 Llys Cadwyn  
Stryd Taf  
Pontypridd CF37 4TH 
 
Dolen gyswllt: Julia Nicholls - Gwasanaethau Democrataidd (01443 424098)  
 
DYMA WŶS I CHI i gyfarfod hybrid o GYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL RHONDDA 
CYNON TAF sydd i'w gynnal ar DYDD MERCHER, 6 MAWRTH 2024 am 5pm 
 
Bwriedir i’r cyfarfod yma gael ei weddarlledu’n fyw, mae rhagor o fanylion am hyn yma 

 
AMSER EITEM TUDALEN(N

AU) 
  

EITEM 1. DATGAN BUDDIANT 
 

5 
Munud  

Derbyn datganiadau o fuddiannau personol gan Aelodau yn 
unol â'r Cod Ymddygiad. 
  

1.     Mae gofyn i Aelodau ddatgan rhif a phwnc yr agendwm 
y mae eu buddiant yn ymwneud ag e a mynegi natur y 
buddiant personol hwnnw; a   

2.     Lle bo Aelodau'n ymneilltuo o'r cyfarfod o ganlyniad i 
ddatgelu buddiant sy'n rhagfarnu, rhaid iddyn nhw roi 
gwybod i'r Cadeirydd pan fyddan nhw'n gadael. 

  
 

 

 
5 

Munud 
  

EITEM 2. CYHOEDDIADAU 
 

 

 
EITEM 3. COFNODION 

 
 5 

Munud 
Cadarnhau cofnodion o gyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 7 
Chwefror 2024 yn rhai cywir.  
 

5 - 16 

 
 LLYWODRAETHU AGORED: 

 
 

 
EITEM 4. DATGANIADAU 

 
10 

Munud  
Yn unol â Rheol 2 o Weithdrefn Llywodraethu Agored Cyfarfodydd 
y Cyngor, derbyn datganiadau gan Arweinydd y Cyngor a/neu 
Gynghorwyr sy'n Aelodau Portffolio o'r Cabinet:  
 

 

 
EITEM 5. CWESTIYNAU GAN YR AELODAU 

 
20 

Munud  
Derbyn cwestiynau'r Aelodau yn unol â Rheol 9.2 o Weithdrefn y 

17 - 26 

https://rctcbc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Cyngor.  
  
(Nodwch: Caniateir hyd at 20 munud ar gyfer cwestiynau.)  
  

 RHAGLEN WAITH Y CYNGOR – ER GWYBODAETH I 
AELODAU 

Rhaglen Waith Y Cyngor 2023-2024 
 

 

 
 ADRODDIADAU'R SWYDDOGION 

 
 

 
EITEM 6. STRATEGAETH CYLLIDEB REFENIW 2024/25 

 
20 

Munud  
Derbyn adroddiad y Dirprwy Brif Weithredwr a Chyfarwyddwr 
Cyfadran y Gwasanaethau Cyllid, Digidol a Rheng Flaen.  
 

27 - 90 

 
EITEM 7. PENDERFYNIAD TRETH Y CYNGOR 2024/25 

 
10 

Munud  
Derbyn adroddiad y Dirprwy Brif Weithredwr a Chyfarwyddwr 
Cyfadran y Gwasanaethau Cyllid, Digidol a Rheng Flaen.  
 

91 - 102 

 
EITEM 8. RHAGLEN GYFALAF 2024/25 – 2026/27 

 
10 

Munud  
Derbyn adroddiad y Dirprwy Brif Weithredwr a Chyfarwyddwr 
Cyfadran y Gwasanaethau Cyllid, Digidol a Rheng Flaen.  
 

103 - 124 

 
EITEM 9. STRATEGAETH RHEOLI'R TRYSORLYS 2024/2025 

 
10 

Munud  
Derbyn adroddiad y Dirprwy Brif Weithredwr a Chyfarwyddwr 
Cyfadran y Gwasanaethau Cyllid, Digidol a Rheng Flaen.  
 

125 - 144 

 
EITEM 10. ADRODDIAD STRATEGAETH GYFALAF 2024/25 

 
10 

Munud  
Derbyn adroddiad y Dirprwy Brif Weithredwr a Chyfarwyddwr 
Cyfadran y Gwasanaethau Cyllid, Digidol a Rheng Flaen.  
 

145 - 164 

 
EITEM 11. DATGANIAD 2024/25 Y CYNGOR AR BOLISI 

CYFLOGAU 
 

10 
Munud  

Derbyn Adroddiad ar y Cyd Cyfarwyddwr Materion Adnoddau 
Dynol a Chyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol.  
 

165 - 176 

 
EITEM 12. MATERION BRYS 

 
  

Trafod unrhyw faterion sydd, yn ôl doethineb y Cadeirydd, yn 
faterion brys yng ngoleuni amgylchiadau arbennig. 
  
 

 

Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth – Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu 
 
 
At: Pob Aelod o'r Cyngor  
 

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/CY/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/RelatedDocuments/workprogrammes/20232024/CouncilWorkProgramme202324.pdf


 

 

 
PWYLLGOR CYNGOR RHONDDA CYNON TAF 

 CYNGOR 
Cofnodion o gyfarfod rhithwr y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd Dydd Mercher, 7 Chwefror 2024 am  

5.00 pm. 
 

Cafodd y cyfarfod yma ei ddarlledu'n fyw, ac mae modd gweld y manylion yma 
 

Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol – Roedd y Cynghorwyr canlynol yn bresennol :- 
 

Y Cynghorydd G Hughes (Cadeirydd) 
 

Y Cynghorydd S Evans Y Cynghorydd B Stephens 
Y Cynghorydd L Addiscott Y Cynghorydd M Ashford 

Y Cynghorydd J Barton Y Cynghorydd R Bevan 
Y Cynghorydd J Bonetto Y Cynghorydd S Bradwick 

Y Cynghorydd J Brencher Y Cynghorydd G Caple 
Y Cynghorydd J Cook Y Cynghorydd A Crimmings 

Y Cynghorydd S J Davies Y Cynghorydd R Davis 
Y Cynghorydd A Dennis Y Cynghorydd V Dunn 

Y Cynghorydd J Elliott Y Cynghorydd A J Ellis 
Y Cynghorydd L Ellis Y Cynghorydd S Emanuel 

Y Cynghorydd D Evans Y Cynghorydd A Fox 
Y Cynghorydd D Grehan Y Cynghorydd H Gronow 

Y Cynghorydd B Harris Y Cynghorydd S Hickman 
Y Cynghorydd G Holmes Y Cynghorydd G Hopkins 
Y Cynghorydd W Hughes Y Cynghorydd K Johnson 

Y Cynghorydd G Jones Y Cynghorydd G O Jones 
Y Cynghorydd W Jones Y Cynghorydd R Lewis 
Y Cynghorydd W Lewis Y Cynghorydd C Leyshon 
Y Cynghorydd C Lisles Y Cynghorydd M Maohoub 

Y Cynghorydd C Middle Y Cynghorydd A Morgan 
Y Cynghorydd N H Morgan Y Cynghorydd S Morgans 

Y Cynghorydd W Owen Y Cynghorydd Owen-Jones 
Y Cynghorydd  M Norris Y Cynghorydd D Parkin 
Y Cynghorydd M Powell Y Cynghorydd C Preedy 

Y Cynghorydd S Rees Y Cynghorydd A Roberts 
Y Cynghorydd A O Rogers Y Cynghorydd J Smith 

Y Cynghorydd G Stacey Y Cynghorydd L A Tomkinson 
Y Cynghorydd S Trask Y Cynghorydd W Treeby 

Y Cynghorydd J Turner Y Cynghorydd G L Warren 
Y Cynghorydd K Webb Y Cynghorydd M Webber 

Y Cynghorydd D Williams Y Cynghorydd R Williams 
Y Cynghorydd T Williams Y Cynghorydd D Wood 

Y Cynghorydd R Yeo  
 

Swyddogion oedd yn bresennol 
 

Mr P Mee, Prif Weithredwr 
Mr B Davies, Dirprwy Brif Weithredwr ac Chyfarwyddwr Cyfadran - Cyllid, Gwasanaethau Digidol a 

Gwasanaethau Rheng Flaen 
Mr R Evans, Cyfarwyddwr - Materion Adnoddau Dynol 

Tudalen 3

Agendwm 3

https://rctcbc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

Mr S Gale, Cyfarwyddwr Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu 
Mr C Hanagan, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu 

Mr A Wilkins, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol 
Ms K Beirne, Director Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 

 
 

Ymddiheuriadu am absenoldeb 
 

Y Cynghorydd P Binning Y Cynghorydd E L Dunning 
Y Cynghorydd J Edwards Y Cynghorydd P Evans 

Y Cynghorydd S.Evans Y Cynghorydd K Morgan 
Y Cynghorydd S Powderhill  

 
  

91   Datganiadau o Fuddiant  
 

 

 Yn unol â Chod Ymddygiad y Cyngor, cafodd y datganiadau o fuddiant canlynol 
eu gwneud ynglŷn â'r agenda: 
  
Eitem 2 ar yr Agenda – Bargen Ddinesig Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd 
  
       i.          Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Morgan, OBE - Personol "Cefais fy 

mhenodi gan y Cyngor i fod yn rhan o Gabinet Bargen Ddinesig 
Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd." 

  
      ii.          Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol R Bevan – Personol – "Cefais fy mhenodi 

gan y Cyngor yn Aelod o Gydbwyllgor Craffu Bargen Ddinesig Prifddinas-
Ranbarth Caerdydd a chefais fy ethol yn Is-Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor ar gyfer 
Blwyddyn y Cyngor eleni".  

  
    iii.          Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol J Turner – Personol – "Cefais fy mhenodi 

gan y Cyngor yn Aelod Wrth Gefn ar gyfer Cydbwyllgor Craffu Bargen 
Ddinesig Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd." 
  

    iv.          Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol W Owen – Personol – "Rydw i'n berchen 
ar fusnes." 

  
Eitem 7 ar yr Agenda – Rhybudd o Gynnig 
  
     v.          Cynghorydd Bwrdeistref Sirol S Bradwick – Personol – "Rydw i'n darparu 

cymorth ariannol i deuluoedd ac i ganolfannau achub anifeiliaid yn 
Wcráin." 

  
 

 

 
92   BARGEN DDINESIG PRIFDDINAS-RANBARTH CAERDYDD  

 
 

 Gyda chymorth cyflwyniad PowerPoint, rhoddodd Cyfarwyddwr Bargen Ddinesig 
Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd (CCRCD) yr wybodaeth ddiweddaraf i'r Aelodau 
am waith y CCRCD, ei flaenoriaethau cyffredinol a'i effaith ehangach hyd yma.   
Yn rhan o'r cyflwyniad, rhoddwyd trosolwg i'r Aelodau hefyd o'r broses o 
drawsnewid i fod yn Gydbwyllgor Corfforedig (CJC) a'r trefniadau llywodraethu 
ehangach. 
  
Yn rhan o'r cyflwyniad, rhoddwyd manylion i'r Aelodau am yr heriau rhanbarthol 
a'r cynlluniau sydd ar waith i fynd i'r afael â heriau o'r fath, rôl Bargen Ddinesig 

 

Tudalen 4



 

Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd a chyllid, yn ogystal â'r llwyddiannau hyd yma.  
  
Aeth y Cyfarwyddwr ymlaen i roi manylion gwaith Bargen Ddinesig Prifddinas-
Ranbarth Caerdydd yn Rhondda Cynon Taf, gan gyfeirio at seilwaith megis 
'Metro Plus', Hwb Trafnidiaeth y Porth, a Phyrth Darganfod RhCT yn ogystal â 
chyfleoedd i ddatblygu mewn Clwstwr. Darparwyd rhagor o fanylion am fodel 
llwyddiannus Zip World i'r Aelodau, cyn i'r Cyfarwyddwr fyfyrio ar y camau nesaf 
ar gyfer y Fwrdeistref Sirol. 
  
Daeth y cyflwyniad i ben drwy amlinellu'r symudiad i fod yn Gyd-bwyllgor 
Corfforedig a manteision dull gweithredu rhanbarthol ar gyfer RhCT a'r camau 
nesaf ar gyfer dull gweithredu o'r fath. 
  
Soniodd yr Arweinydd am y gwaith mawr a wnaed gan Fargen Ddinesig 
Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd, gan fyfyrio ar bryderon blaenorol y byddai’r 
bartneriaeth o fudd i Gaerdydd yn unig. Manteisiodd ar y cyfle i dynnu sylw at y 
prosiectau niferus a gyflawnwyd ym Mwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf, gan 
gyfeirio at y 'Gronfa Fytholwyrdd', 'Zip World', Buddsoddi mewn Tai, yn ogystal â 
chronfeydd trafnidiaeth rhanbarthol a datblygu strategol. Soniodd yr Arweinydd 
am gyfleoedd i fuddsoddi'n hirdymor drwy Fargen Ddinesig Prifddinas-Ranbarth 
Caerdydd a'r cyfleoedd am cyflogaeth a fyddai'n deillio o hynny. 
  
Cyfeiriodd yr Arweinydd at symud i Gyd-Bwyllgorau Corfforedig gan gadarnhau y 
byddai angen rhagor o gydweithio ac yn y dyfodol byddai pob Awdurdod yn cael 
ei gynrychioli ar y Byrddau a'r Paneli oddi mewn iddynt. 
  
Ar ran Arweinydd yr Wrthblaid, siaradodd Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol D 
Grehan am y gobaith a amlygwyd yn y cyflwyniad a'r cyfle i wireddu a 
chyfiawnhau'r gobaith yma yn y dyfodol.  Gwnaeth yr Aelod sylwadau ar y 
derminoleg 'jargon' yn y cyflwyniad a siaradodd hefyd am bryderon mewn 
perthynas ag unrhyw effaith bosibl ar Gynlluniau Datblygu Lleol unigol pob un o'r 
Awdurdodau mewn perthynas â'r datblygiadau sy'n cael eu gweithredu gan 
Fargen Ddinesig Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd.  
  
Ymatebodd y Cyfarwyddwr drwy roi gwybod am y cyfleoedd ariannu sy'n cael eu 
cynnig o fewn yr Awdurdod i helpu i adeiladu cydnerthedd a gobaith, gan sôn 
am gyfleoedd 'cronfa wedi'i hailgylchu'. Cadarnhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr na fyddai 
gwaith Bargen Ddinesig Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd yn ymyrryd nac yn 
tresmasu ar Gynlluniau Datblygu Lleol Awdurdodau unigol ond ei fod yn gyfle i 
ddod â chynlluniau lleol at ei gilydd, trwy berthynas waith agos gyda Swyddogion 
y Cyngor. 
  
Siaradodd Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol Powell yn gadarnhaol am y cyflwyniad 
a'r cyfleoedd a amlygwyd ynddo. 
  
Gwnaeth Aelod o Gydbwyllgor Craffu'r Cyngor, Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol R 
Bevan sylwadau ar y seilwaith a'r cyfleoedd cynllunio rhanbarthol ac ymatebodd 
y Cyfarwyddwr iddynt gan roi gwybod am y blociau adeiladu ar gyfer llunio 
economi Gymreig ragorol. 
  
Holodd un Aelod am y cyfleoedd sydd ar gael i uwchsgilio a rhoi ar y trywydd 
cyflym, gan dalu sylw penodol i dechnegwyr cerbydau trydan.  Cadarnhaodd y 
Cyfarwyddwr nad oedd y setiau sgiliau angenrheidiol ar gael yn y cwantwm ar 
hyn o bryd a bod gwaith gwerthuso cyffredinol yn cael ei gynnal. Darparwyd 
manylion am y cyfleoedd i ddarparu cyrsiau hyfforddiant dwys mewn colegau, a 

Tudalen 5



 

hynny'n enghraifft o'r llwyfannau uwchsgilio a hyfforddi sy'n cael eu cynnig i fynd 
i'r afael â materion o'r fath.  
  
Gofynnwyd cwestiwn ychwanegol ynglŷn â gostyngiad yn y rhyddhad ardrethi i 
fusnesau ac a fyddai hyn yn atal buddsoddiad mewn busnesau, ac felly'n 
niweidiol i fuddsoddiad ym Margen Ddinesig Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd.  
Ymatebodd y Cyfarwyddwr drwy roi sylwadau ar y pecyn o fesurau yr oedd 
angen cytuno arnynt gyda Llywodraeth Cymru mewn perthynas â chadw a 
chyfuno ardrethi busnes i helpu i annog buddsoddiad. Gwnaeth sylwadau 
pellach ar y gwahanol ffyrdd o edrych ar ardrethi busnes i ryddhau'r 
buddsoddiad treth. 
  
I gloi, gwnaeth y Llywydd sylwadau ar y cynnydd a'r buddsoddiad sylweddol 
ledled RhCT, a'r cyfleoedd i gydweithio rhagor yn y rhanbarth yn y dyfodol.  
  
CYTUNWYD y byddai'r Aelodau'n nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad. 
  
  

93   Cofnodion  
 

 

 PENDERFYNODD y Cyngor gymeradwyo cofnodion y cyfarfod, a gynhaliwyd ar 
17 Ionawr 2024 yn rhai cywir. 
  
 

 

 
94   Cyhoeddiadau  

 
 

 Daeth dim un cyhoeddiad i law yn y cyfarfod. 
  
 

 

 
95   Datganiadau  

 
 

 Daeth dim un datganiad i law yn y cyfarfod. 
  
 

 

 
96   Cwestiynau gan yr Aelodau  

 
 

   
1.     Cwestiwn gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol Sheryl Evans i 

Arweinydd y Cyngor, Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Morgan 
OBE: 

  
"A wnaiff yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ddatganiad am y cyllid a gafodd ei roi'n ddiweddar 
gan Lywodraeth Cymru o dan y Gronfa Ffyrdd Cydnerth a'r Gronfa Trafnidiaeth 
Leol?" 
  
Ymateb y Cynghorydd A Morgan OBE: 
  
Soniodd yr Arweinydd am lwyddiant y Cyngor i gaffael symiau sylweddol o arian 
dros y blynyddoedd diwethaf, gyda bron i £10 miliwn wedi'i sicrhau drwy'r Grant 
Ffyrdd Cydnerth yn unig dros y pedair blynedd diwethaf. Dywedwyd bod cyllid o'r 
fath wedi galluogi nifer o gynlluniau ffyrdd atal llifogydd wedi'u targedu i gael eu 
cyflawni i unioni rhai o'r problemau draenio sy'n effeithio ar rannau o rwydwaith y 
priffyrdd ar hyd prif heolydd y Sir. 
  
Darparwyd manylion y cyllid a ddaeth i law a soniwyd wrth yr Aelodau bod £1 

 

Tudalen 6



 

miliwn wedi'i dderbyn o'r Gronfa Ffyrdd Cydnerth ar gyfer 2023/24 er mwyn 
cefnogi datblygu 13 o brosiectau i liniaru effeithiau llifogydd a newid yn yr 
hinsawdd ar y rhwydwaith trafnidiaeth.  Yn ogystal, sicrhaodd y Cyngor 
£400,000 o Gronfa Trafnidiaeth Leol Llywodraeth Cymru.  Dyrannwyd £200,000 
o'r cyllid yma ar gyfer gwelliannau i flaenoriaethu bysiau, gan gynnwys gwaith 
gwella safleoedd bysiau, arosfannau bysiau a chyrbiau uwch ar lwybrau lleol 
Aberdâr a Phontypridd.  Gorffennodd yr Arweinydd drwy roi gwybod am y cyllid o 
£200,000 a ddyrannwyd i'w ddefnyddio ar gyfer gwaith dichonoldeb pellach ar 
gyfer cynlluniau Porth Gogledd Cwm Cynon a Ffordd Gyswllt Llantrisant o 
ganlyniad i adroddiad Adolygiad Ffyrdd Llywodraeth Cymru yn 2023. 
  
  
Cwestiwn atodol gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol Sheryl Evans: 
  
"Oes modd i chi gadarnhau'r cynlluniau sydd wedi’u cyflawni yn ward Aberaman 
(Gogledd a De)." 
  
Ymateb gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Morgan OBE: 
  
Enwodd yr Arweinydd y prosiectau a gyflawnwyd yn Ward Aberaman (gan 
gynnwys ffiniau hanesyddol) dros y 4 blynedd diwethaf, sef cyfanswm o 6 
chynllun unigol (dyma restr): 
  
· Stryd Lewis – Cam Dylunio – Uwchraddio draenio'r briffordd 
  
· Stryd Jones – Cam Adeiladu – Uwchraddio draenio'r briffordd 
  
· Cam 3 Teras Bronallt  Cam Adeiladu – Uwchraddio cwlfer ar y briffordd 
  
· Glenbói – Cam Adeiladu – Gwaith uwchraddio draenio'r briffordd 
  
· Maes y Ffynnon/Heol Caerdydd – Uwchraddio cwlfer ar y briffordd 
  
· A4059 – Aberdâr – Asda R/A – Cam Adeiladu – Uwchraddio draenio'r briffordd 
a mesurau llif dros dir. 
  

2.      Dywedodd y Llywydd fod yr ail gwestiwn a restrwyd wedi'i ollwng 
oherwydd y cafwyd ymddiheuriad gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref 
Sirol J Edwards. 
  
  

3.     Cwestiwn gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol S Rees i Arweinydd 
y Cyngor – Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Morgan OBE: 
  

"Oes modd i'r Arweinydd roi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am y cynnydd ar gyflawni 
ymrwymiadau maniffesto'r Grŵp Llafur?" 
  
Ymateb gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Morgan OBE: 
  
Cyfeiriodd yr Arweinydd at 20 ymrwymiad craidd y Grŵp Llafur i drigolion RhCT 
cyn yr etholiadau lleol yn 2022 a gwnaeth sylwadau ar y cynnydd a wnaed hyd 
yn hyn, gyda nifer o'r ymrwymiadau yma eisoes wedi'u cyflawni, a'r rhai nas 
cyflawnwyd yn parhau i fod ar y gweill. 
  
Dywedwyd wrth yr Aelodau, mewn perthynas â'r ymrwymiad i ariannu 10 

Tudalen 7



 

Swyddog Cymorth Cymunedol yr Heddlu a 10 Warden Cymunedol, fod yr 
addewid yma wedi'i gwblhau gyda 14 Warden a 10 Swyddog Cymorth 
Cymunedol yr Heddlu wedi'u cyflogi. Aeth yr Arweinydd ymlaen i ddweud bod y 
2 garfan yn cydweithio'n dda i wella diogelwch y cyhoedd mewn meysydd 
allweddol ledled cymunedau. 
  
Amlygwyd bod y Cyngor yn parhau i ddarparu mwy o ysgolion Cymraeg a 
Saesneg newydd ledled y Fwrdeistref Sirol, gyda 3 phrosiect wedi'u cwblhau yn 
y flwyddyn ariannol ddiwethaf a 7 arall yn mynd rhagddynt eleni. 
  
O ran cynlluniau seilwaith trafnidiaeth, rhoddodd yr Arweinydd wybod am y 
buddsoddiad parhaus yn y gwaith o ddeuoli'r A4119, gyda chynnydd da yn 
parhau.  Amlygodd yr Arweinydd drafodaethau parhaus gyda Llywodraeth 
Cymru ynghylch cynlluniau eraill yn dilyn yr Adolygiad Ffyrdd. 
  
Mewn perthynas â chanol trefi, soniwyd wrth y Cyngor am y Buddsoddiad i 
adfywio canol trefi a chefnogi busnesau, gydag ystod barhaus o fesurau cymorth 
megis y Grant Cynnal a Chadw. Amlygodd yr Arweinydd nifer o gynlluniau 
adfywio sydd ar waith yng nghanol trefi. 
  
Darparwyd manylion am sut yr oedd y Cyngor yn gweithio tuag at ddod yn 
Gyngor Sero Net, trwy wella ailgylchu a datblygu ffermydd solar.  Ychwanegodd 
yr Arweinydd fod cynnydd da yn parhau i gael ei wneud o ran lleihau ôl troed 
carbon y Cyngor gyda gostyngiad pellach mewn allyriadau CO2 yn ystod y 
flwyddyn ddiwethaf. Cafwyd caniatâd cynllunio yn ddiweddar ar gyfer Fferm 
Solar Coed-elái. Bydd contractwyr yn dechrau ar y gwaith yn nes ymlaen eleni. 
  
Aeth yr Arweinydd ymlaen i wneud sylwadau ar lwyddiant y cynllun 
Graddedigion a Phrentisiaid gyda dros 150 o gyfleoedd i Raddedigion a 
Phrentisiaethau dros y tymor 5 mlynedd. 
  
Darparwyd manylion pellach mewn perthynas â'r ymrwymiadau i gynnal a 
gwella'r garfan Gorfodi i gymryd camau yn erbyn baw cŵn/tipio anghyfreithlon, 
yn ogystal ag adeiladu rhagor o gyfleusterau gofal ychwanegol a datblygu 
rhaglenni adnewyddu ar gyfer cartrefi preswyl presennol. 
  
Gorffennodd yr Arweinydd ei ymateb drwy restru'r gwaith cadarnhaol a wnaed 
gyda chyfraddau teithio llesol, cyfamod y lluoedd arfog a buddsoddiad mewn 
chwarae, gan ddod i’r casgliad y byddai'r holl ymrwymiadau'n cael eu cyflawni 
erbyn diwedd y tymor 5 mlynedd. 
  
O ganlyniad i anawsterau technegol, ni holwyd unrhyw gwestiwn atodol. 
  

4.     Cwestiwn gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol D Owen Jones i 
Arweinydd y Cyngor, Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Morgan 
OBE: 
  

"Oes modd i'r Arweinydd roi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf ar gynnydd gwaith deuoli'r 
A4119" 
  
Ymateb gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Morgan OBE: 
  
Soniodd yr Arweinydd am gynnydd da'r cynllun ac ei fod yn croesawu ei fod bron 
wedi'i gwblhau.  Dywedodd fod y cynllun bellach dros 70% wedi'i gwblhau a'i fod 
ar hyn o bryd yn wythnos 78 o gyfanswm o 106 wythnos. 

Tudalen 8



 

  
O ran y cynnydd, dywedwyd wrth yr Aelodau bod gwaith draenio wedi'i wneud ar 
y ffordd gerbydau tua'r de, gan gynnwys ffensys a gwaith atal cerbydau. Roedd 
traffig bellach yn teithio ar y rhan newydd o'r ffordd i bwynt ychydig i'r de o safle 
gwaith dŵr Cymru. 
  
Yn ogystal â hyn, dywedwyd fod y gwaith rheoli traffig ym mhen deheuol y 
gwaith ffordd wedi dod i ben yn ystod mis Rhagfyr a bod mynediad i Common 
Sidings (iard sborion) wedi'i adeiladu. 
  
O ran gogledd y Ffordd Gerbydau, roedd traffig bellach yn teithio i'r gogledd ar 
ran newydd o'r ffordd gyda gwaith draenio yn mynd rhagddo ger y wal gynnal 
gerrig bresennol. Dywedodd yr Arweinydd hefyd fod y llwybr teithio llesol wedi'i 
osod hyd at gylchfan yr orsaf dân. 
  
I gloi ei ymateb, rhoddodd yr Arweinydd fanylion y gwaith presennol ar y safle a 
oedd yn cynnwys manylion ynghylch draenio, ceuffosydd, gwaith pontydd a 
thirlunio. 
  
  
Cwestiwn ategol gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol D Owen-Jones: 
"Gan fod cwestiwn ynghylch mynediad ac allanfa ar gyfer Teithio Llesol ar y bont 
gyhoeddus wedi'i ateb y prynhawn yma, rhaid i mi longyfarch y gwaith da ar 
gwblhau ac agor pont droed Tyn-y-Bryn gerllaw. Pryd fydd y contractwyr yn 
gadael y lleoliad yma?" 
  
Ymateb gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Morgan OBE: 
  
Dywedodd yr Arweinydd fod angen iddo wirio'r mater yma gan fod disgwyl i'r 
bont droed gael ei chwblhau ddydd Gwener, 26 Ionawr. Dywedodd ei fod yn 
effro i fân broblemau a gwaith tirlunio yr oedd angen mynd i'r afael â nhw ac 
awgrymodd y bydd y contractwyr ar y safle am ychydig wythnosau eto, o bosibl, i 
wneud y gwaith tirlunio ymylol. Bydd yn canfod yr union ddyddiad y bydd y 
contractwyr yn gadael y safle'n gyfan gwbl. 
  
 5.     Cwestiwn gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Rogers i'r Aelod o'r 
Cabinet ar faterion yr Amgylchedd a Hamdden, Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref 
Sirol A Crimmings: 

"Oes modd i'r Aelod perthnasol o'r Cabinet rannu sut mae'r Cyngor yma wedi 
buddsoddi mewn gweithgareddau hamdden i drigolion ifainc yn ward Hirwaun, 
Penderyn a Rhigos os gwelwch yn dda?" 

Ymateb gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Crimmings: 

Diolchodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion yr Amgylchedd a Hamdden i'r Aelod 
am y cwestiwn ac ychwanegodd fod gwella a buddsoddi mewn cyfleusterau 
cymunedol i hyrwyddo ac annog gweithgareddau hamdden i bobl ifainc y 
Fwrdeistref Sirol yn parhau i fod yn flaenoriaeth allweddol i'r Cyngor. 

Aeth yr Aelod ymlaen i ddweud, gan gyfeirio’n benodol at Hirwaun, Penderyn, a'r 
Rhigos, fod gweithgareddau hamdden a ddarparwyd gan y Carfanau Datblygu 
Chwaraeon yn cynnwys sesiynau blasu 'Dodgeball', Pecyn Adnoddau 
Chwaraeon Cymru, sesiynau "hwyl yn yr awyr agored" a fynychwyd gan dros 
200 o bobl, a chynnal cynadleddau Llysgenhadon Ifainc. Dywedwyd wrth yr 

Tudalen 9



 

aelodau hefyd fod disgyblion wedi mynychu dosbarthiadau gweithgaredd rhithwir 
y Timau Chwaraeon, rhaglen feicio cydbwysedd 8 wythnos o hyd a gafodd ei 
ddarparu mewn ysgolion. Yn ogystal, roedd y garfan hefyd wedi rhoi cymorth ar 
geisiadau grant i Glwb Pêl-droed Hirwaun a Chlwb Rygbi Hirwaun. 

O ran buddsoddiad, dywedodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet fod y Garfan Parciau wedi 
buddsoddi mewn nifer fawr o gyfleusterau hamdden dros y blynyddoedd 
diwethaf: 

roedd Hirwaun wedi derbyn cyfanswm o £152,109 o fuddsoddiad, a oedd yn 
cynnwys buddsoddiad mewn mannau ymochel ('dugouts') newydd, to newydd ar 
yr ystafelloedd newid, gwaith draenio, dymchwel stand gwylwyr a gosod wyneb 
newydd ar y cyrtiau tennis.  

Mewn perthynas â Rhigos roedd cyfanswm o £86,169 wedi'i fuddsoddi a oedd 
yn cynnwys buddsoddi mewn draenio bandiau tywod ac adnewyddu ystafelloedd 
newid. 

Aeth yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ymlaen drwy roi gwybod am y cymorth ariannol a 
gweithredol ychwanegol a ddarparwyd gan y Cyngor i Bentref Chwaraeon y 
Rhigos. 

I gloi'r ymateb, amlygodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet y buddsoddiad a'r gwaith cynnal a 
chadw mewn mannau chwarae i blant gyda dyraniadau cyllid pellach i ddod yn y 
flwyddyn nesaf. 

Cwestiwn atodol gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Rogers: 

"Rydyn ni'n gwybod bod trigolion yn gwerthfawrogi'r buddsoddiad, ond un pryder 
yw na all trigolion wneud defnydd llawn o'r buddsoddiad a fyddai o fudd i'w 
hiechyd a'u lles heb oleuadau mewn rhai o'r lleoliadau, gan gynnwys y cae pêl-
droed. Ar ba gam o'r broses yr ymgynghorwyd ag Aelodau lleol ar fuddsoddiad 
arfaethedig yn eu wardiau i sicrhau bod buddion y buddsoddiad arfaethedig yn 
cael eu manteisio arnynt i'r eithaf? 

Ymateb gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Crimmings: 

Cyfeiriodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet at yr ymgynghoriad a gynhaliwyd gydag Aelodau 
lleol mewn perthynas â'r cwrt tennis, Ardal Gemau Aml-ddefnydd a Pharc Lles 
Hirwaun. Ychwanegodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet, yn rhan o'r broses y dylid 
ymgynghori ag aelodau lleol ac ymddiheurodd os nad oedd hyn wedi digwydd. 
Gofynnodd i'r Aelod roi gwybod iddi lle nad oedd ymgynghoriad o'r fath wedi 
digwydd.  

  
6.     Cwestiwn gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Ellis i'r Aelod o'r 

Cabinet ar faterion Datblygu a Ffyniant, Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref 
Sirol, M Norris: 

  
"Oes modd i'r Aelod o'r Cabinet gadarnhau a yw safle Lady Windsor yn Ynys-y-
bwl wedi'i nodi ar gyfer datblygiad o fewn y Cynllun Datblygu Lleol drafft?”. 
  
Ymateb gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol Norris: 
  
Gwnaeth yr Aelod o'r Cabinet sylw ar gyfarfod y Cyngor ym mis Ionawr, lle 
penderfynwyd cymeradwyo Strategaeth a Ffefrir y Cynllun Datblygu Lleol 
Diwygiedig ar gyfer ymgynghoriad statudol â'r cyhoedd a rhanddeiliaid. 

Tudalen 10



 

  
Ar lefel strategol, dywedwyd y byddai Strategaeth a Ffefrir Ddiwygiedig y Cynllun 
Datblygu Lleol yn ceisio mynd i'r afael ag anghenion RhCT trwy gynnig lefelau o 
dwf yn y gwaith datblygu a phennu ble y dylid ei ddosbarthu yn y Fwrdeistref 
Sirol. Dywedwyd bod yr ymgynghoriad yma i fod i gychwyn yn fuan. 
  
Dywedodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet nad oedd yn gallu gwneud sylw ar hyn o bryd ar 
statws arfaethedig hen safle Lady Windsor, nac yn wir unrhyw safleoedd 
penodol.  Ychwanegwyd fodd bynnag, y byddai unrhyw safleoedd a oedd wedi'u 
cyflwyno i'w hystyried ymhellach yng nghamau nesaf proses y Cynllun Datblygu 
Lleol Diwygiedig, yn cael eu cynnwys yn yr hyn a elwir yn Gofrestr o Safleoedd 
Posibl. 
  
Erbyn yr ymgynghoriad, dywedwyd y byddai'r gofrestr yn nodi canlyniad yr 
asesiadau cychwynnol ar y safleoedd o ran eu gallu lefel uchel i ddarparu ar 
gyfer datblygiad a pheidio â nodi na dyrannu safleoedd i'w datblygu yn benodol 
ar hyn o bryd. 
  
Nid oedd unrhyw gwestiwn atodol oherwydd bod yr amser a neilltuwyd 
wedi dod i ben (sicrhaodd y Llywydd i'r Aelodau fod y cloc wedi'i stopio yn 
ystod cyfnodau o anawsterau technegol). 

   
97   Rhaglen Waith y Cyngor 2023-2024  

 
 

 Dywedodd Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu, ar ôl 
ystyried Busnes y Cyngor a restrwyd ar gyfer cyfarfod y Cyngor ym mis Mawrth, 
fod y gwahoddiad i Fwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Cwm Taf Morgannwg wedi'i aildrefnu 
i gyfarfod mis Ebrill, er mwyn caniatáu trafodaeth briodol am yr eitem. 

I gloi, cadarnhaodd Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu 
y byddai cyfle i'r holl Aelodau ddod i weld y cyfleusterau newydd yn Llys Cadwyn 
ym Mhontypridd. O ran cyfarfodydd hybrid, byddai'r rhain yn cael eu cyflwyno'n 
raddol gyda'r bwriad o gynnal cyfarfod nesaf y Cyngor ym mis Mawrth ar ffurf 
cyfarfod hybrid. 

 

 

 
98   Rhybudd o Gynnig  

 
 

 Trafod Rhybudd o Gynnig sydd wedi’i gyflwyno yn enwau Cynghorwyr y 
Fwrdeistref Sirol: S. Emanuel, R. Williams, L. Addiscott, M. D. Ashford, J. 
Barton, D. R. Bevan, J. Bonetto, S. Bradwick, J. Brencher, G. Caple, J. Cook, A. 
Crimmings, S. J. Davies, R. Davis, A. J. Dennis, V. Dunn, E. L. Dunning, J. 
Edwards, J. A. Elliott, L. Ellis, R. Evans, A. S. Fox, B. Harris, S. Hickman, G. 
Holmes, G. Hopkins, W. Hughes, G. Jones, G. O. Jones, R. R. Lewis, W. Lewis, 
C. Leyshon, M. Maohoub, C. Middle, A. Morgan, N. H. Morgan, S. Morgans, M. 
A. Norris, D. Owen-Jones, D. Parkin, S. Powderhill, C. Preedy, S. Rees, A. 
Roberts, J. Smith, G. Stacey, L. A. Tomkinson, W. Treeby, J. Turner, G. L. 
Warren, K. Webb, M. Webber, D. Williams, G. E. Williams, T. Williams, R. Yeo.  

Ar 24 Chwefror 2022, lansiodd lluoedd Rwsia, a oedd wedi ymgynnull ar hyd y 
ffin â Wcráin, ymosodiad ar raddfa lawn, sef yr ymosodiad mwyaf ar wlad 
Ewropeaidd ers yr Ail Ryfel Byd.  

Mae'r ymosodiad, a gyfiawnhawyd gan Vladimir Putin ar y sail ei fod yn ymgais i 

 

Tudalen 11



 

"waredu Natsïaeth" o Wcráin, wedi achosi i filiynau o bobl orfod symud o'u 
cartrefi ac i gannoedd o filoedd gael eu hanafu neu eu lladd – naill ai wrth 
ymladd neu trwy'r ymosodiadau dinistriol o'r awyr ar ardaloedd sifil. 

Wrth i bobl ddiniwed Wcráin gael eu gorfodi i ffoi o'u cartrefi, croesawodd Cymru 
a RhCT (ynghyd â llawer o wledydd eraill) y rhai oedd yn ceisio lloches â 
breichiau agored a'u cefnogi wrth iddynt geisio addasu i'w bywydau newydd.  

Nawr, gyda'r Rhyfel yn Wcráin yn nodi ei ail ben-blwydd a’r gwrthdaro yn parhau 
wrth i Wcráin frwydro i gadw ei sofraniaeth, felly mae'r Cyngor yma'n: 

• Condemnio ymddygiad ymosodol parhaus y goresgynwyr Rwsiaidd.  

• Ailddatgan ei gefnogaeth ddiysgog i Wcráin a'i phobl. 

• Canmol ymdrechion y trigolion hynny yn RhCT a groesawodd y rhai a oedd yn 
ffoi o'r gwrthdaro i'w cartrefi, a hefyd y rhai a roddodd gymorth i eraill 
sydd wedi ceisio noddfa. 

  
Yn unol â Rheol Gweithdrefn 12.7 y Cyngor, cyflwynodd y cynigydd newid i'r 
Cynnig, i gynnwys testun ychwanegol sydd wedi'i nodi isod: 
  
cynnwys y geiriau, "ar gynsail ffug" a nodi gwall teipograffyddol yn y Saesneg. 
  
Dyma fyddai'r Cynnig diwygiedig yn dweud: 
  

Ar 24 Chwefror 2022, lansiodd lluoedd Rwsia, a oedd wedi ymgynnull ar 
hyd y ffin â Wcráin, ymosodiad ar raddfa lawn, sef yr ymosodiad mwyaf ar 
wlad Ewropeaidd ers yr Ail Ryfel Byd.  
  
Mae'r ymosodiad, a gyfiawnhawyd gan Vladimir Putin ar gynsail ffug, sef 
ymgais i "waredu Natsïaeth" o Wcráin, wedi achosi i filiynau o bobl orfod 
symud o'u cartrefi ac i gannoedd o filoedd gael eu hanafu neu eu lladd - 
naill ai wrth ymladd neu trwy'r ymosodiadau dinistriol o'r awyr ar ardaloedd 
sifil. 
  
Wrth i bobl ddiniwed Wcráin gael eu gorfodi i ffoi o'u cartrefi, croesawodd 
Cymru a RhCT (ynghyd â llawer o wledydd eraill) y rhai oedd yn ceisio 
lloches â breichiau agored a'u cefnogi wrth iddynt geisio addasu i'w 
bywydau newydd.  
  
Nawr, gyda'r Rhyfel yn Wcráin yn nodi ei ail ben-blwydd a’r gwrthdaro yn 
parhau wrth i Wcráin frwydro i gadw ei sofraniaeth, felly mae'r Cyngor 
yma'n: 

 Condemnio ymddygiad ymosodol parhaus y goresgynwyr Rwsiaidd.  
 Ailddatgan ei gefnogaeth ddiysgog i Wcráin a'i phobl. 
 Canmol ymdrechion y trigolion hynny yn RhCT a groesawodd y rhai a 

oedd yn ffoi o'r gwrthdaro i'w cartrefi, a hefyd y rhai a roddodd 
gymorth i eraill sydd wedi ceisio noddfa. 

  
PENDERFYNODD y Cyngor dderbyn y newid a gynigiwyd gan y Cynigydd. 
Daeth hwn yn brif gynnig fel y nodir uchod. 
  
Yn y cyfarfod, cyhoeddodd y Cadeirydd, yn unol â Rheol Gweithdrefn y Cyngor 

Tudalen 12



 

10.4.1, fod gwelliant i'r Rhybudd o Gynnig wedi dod i law oddi wrth y 
Cynghorwyr A O Rogers, A Ellis, K Morgan, Sera Evans, D Grehan, D Wood, H 
Gronow, P Evans, a dynnwyd yn ôl wedyn gan yr Aelodau yn y cyfarfod yn dilyn 
newid i'r cynnig gwreiddiol gan y cynigydd. 
  
  
Yn dilyn trafodaeth, PENDERFYNWYD mabwysiadu'r Rhybudd o Gynnig. 
  
 

 
 

Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 6.35 pm Y Cynghorydd G Hughes 
Cadeirydd. 

 

Tudalen 13



Tudalen wag

Tudalen 14



 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 

6 MARCH 2024 
 

MEMBERS QUESTIONS ON NOTICE 
 
REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES & 
COMMUNICATION. 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To present the order of questions in respect of the Members Questions on Notice, 

following the amendment to the process agreed at the Council AGM 2019.  
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that Members: 
 

2.1 Receive the Questions and any supplementary questions proposed, as in 
accordance with the running order advised upon in 4.3 of the report, which should 
not exceed a 20-minute time period. 
 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 As agreed at the Council AGM on the 15th May, 2019, Members agreed to amend 
Council Procedure Rule 9.2 in respect of Members Questions on Notice. A further 
amendment was made to Council Procedure Rule 9.2 at the Council AGM on the 
26th May 2021 in respect of supplementary questions following expiry of the 20 
minute time duration. Council AGM 2021 

 
4. MEMBERS QUESTION ON NOTICE 
 
4.1 The closing date for receipt of Members Questions on Notice to the Council 

Business Unit for the Council meeting on the 6th March 2024 was 5pm on the 
22nd February 2024. 

 
4.2 Thirty eight questions were received and put forward to the Council Ballot held 

on the 26th February 2024, to determine the running order of the questions at the 
Council Meeting.  

 
4.3 The results of the ballot are outlined below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 15

Agendwm 5

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/Council/2019/05/15/Reports/Item7TheCouncilsConstitutionProposedAmendmentsAndAncillaryMatters.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/Council/2021/05/26/Reports/AGMItem5Thecouncilsconstitutionproposedamendmentsandancillarymatters.pdf


Number Corresponding Question 

1 Question from County Borough Councillor R. Evans to the Leader 
of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 

“Will the Cabinet Member provide an update on the scheme to upgrade 
the culvert on the industrial estate in Porth?” 

2 Question from County Borough Councillor D. Williams to the Leader 
of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Leader provide an update on the preparations underway in 
advance of RCT welcoming the Eisteddfod in the summer?” 

3 Question from County Borough Councillor R. Davis to the Cabinet 
Member for Health & Social Care, County Borough Councillor G. 
Caple: 
 
“Can the Cabinet Member please outline the next steps for the Extra 
Care scheme in Porth following the news that a new contractor has 
been appointed?” 
 

4 Question from County Borough Councillor K. Webb to the Cabinet 
Member for Climate Change & Corporate Services, County 
Borough Councillor C Leyshon: 
 
“What progress is the Council making towards its carbon reduction 
targets?” 

5 Question from County Borough Councillor D. Owen-Jones to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 

“What impact will the announcement from TATA Steel that it plans to 
progress with the proposals to cut 2,800 jobs have on our 
communities?” 

6 Question from County Borough Councillor L. Ellis to the Leader of 
the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Leader provide an update on the programme of coal tip 
management across RCT?” 
 

7 Question from County Borough Councillor S. Trask to the Leader 
of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Leader make a statement on the public consultations that 
have taken place during the past three months?” 

Tudalen 16



8 Question from County Borough Councillor S. Emanuel to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Will the Leader provide an update on the progress of the South Wales 
Metro in the Rhondda valley?” 

9 
Question from County Borough Councillor Sheryl Evans to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“With more and more cars on the road and limited parking spaces 
available, more cars are having to park on pavements etc., what can 
the Council do to help our constituents with more places to park. Is 
there an option to tarmac more lanes so that residents can use their 
gardens for off-road parking?” 

10 
Question from County Borough Councillor S. J. Davies to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 

“Can the Leader make a statement on capital investment across 
Rhondda Cynon Taf?” 

11 Question from County Borough Councillor S. Hickman to the 
Cabinet Member for Development and Prosperity, County Borough 
Councillor M. A. Norris: 

“Will the Cabinet Member make a statement on investment in Porth town 
centre?” 

12 Question from County Borough Councillor W. Lewis to the Cabinet 
Member for Environment and Leisure, County Borough Councillor 
A. Crimmings: 
 
“Can the Cabinet Member update on recycling rates in RCT and what 
progress is being made to improve these?” 

13 
Question from County Borough Councillor S. Powderhill to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Council Leader provide an update on preparations for the 
2024 Eisteddfod?” 

14 Question from County Borough Councillor J. Bonetto to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Will the Leader provide an update on the progress of the South Wales 
Metro, and in particular on the depot at Taff’s Well?” 

Tudalen 17



15 Question from County Borough Councillor E. L. Dunning to the 
Cabinet Member for Education, Youth Participation and Welsh 
Language, County Borough Councillor R. Lewis: 
  
“Will the Cabinet Member please make a statement on outreach work 
and detached youth service provision in Rhondda Cynon Taf, particularly 
in the Ystrad area?” 

16 
Question from County Borough Councillor Sera Evans to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Leader please provide an update on the Maindy Crescent 
roadworks?” 

17 Question from County Borough Councillor N.H. Morgan to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the leader update on what flood resilience bids the Council is 
putting forward to the Welsh Government for the forthcoming year?” 
 

18 Question from County Borough Councillor R. Williams to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Council Leader tell this Council if the opposition group have 
put forward any budget suggestions in the face of what you have 
described – both in the Council Chamber and publicly in the media - as 
one of the most difficult budget rounds RCT has faced?” 
 

19 Question from County Borough Councillor G. O. Jones to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Council Leader set out what level of protection our school 
budgets have in the draft budget being worked on and what discussions 
have been had in the School Budget Forum?” 
 

20 Question from County Borough Councillor C. Preedy to the Cabinet 
Member for Environment and Leisure, County Borough Councillor 
A. Crimmings: 
 
“Can the Cabinet Member please give an update on the usage of the 
National Lido of Wales and any information on how long the summer 
season will be this year?” 
 

21 Question from County Borough Councillor W. Treeby to the 
Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities, County 
Borough Councillor B. Harris:  
 
“Can the Cabinet Member make a statement on what support the 
Council is providing to Paddling Pool groups in Rhondda Cynon Taf?” 
 

22 Question from County Borough Councillor A. S. Fox to the Leader 
of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 

Tudalen 18



 
“Can the Leader provide an update to Members on the discussions 
taking place given the significant financial pressures facing the public 
sector next year?” 

23 Question from County Borough Councillor J. Cook BEM to the 
Cabinet Member for Education, Youth Participation and Welsh 
Language, County Borough Councillor R. Lewis:  
 
“Can the Cabinet Member make a statement on school budget funding 
plans and proposals, particularly in relation to cash amounts and 
percentages?” 

24 

 
Question from County Borough Councillor A. J. Dennis to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Leader please provide an update on the usage and feedback 
received to date on the Winter Welcome Centres?” 

25 Question from County Borough Councillor V. Dunn to the Cabinet 
Member for Environment and Leisure, County Borough Councillor 
A. Crimmings: 
 
“Can the Cabinet Member provide an update on the progress of the 
scheme to create a Multi-Use Games Area at the Sobell Centre in 
Aberdare?”  
 

26 Question from County Borough Councillor W. Hughes to the 
Deputy Leader of the Council and Armed Forces Champion, 
County Borough Councillor M. Webber: 
 
“What support does this Council provide to the local Armed Forces 
community?” 

27 Question from County Borough Councillor L. A. Tomkinson to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Leader provide an update on the pledge to develop a 
dedicated hockey facility in the County Borough?” 

28 Question from County Borough Councillor D. Grehan to the 
Cabinet Member for Development & Prosperity, County Borough 
Councillor M. Norris: 

“Mae nifer o ardaloedd yn fy ward i, sydd yn amlwg wedi eu hadeiladu 
gan y Cyngor neu wedi eu hadeiladu wrth greu ddatblygiadau newydd – 
llwybrau, grisiau, ardaloedd gwyrdd. Erbyn hyn mae’r Cyngor yn dweud 
nad yw’r ardalodd yma yn eiddo i’r Cyngor ac felly nad oes ganddyn 
nhw gyfrifoldeb dros drwsio neu gadw’r ardaloedd yma. Galla i ofyn i’r 
Cyngor yma cymryd cyfrifoldeb dros yr ardaloedd yma er diogelwch ein 
trigolion?” 

Tudalen 19



“There are a number of areas in my ward, which have obviously been 
built by the Council or have been built when creating new developments 
– paths, stairs, green areas. By now the Council is saying that these 
areas are not the property of the Council and therefore it has no 
responsibility for repairing or maintaining these areas. May I ask this 
Council to take responsibility for these areas for the safety of our 
residents?” 

29 
Question from County Borough Councillor G. Holmes to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Will the Leader make a statement on road maintenance and outline 
how this Council is tackling the issue of potholes?” 

30 Question from County Borough Councillor C. Middle to the Leader 
of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Will the Leader update the Council on the policy for 
upgrading/tarmacking unadopted roads/lanes and the rationale behind 
the prioritisation of such work?” 

31 Question from County Borough Councillor M. Powell to the Leader 
of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 

"Could the Cabinet portfolio holder for highways say what measures or 
proposals the RCT Highways department are considering to alleviate 
the dire traffic congestion problems that the Pontypridd Town centre 
has been enduring for many, many years please?" 

32 Question from County Borough Councillor M. Maohoub to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Cabinet Member make a statement on the Council’s 
preparations and actions taken during the recent period of wet 
weather?” 

33 Question from County Borough Councillor J. Smith to the Leader of 
the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“With the introduction of the Social Partnership and Procurement Bill in 
Wales, can the Leader please outline what action RCT are taking to 
ensure compliance with the legislation?” 

34 Question from County Borough Councillor T. Williams to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“With Storm Dennis now almost 4 years ago, can the Leader give an 
assessment on the progress made since that Storm, which brought so 
much devastation to RCT?” 
 

Tudalen 20



 
4.4       At the Council meeting a maximum of 20 minutes shall be allowed for Questions 

on Notice. Any questions that are not dealt with in this time limit shall fall. Any 
questions on notice not answered will need to be resubmitted to the Proper Officer 
for the next full Council meeting in accordance with these rules. 

 
 5. CONSULTATION / INVOLVEMENT 
 
5.1 The amendments to the Council Procedure Rule in respect of Members 

Questions was considered and agreed at the Council’s AGM 2019 and AGM 
2021, following consultation with the Constitution Committee. 

 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The amendment to the Council procedure rule taken forward at the Council AGM, 

allows the opportunity for more Members to ask a question at Council 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no financial implications aligned to this report. 
 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 
 
8.1 The report has been prepared in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9.2. 
 

35 Question from County Borough Councillor L. Addiscott to the 
Cabinet Member for Environment and Leisure, County Borough 
Councillor A. Crimmings: 
 
“Will the Cabinet Member make a statement on investment in our sports 
centres and outline how this has impacted their usage?” 
 

36 Question from County Borough Councillor J. A. Elliott to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Leader outline whether any discussions have been had with 
Transport for Wales over the re-opening of the Public Right of Way near 
the Meadowlands in Cwmbach?” 

37 Question from County Borough Councillor R. Yeo to the Leader of 
the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“The pressures facing Local Authority budgets are well documented and 
finances are becoming increasingly strained, but can the Cabinet 
Member outline what winter maintenance preparations are being 
considered and confirm whether this remains a priority for the Council?” 
 

38 Question from County Borough Councillor J. Brencher to the 
Leader of the Council, County Borough Councillor A. Morgan OBE: 
 
“Can the Leader outline what traffic management plans will be in place 
when the County Borough welcomes the National Eisteddfod for 
Wales?” 

Tudalen 21



9. LINKS TO THE COUNCILS CORPORATE PLAN / OTHER CORPORATE 
PRIORITIES. 

 
9.1 The opportunity for Members to propose questions at Council meetings 

allows Members to receive information which potentially detail the Council 
priorities. It also embraces the Future Generations Act as all work and 
decisions taken by Council seek to improve the social, economic, 
environmental and cultural well-being of the County Borough.  

 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 Detailing the procedure for Members Questions on Notice assists in 

transparency for both Members and for public engagement. 
 
Other Information:- 
 
Relevant Scrutiny Committee – Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Tudalen 22



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

AS AMENDED BY 
 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 

6 MARCH 2024 
 

 
REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES & 
COMMUNICATION. 
 
 
 
 

Item:  MEMBERS QUESTIONS ON NOTICE 
 

 
 

Background Papers 
 
      
 

 
Council AGM 2019. 
 
Council AGM 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 23

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/Council/2019/05/15/Reports/Item7TheCouncilsConstitutionProposedAmendmentsAndAncillaryMatters.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/Council/2021/05/26/Reports/AGMItem5Thecouncilsconstitutionproposedamendmentsandancillarymatters.pdf


tudalen wag



 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023-2024 

 
COUNCIL 

 
6th MARCH 2024 

 
                      THE COUNCIL’S 2024/25 REVENUE BUDGET STRATEGY 
 
REPORT OF: 
THE CABINET 
 
AUTHOR: Barrie Davies, Deputy Chief Executive and Group Director – Finance, 
Digital and Frontline Services Tel. No. 01443 424026 

 
 

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides information on the Final local government settlement for 

2024/25 and sets out the recommendations of the Cabinet with regard to the 
Council’s Revenue Budget and the level of Council Tax for the year ending 
31st March 2025.  

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that Members: 
 
2.1  Note the letter from the Minister for Finance and Local Government (Rebecca 

Evans MS) and the table on the 2024/25 Final local government settlement, 
reproduced at Appendix 1;  
 

2.2  Note the implications for the Council and the remaining budget gap as set out 
at section 5; 

 
2.3  Agree a Council Tax increase for 2024/25 of 4.99%; 

 
2.4  Agree the uplift to the aggregate Schools Budget as detailed at section 8; 

 
2.5  Agree the budget strategy proposals as set out at paragraphs 10.2 to 10.4; 

 
2.6  Agree the use of the ‘Medium Term Financial Planning & Service 

Transformation Reserve’ as transition funding, totalling £7.502M for 2024/25; 

Tudalen 25

Agendwm 6



2.7  Approve Tables 4 and 5 in Section 13 of the report as the basis of allocating 
resources to the Individual Schools Budget (ISB), to other Council Services 
and to meet its corporate financing requirements; and 

 
2.8  Agree the Council’s overall budget for 2024/25 at £631.795M, in order to pass 

the necessary statutory resolutions to set the Council Tax for the forthcoming 
financial year by the statutory deadline of the 11th March 2024. 

 
 
3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 At the Council meeting on the 29th November 2023, the Council’s audited 

accounts were presented which reported General Fund Balances amounting 
to £10.240M.   
  

3.2 Given the continuing financial pressures the Council is working under, it 
remains the view of the Deputy Chief Executive and Group Director of 
Finance, Digital and Frontline Services (Section 151 Officer) that the Council 
should hold a minimum of £10M as General Fund Balances, (i.e. its working 
balance). This level is set given the context of the need for continued strong 
financial management that is felt to be essential to ensure that the Council 
maintains financial flexibility and stability going forward.  

 
3.3 Members will be aware that in addition to General Fund Reserves, the 

Council also holds a number of earmarked reserves that are kept under 
continuous review and are assessed each year by Audit Wales. Members will 
be aware that included in these Reserves is a Medium Term Financial 
Planning and Service Transformation Reserve that has been used 
successfully as transitional funding as part of the Council’s Medium Term 
Service Planning arrangements. It has achieved this through helping to 
smooth the delivery of budget savings over a number of years, whilst still 
allowing an annual balanced budget to be delivered. The starting point for the 
Medium Term Financial Planning and Service Transformation Reserve as at 
the 31st March 2023 is £4.887M. As part of our ongoing strategy, we have 
continued to identify and deliver savings in-year.  We have also been able to 
reprioritise existing earmarked reserves.  This means we have been able to 
increase the level of transitional funding available and the latest position is 
that this reserve has now increased to £9.529M (additional in year savings to 
date of £2.142M plus £2.500M of reprioritised funding). 
 

3.4 We must remain disciplined, if we are to maintain our long-term goal of driving 
forward continuous improvement of key services, though this becomes 
increasingly harder to achieve following a period of such severe financial 
pressures. For the current financial year, the budget strategy balanced a 
£38.3M budget gap, the largest this Council has ever faced, and it is against 
this backdrop that the 2024/25 budget requirement is being formulated. 

 

Tudalen 26



3.5 It is clear that Members continue to take their fiduciary duty extremely 
seriously as evidenced by the positive reports received from the regulators 
and the track record of budgetary control across services.  

 
3.6 The latest Audit Wales Assurance and Risk Assessment Review (Nov 2022) 

referenced : 
 

• The Council is now facing significant financial pressures, but remains well-
placed to respond to these; 

• We remain assured about the Council’s financial position and its 
arrangements to help it address these pressures; 

• The Council has not yet set out in detail how it will meet the increased 
budget gap. However, overall, we remain assured that the Council has a 
solid financial position and arrangements to help it prepare for the 
pressures it is facing. It continues to have a range of options available to it 
to manage its budget pressures; 

• We have continued to find no major concerns about the Council’s 
management of its reserves; 

• It continues to have a healthy reserves position. This gives the Council a 
degree of resilience to help it manage its budgetary pressures. 

 
3.7 The challenge once again, therefore, is to construct a prudent, equitable and 

fair revenue budget for the financial year ending the 31st March 2025. This 
must involve an approach which publicly demonstrates sound financial 
stewardship; which does not take unnecessary risks; which maximises 
income generation; continues to deliver (as far as possible, and where 
available) year on year efficiency savings and which delivers the services that 
are needed and we can afford, as well as protecting as many jobs as 
possible. 

 
3.8 In the context of this overall financial position and Medium Term Financial 

Planning projections, the Cabinet, assisted by the Senior Leadership Team 
was able to commence early and initial work on its budget strategy for 
2024/25. The broad objectives of next year’s recommended strategy are to: 

 
(i) Support the delivery of our key strategic priorities;  
(ii) Retain the support of Audit Wales for the approach the Council has 

adopted to securing strong financial management; 
(iii) Continue with the delivery of our key services and protect as many 

local jobs as possible whilst continuing to maximise efficiency; and 
(iv) Take a responsible approach to the level of Council Tax.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 27



4.0  THE 2024/25 LOCAL GOVERNMENT SETTLEMENT  
  
4.1 The timing of the Local Government Settlement in Wales for 2024/25 has 

followed the UK Government Autumn Statement as announced on the 22nd  
November 2023.   

 
4.2 On the 27th February 2024, the Minister for Finance and Local Government 

(Rebecca Evans MS) announced the Final 2024/25 Local Government 
Settlement. The Minister’s letter and key data table is attached at Appendix 1.  

 
4.3 The “headlines” of the Final 2024/25 Settlement are as follows:- 
 

a. The overall increase in Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Non-
Domestic Rates (NDR) funding for 2024/25 (of unhypothecated 
funding) at an all Wales level, after adjusting for transfers is 3.3% 
(+£184.2M), an increase from the 3.1% at the provisional settlement.    

 
b. The settlement for Rhondda Cynon Taf, amounts to an increase of 

3.0% (2.8% at provisional settlement) which is below the average all 
Wales increase. Settlement figures across Wales range from 2.3% to 
5.0%.  

 
c. A funding ‘floor’ protection has been included for 2024/25; no Council 

receives a settlement below 2.3%.   
 
d. There are transfers into the Settlement for 2024/25 in relation to the 

Implementation of the Performance and Improvement Framework 
(Social Services) (All Wales £0.880M / RCT £0.040M), Delivery of 
Flood Prevention (£4.950M / £0.225M) and Child Burials (£0.8M / 
£0.055M). 

 
e. The Settlement provides no indication of future year settlement levels.     
 
f. Provisional figures and indicative estimates for 2024/25 are also 

included for specific grants, at an all Wales level.  The Social Care 
Workforce Grant is now reinstated to £45M (all Wales level), following 
the £10M reduction as part of the Provisional Settlement.    This funds 
our core base budget.   

 
g. The Council’s General Capital Funding allocation is reduced by 

£0.058M to £13.828M.     
  
 
5.0 COUNCIL BASE BUDGET REQUIREMENT 2024/25 

 
5.1 In anticipation of the 2024/25 local government settlement, the Council’s 

service managers have constructed the base budget requirements for next 
financial year. Those initial calculations provided for:- 

 

Tudalen 28



• Estimated employee costs, pension costs and National Insurance 
Contribution levels;  

• Non-pay (i.e. goods and services) inflationary implications, including 
energy and fuel; 

• Corporate financing requirements and levies; and  
• Full year effects of any additional burdens imposed on the Council and 

the implications of demand led pressures. 
 
5.2 The Council’s updated budget requirement was presented to Council on the 

17th January 2024 alongside the implications of the Provisional Local 
Government Settlement which was announced on the 20th December 2023.   

 
5.3 After taking into account the updated budget requirement and the initial 

provisional settlement increase of 2.8%, the Council’s updated Tax Base plus 
the already agreed budget reduction measures of £10.743M, the Council was 
faced with a remaining budget gap of £25.910M.   

 
5.4 It was against this position which the Cabinet considered their further budget 

strategy options for 2024/25.   
 
 
6.0 DEVELOPING AN EQUITABLE, DELIVERABLE AND BALANCED 

BUDGET FOR 2024/25 
 
6.1 The overall settlement has been protected in line with the indicative 

settlement provided alongside the current year’s budget, with an increase 
further to additional funding allocations for Wales as a consequence of UK 
Government spending decisions.  It does though remain a challenge for local 
government, as the following extract from the Minister’s letter recognises: 
 

“I recognise that while the recent very high rates of inflation are now 
decreasing, they are still high by the standards of the last 15 years. 
Baseline costs for staff and services have increased and are not 
reducing. Demand for services, alongside cost pressures mean that 
local authorities have needed to make difficult decisions on services, 
efficiencies, and council tax in setting budgets.” 

 
6.2 It also follows a sustained period of real term reductions to our funding levels, 

recovery from significant storm damage, the pandemic and a cost of living 
crisis, and it is against this context that we need to develop a balanced budget 
for next year.  There remain significant pressures upon many of our services 
together with a limited ability to increase Council Tax income, and a low tax 
base. Within these parameters, we will therefore need to take appropriate 
decisions to ensure that next year’s budget is equitable for all, does not 
compromise our financial stability and protects and develops our key services.    
 

6.3    The Council’s overall financial position was set out at Section 3 of the report. 
It is vital that we continue with the strategy we have adopted to date that 

Tudalen 29



takes account of the importance of sound financial management, including the 
level of General Fund balances and appropriate use of the “Medium Term 
Financial Planning and Service Transformation Reserve” as transitional 
funding along with any other available reserves, whilst targeting and 
protecting resources for our high priority, customer-focused public services. 

 
6.4    Every year, there are certain corporate financial provisions that must be “top 

sliced” locally, before service budgets can be allocated. Next year will be no 
different. There will be a requirement for: 

 
a) A provision to meet levies from External Bodies; 
b) A provision for Capital Charges;  
c) A provision for all other “Miscellaneous Finance” items (Audit Fees, 

Insurance Costs, Bank Charges, etc.) which are non-specific to any 
particular Service; and 

d) Resources to fund the Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 
   
6.5    As part of our updated budget requirement, appropriate sums have been set 

aside for these corporate financial requirements. 
 
6.6 The Council also continues to monitor the financial implications of service 

demand post pandemic, alongside ensuring ongoing service continuity at a 
time of unprecedented cost increases both to the Council and its partners and 
contractors. 

 
 
7.0 COUNCIL TAX LEVELS 

   
7.1 This Council has always acted reasonably when setting its Council Tax, 

balancing the impact upon services and the ability of the public to pay, 
recognising that those eligible will receive support through the Welsh 
Government’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS). The proposal is to 
increase Council Tax in 2024/25 by 4.99%.  This proposed increase equates 
to £1.03 per week for a person living in a Band A property and £1.55 per 
week for a person living in a Band D property (42% of properties in Rhondda 
Cynon Taf are Band A).  Increasing Council Tax by 4.99% will reduce the 
remaining budget gap by £1.122M. 

 
7.2 Members will be aware that the cost of the CTRS is impacted by changes in 

caseload and by changes to the level of Council Tax.  This impacts on the net 
income generated through any increase in Council Tax.  A 1% increase in 
Council Tax will generate an additional income for the Council of £1.287M (at 
the 2024/25 tax base level) but will also cost £0.258M in additional CTRS 
requirements. It therefore follows that a 1% increase generates a net 
additional income of £1.029M, or stated another way, 20% of any Council Tax 
increase is lost to support the increased costs associated with Welsh 
Government’s CTRS. 

 

Tudalen 30



7.3 At their meeting on the 21st February 2024, the Cabinet determined to amend 
the level of Council Tax increase to 4.99% (previously 4.90%) and that the 
additional income generated be ring fenced to support public transport within 
the county borough. 

 
8.0 SCHOOLS BUDGET (ISB) 
 
8.1  Members have always viewed our schools as being a key priority and have 

ensured that they have been treated favourably in comparison with other 
council services.  
 

8.2 The Schools Budget (ISB) has increased and been protected from the worst 
of the impact of austerity, with an increase over the last 10 years of 34%, at a 
time when other council budgets have increased by 17%.  This would equate 
to an extra £26M having been provided to schools as compared to other 
council services. 

 
8.3 The restated initial budget gap at provisional settlement of £36.6M which the 

Council faced equated to 6.6% of our budget, excluding authority wide 
budgets.  Schools have benefitted from significant one-off resources from 
Welsh Government over recent years and have been previously advised to 
use their reserves responsibly to assist them in their financial planning over 
this challenging period.  For context, the aggregate level of school balances 
increased from £12M to £20M over the course of the financial year 2021/22 
and were £15M as at the 31st March 2023.  It is noted that schools will have 
used reserves as part of agreeing their budget for this financial year 
(2023/24). 

 
8.4 The strategy now proposed will see schools allocated funding next year to 

cover in full all their pay pressures including all pay awards.  This is 
notwithstanding the fact that Welsh Government have not provided additional 
funding in respect of the costs of increased teacher pay awards for the current 
year. 

 
8.5 Over and above this and after adjusting for reduced energy costs, the Council 

will provide schools with a further £1M base budget toward their non pay 
costs plus an additional £0.500M of one-off funding for next financial year.  
This includes the funding from the charge for the additional childcare available 
alongside free breakfast club provision.  This will see the schools budget 
increase by £12.4M for next year, or 6.6%. 

 
8.6 After absorbing non pay inflationary costs, as all other Council Services are 

being required to do, this would mean that schools would have to contribute to 
balancing the overall budget gap by delivering an efficiency of 1.1%. 

 
8.7 Funding in respect of the additional costs associated with Teachers Pensions 

remains expected to be provided by UK Government so these costs are 
assumed to be fully funded. 

 

Tudalen 31



“The Chancellor’s Autumn Statement referred to the changes to the 
SCAPE rate, which has implications for the costs of employers’ 
contributions to teachers and fire-fighter pensions. Funding for this is 
expected to be provided by UK Government during 2024-2025. I have 
written to the Chief Secretary to the Treasury to press for assurances on 
the level and timing of this funding. I can assure you that the funding 
Welsh Government receives for this will be provided to relevant bodies. 
My officials will keep your officers informed.” 
 

9.0 EFFICIENCY 
 
9.1 Council services have for many years now delivered against ambitious 

efficiency targets, making considerable budget reductions without adversely 
impacting on front line service provision. 

 
9.2 As part of the current year’s budget strategy, £16.1M of Efficiency and 

Service Operational Reconfiguration measures were identified and delivered. 
 
9.3 Senior officers continued to work through the year to identify options to deliver 

budget reduction measures early and to ensure that front line services 
continue to be protected as much as possible.  Service managers were 
engaged across all service areas ensuring that all contributed to the 
challenging position which we were facing. 

 
9.4 Over a number of months including challenge sessions with the Senior 

Leadership Team, options have been identified and assessed against the 
service level and resident impact to ensure that our vital services were 
protected and maintained wherever possible.  Following this assessment the 
Senior Leadership Team have already been able to agree proposals 
amounting to £8.245M as was reported to Cabinet on the 20th November 
2023.   

 
9.5 Following the continuation of this work, the Senior Leadership Team have 

been able to identify a further range of measures which would reduce our 
base budget requirement by £5.246M. 

 
9.6 The proposals can be summarised as follows : 
 
 Table 1 :  Efficiency and Service Operational Reconfiguration 
 

Categorisation £'000
General Efficiency Measures - cost reduction / additional income 2,104     
General Efficiency Measures - service restructuring and vacancy management 1,081     
Operational Service Reconfiguration 905        
General Efficiency Measures - Recharge of costs / use of external funding 1,156     
Grand Total 5,246      
 
 

Tudalen 32



9.7 The Senior Leadership Team can again provide assurance to Cabinet, that 
the measures proposed can be delivered operationally and without a 
significant detrimental impact on our front line services. 

 
10.0 SPECIFIC SERVICE / EXPENDITURE CHANGES 
 
10.1 This Council has taken proactive steps to dealing with the budget pressures it 

continues to face including delivery of saving proposals early with a clear 
focus maintained across the medium term planning horizon.  The Council has 
continued to deliver robust, balanced budgets and taken the opportunity to 
use our Medium Term Financial Planning and Service Transformation 
Reserve, as transition funding, to sensibly support the overall budget strategy.  
This approach is one which I would recommend is continued. 

 
10.2 As part of this budget strategy, a number of reviews have also been 

undertaken to ensure that the budget reflects updated projections of demand 
and cost.   

 
a. Energy 

 
The current year increases for our energy costs were around a 283% 
increase for gas and a 147% increase for electricity.  At the time we set the 
budget, latest forecasts were projecting likely lower costs for the following 
year 2024/25, and to recognise this “spike” in costs an energy reserve (£5M) 
was set up to fund the costs during 2023/24. 
 
Detailed monitoring and scrutiny has taken place across our energy budgets 
during the current year alongside the most up to date forecasts for costs into 
next financial year. 
 
The position anticipated above (i.e. a spike in cost for the current year and 
lower tariff rates for 2024/25) materialised and we are consequently able to 
reduce our base budget requirement for next financial year. 
 
In addition, the development of a proposed Council owned solar farm is now 
progressing with completion anticipated during 2024/25 financial year.  The 
funding arrangements will be set out in the Council’s new 3 year capital 
programme but we are now able to factor in a part year income stream from 
the generation and sale of energy in line with an agreement already in place. 

 
As a consequence of the above, it is possible to reduce the Council’s budget 
requirement by £4,479k. 
 

b. Base Budget Updates 
 
The Council has reviewed its base budget requirements in light of ongoing 
service requirements and pressures and can make a number of adjustments 
in this respect.  This includes : 

Tudalen 33



• Funding arrangements in respect of Graduates and Apprentices, 
recognising that such roles are now being mainstreamed and funded 
by service areas as part of their workforce planning arrangements; 

• Income being generated from the successful roll out of our staff 
benefits scheme and over and above the level which has already been 
reinvested back into our staff development programmes; 

• Reflecting the updated contribution levels to joint arrangements 
including the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service and 
the updated arrangements for the delivery of the Council’s Internal 
Audit Service; and 

• Reflecting up to date caseload and demand pressures for the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme. 

 
The above base budget updates reduce the Council’s budget requirement by 
£1,338k. 
 

c. Additional Childcare prior to the Commencement of Free Breakfast Cub 
Provision 
 
The Cabinet have now agreed to implement a proposal to charge for the 
wraparound childcare element which is provided alongside the Free Breakfast 
Club provision at £60 per term for 5 days per week or £40 per term for up to 3 
days per week. 
 
The implementation of this proposal would reduce the Council’s budget by 
£495k (full year) with this income being ringfenced and reinvested into our 
schools’ budget. 
 

d. Capitalisation 
 
Expenditure has been identified which is currently funded from our revenue 
budgets which could, in line with accounting rules, be funded from our capital 
budgets.  These expenditure items relate to IT software licence costs and 
vehicle purchases.  
 
The Senior Leadership Team have considered the impact upon our capital 
programme, in the context of the overall quantum of the programme across 3 
years and concluded that a reduction in our core programme can be 
delivered.  Opportunities will be taken to top up any specific areas of demand 
or areas of particular impact through one off investment funding opportunities 
and / or additional in-year funding approvals going forward.  The Council’s 
updated 3 year capital programme 2024/25 to 2026/27 will set out full details. 
 
The proposal would reduce the revenue budget by £500k. 
 

e. Fees and Charges 
 

Tudalen 34



It is proposed that all Fees and Charges are subject to a 5.0% standard 
increase, recognising the significant increase in our cost base and 
subsequent level of subsidy. A number of areas are proposed to be subject to 
specific treatment, as set out in the Fees and Charges Proposals 2024/25 
already considered by Cabinet and now consulted upon. 
 
These proposals would generate additional income of £452k. 

 
10.3 On 24th January 2024, the UK Government announced it would be increasing 

its 2024/25 local government settlement by £600M in England, with a 
consequential allocation of around £25M for Wales.  On the 7th February 2024, 
the Welsh Government Minister for Finance and Local Government announced 
that the £25M would be allocated to local government in the Final Budget, 
restoring the Social Care Workforce Grant to £45M (all Wales) with the 
remaining balance allocated to the Revenue Support Grant.  This is now 
confirmed in the Final Settlement with this Council receiving additional 
resources amounting to £1.951M as a result of this. 

 
10.4 The financial implications (including part-year impact) of the above proposals 

are shown in the following table.   
 
 Table 2 :  Budget Strategy - Specific Service / Expenditure Changes 
 

£'000 £'000
Remaining Budget Gap at Provisional Settlement 25,910      

Schools Budget 2,918-     
Council Tax 1,122-     
Service Efficiencies 5,246-     
Energy Budget Requirement 4,479-     
Base Budget Adjustments 1,338-     
Charging for Childcare (alongside free breakfast clubs) 495-        
Capitalisation 500-        
Fees and Charges 452-        
Support for Public Transport 93          

16,457-      

Additional Resources at Final Settlement 1,951-        

Remaining Budget Gap 7,502         
 
10.5 Medium Term Financial Planning and Service Transformation Reserve 

(Transitional Funding) – We have for many years used our transition funding 
reserve sensibly as part of our balanced budget strategy, at a level which 
does not compromise the robustness of our budget and which can be 
replenished with some certainty, given our ongoing strategy of delivering 
savings early. 

Tudalen 35

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45123/Report.pdf?LLL=0


 
10.6 As previously referenced at section 3, the reserve currently stands at 

£9.529M, having been replenished and increased during this year (2023/24).  
Accordingly, to address the remaining budget gap, it is proposed that an 
allocation of £7.502M is made from this reserve for 2024/25. This would 
facilitate a balanced budget for 2024/25 and would leave £2.027M in the 
reserve (subject to the year-end assessment of reserves). Processes are now 
sufficiently well embedded to ensure that savings are achieved in-year and 
that this reserve can continue to be replenished.  

 
 Table 3 : Balancing the Budget 2024/25 

 
£'000

Remaining Budget Gap 7,502     
Use of Transition Funding / Reserves 7,502-     
Remaining Budget Gap 2024/25 -         

 
 
10.7 The above provides a robust and balanced budget strategy for financial year 

2024/25 which is now recommended to Council. 
 
 
11.0 SERVICE PRIORITIES  
 
11.1    Even after a period of significantly reducing resources and hence financial 

pressure on all services, this Council remains committed as far as it possibly 
can to continue to deliver its key services, stronger communities and social 
justice.  

 
11.2 The Council’s Corporate Plan sets out that our key purpose is to provide 

strong community leadership and create the environment for people and 
businesses to be independent, healthy and prosperous. 

 
11.3 In addition to our revenue base budget requirements, opportunities also 

continue to be taken to deliver investment in key strategic areas through one 
off funding made available via a risk based review of earmarked reserves and 
through early identification of in-year savings opportunities. The Council has 
already invested over £161M (over and above the normal Capital 
Programme) in areas supporting key Corporate Plan priorities since October 
2015, the latest investment (£7.730M) being agreed by Council in September 
2023.  

 
11.4 A report setting out the updated capital programme for 2024/25 to 2026/27 

will be reported for Members consideration alongside this revenue budget 
strategy.  

 
 
12.0 THE 2024/25 BUDGET STRATEGY CONSULTATION PROCESS 

Tudalen 36



 
12.1    As in previous years, the Council has been keen to consult with the public 

and other interested stakeholders on its general budget strategy and how 
services are delivered.  

 
12.2    The approach to budget consultation for 2024/25 was set out in the Cabinet 

report dated 23rd October 2023.  It comprises 2 phases as follows:  
 

Phase 1 - provided residents and stakeholders with the opportunity to 
feedback their views on some of the key strategic building blocks used to 
construct the Council’s budget. 
 
Phase 2 - once Cabinet agreed a draft budget strategy, and in light of the 
provisional local government settlement, then this draft strategy was 
consulted upon as part of Phase 2.   

 
12.3    The Phase 1 Consultation report was considered by Cabinet on the 24th  

January 2024 alongside the initial budget proposals which were then 
consulted upon as part of Phase 2. 

 
12.4    The Phase 2 Consultation report is now attached at Appendix 2.  The phase 2 

consultation process ran from the 24th January 2024 to the 9th February 2024 
and included: 

 
• On-line questionnaire and Poll via the Let’s Talk website; 
• Email to all key stakeholders; 
• Young person’s face to face engagement via schools;  
• Promotion through social media; 
• A telephone consultation option through the Council’s Contact Centre and 

a freepost address for postal responses;  
• Meetings with:  
o Older Persons Advisory Group; 
o The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee;  
o School Budget Forum; and  
o Joint Consultative Committee.  

 
12.5    With regard to the consultation activity undertaken with the Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee, School Budget Forum and Joint Consultative Committee, 
the extracts of the minutes from these meetings are attached at Appendices 
3, 4 and 5 respectively.  

 
 
13.0 THE 2024/25 MACRO REVENUE BUDGET 
 
13.1  In arriving at a strategy for 2024/25, the Cabinet has taken into consideration 

its key commitments, its views on service delivery and relevant charges for 
services and the need to minimise the tax burden on local residents. 
Consequently, and after careful deliberation, the Cabinet has concluded that it 

Tudalen 37



can now propose a balanced revenue budget which will meet all of the 
fundamental requirements of its preferred strategy and minimise the Council 
Tax increase for next year. 

 
13.2   Table 4 below illustrates how the revenue resources available to the Council 

could be utilised, with a Council Tax increase of 4.99%: 
 
Table 4: Proposed Resources in 2024/25 

 

£'000

2024/25 Net Revenue Spending         631,795 
LESS: Revenue Support Grant & NDR Contribution         485,567 
LESS: Social Care Workforce Grant             3,668 
Sub total         142,560 
LESS: Release of Earmarked Reserves             7,502 

To be met from Council Taxpayers         135,058  
 

13.3 Table 5 below, shows the overall effect on services of applying the principles 
of the Cabinet’s recommended outline 2024/25 budget strategy. 
 
Table 5: Application of the 2024/25 Outline Budget Strategy 
 

BUDGET REQUIREMENTS 2023/24 2024/25 
Increase/ 

(Decrease)
£'000 £'000 £'000

Corporate Requirements
Capital Financing 21,708 21,708 0
Levies 14,960 15,728 768
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 25,784 26,570 786
Miscellaneous 14,261 13,215 (1,046)

76,713 77,221 508
Individual School Budgets (ISB)
Individual School Budgets 186,976 198,462 11,486

Other Council Services
Community & Children's Services 202,148 210,154 8,006
Finance, Digital and Frontline Services 79,595 82,604 3,009
Chief Executive's 28,499 27,177 (1,322)
Education & Inclusion Services 36,024 36,177 153

Net Revenue Spending 609,955 631,795 21,840  
 

Tudalen 38



 
 

14.0 SPECIFIC GRANTS 
 
14.1   For next year, the Welsh Government is to provide around £1.4Bn in Specific 

Revenue Grants to Welsh Local Authorities. 
 

14.2   Whilst specific grants dilute local accountability, such funding does enable us 
to undertake projects and deliver services that otherwise may not have been 
possible.  Whilst we will continue to make representation for such funding to 
be transferred into the Revenue Support Grant, until they do so then specific 
grants will continue to supplement our base revenue budget.  

 
14.3  By their nature, specific grants are often directed toward specific spend areas 

or policy objectives and are not certain in terms of their ongoing continuation 
nor value, presenting uncertainty in terms of forward planning.   

 
14.4  The allocation of specific grants, however, remains a key feature of the 

annual local government settlement, albeit there is a commitment to reduce 
such hypothecation. There are also a number of specific grants which have 
been introduced to deal with recurring cost pressures (eg Social Care 
Workforce Grant) and it is important that we seek to ensure their continuation 
beyond 2024/25. 

 
 
15.0   EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY / SOCIO ECONOMIC DUTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
15.1 Due regard has been given to the Council’s public sector equality duties under 

the Equality Act 2010, namely the Public Sector Equality Duty and Socio-
Economic Duty. 

 
15.2 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and concluded that the 

recommendations set out in the report are in line with the above legislation. 
 
 
16. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
16.1 The allocation of resources, as set out in the recommended 2024/25 Budget 

Strategy, is based on supporting the Council’s service delivery requirements 
and associated statutory responsibilities for the forthcoming year. In doing so, 
the recommended strategy is in line with the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011. 

 
 
17.0  CONSULTATION  
 
17.1   Consultation and engagement has been undertaken as part of formulating the 

recommended 2024/25 Revenue Budget Strategy, the detail of which is set 
out in Section 12 of the report.  

Tudalen 39



 
 
18.0  FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)  
 
18.1  The financial implications of the recommendations are set out in the main 

body of the Report.  
 
 
19.0  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 
 
19.1  The Council has a legal duty under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

to set a balanced budget and also a legal duty under the Local Government 
Act 2000 for it to be reported to and approved by Full Council. The 
recommended 2024/25 Revenue Budget Strategy and its reporting to full 
Council ensures compliance with these legal duties.  

 
 
20.0 LINKS TO CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE WELL-

BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT  
 
20.1   The recommended 2024/25 Revenue Budget Strategy has been formulated to 

support the delivery of the Council’s strategic priorities and Corporate Plan.  
The plan is aligned to the goals and principles included within the Well-Being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act.  

 
 
21.0   CONCLUSIONS 
 
21.1  The Council’s overall financial position remains sound, with General Reserves 

maintained at the recommended minimum level of £10M. 
 
21.2  On the 20th December 2023, the Minister for Finance and Local Government 

(Rebecca Evans MS) announced the Provisional 2024/25 Local Government 
Settlement with this Council’s increase in resources set at +2.8%.  This was 
followed up with additional resources being announced for local government 
in Wales on the 7th February 2024, which were consolidated into the Final 
Settlement (announced on the 27th February 2024) with the increase in 
resources for this Council revised to +3.0%.   

 
21.3 The Cabinet’s proposals properly address the corporate financial 

requirements of the Council and allocate an adequate financial uplift to the 
Individual Schools Budget.  The remaining resources available are allocated 
to fund all other services and to support our key priorities in 2024/25.  

 
21.4  The Cabinet has recommended setting the 2024/25 revenue spending and 

budget at £631.795M which will require a Council Tax increase of 4.99% for 
the financial year ending the 31st March 2025. 

 

Tudalen 40



21.5  The Council continues to deliver year on year balanced budgets alongside an 
ambitious investment programme supporting key priorities. The challenge 
does remain for positive and proactive management from the Senior 
Leadership Team and clear direction from Members to produce a robust and 
financially sustainable budget into the medium term in what continues to be a 
challenging financial climate. 

 
*************  

Tudalen 41



tudalen wag



Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol 
Minister for Finance and Local Government 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

        Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay  Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales 
      Caerdydd • Cardiff         Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru 
       CF99 1SN  

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

To:  
Leaders of County and County Borough Councils in Wales 

Copied to:  
Chief Executives and Directors of Finance, County and County Borough Councils in Wales 
Chief Executive and Director of Finance, Welsh Local Government Association 

27 February 2024 

Dear Colleagues, 

Today I am publishing details of the final local government revenue and capital settlement 
for 2024-25 (the settlement) for county and county borough councils (authorities) in Wales 
through a cabinet written statement.  This is attached for your information.  The final Local 
Government Finance Report and additional tables containing details of the final Settlement 
by individual authority are also being published on the Welsh Government website. 

As we have developed the 2024-25 Final Budget, we have prioritised protecting core 
frontline public services as far as possible; supporting the hardest hit households and 
prioritising jobs, where we can. Local authorities are key to this.  

I have used additional funding allocations for Wales, received as a consequence of UK 
Government spending decisions in devolved areas in England, to increase the local 
government settlement by £14.4m. I am also reversing a £10m reduction to the social 
workforce grant for 2024-25. This reflects the importance of these core public services and 
responds to calls from local authority Leaders and Senedd Members to prioritise local 
government if further resources became available. 

Adjusting for transfers, the core revenue funding for local government in 2024-25 will 
increase by 3.3% on a like-for-like basis compared to 2023-24. No authority will receive less 
than an 2.3% increase. In 2024-25, local authorities will receive £5.72bn from the Welsh 
Government Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and non-domestic rates (NDR) to deliver key 
services.  

In addition to the core Settlement, I am publishing indicative information on specific revenue 
and capital grants planned for 2024-25, which amount to over £1.3bn for revenue and over 
£956m for capital.  

Appendix 1

Tudalen 43

https://www.gov.wales/local-government-revenue-and-capital-settlement-2024-2025


As we discussed through the Finance Sub Group meeting in January, as part of our 
Programme of Government we are committed to reducing the bureaucratic burden on local 
government. Your authorities have highlighted grants management and administration as 
the area with the greatest opportunity for change.   The final settlement includes the transfer 
of 3 revenue grants to the local government revenue grant as well as the amalgamation of 
other grants to provide larger more flexible grants.  These changes are reflected in the 
accompanying tables providing transparency about the movements so you and other 
partners can clearly see any changes in funding in the round. This work, with you, will 
continue.  
 
Social services continue to be a priority for councils and for Welsh Government.  Our joint 
commitment to the real living wage for care workers reflects this.  The costs of enabling 
authorities to continue to meet the additional costs of introducing the Real Living Wage for 
care workers were included in the indicative budget increase announced last year.    
 
I have again taken the decision to provide all the available funding up front and not hold 
back funding for in-year recognition of the 2024/25 teachers’ pay deal.  Authorities’ budget 
planning must therefore accommodate these costs. 
 
I am providing a package of non-domestic rates support which will benefit every ratepayer in 
Wales. I confirmed this package as part of the Draft Budget. We will cap the increase to the 
non-domestic rates multiplier for 2024-25 to 5%, at a recurring annual cost of £18m. This is 
lower than the 6.7% increase that would otherwise apply. We will also be investing an 
additional £78m to provide a fifth successive year of support for retail, leisure and hospitality 
businesses with their non-domestic rates bills. We also continue to support ratepayers with 
increased liabilities following the 2023 non-domestic rates revaluation. Our transitional relief 
scheme continues to phase in changes for eligible ratepayers at a cost of £38m in 2024-25. 
This is in addition to our permanent rates relief schemes. 
 

I recognise that while the recent very high rates of inflation are now decreasing, they are still 
high by the standards of the last 15 years.  Baseline costs for staff and services have 
increased and are not reducing.  Demand for services, alongside cost pressures mean that 
local authorities have needed to make difficult decisions on services, efficiencies, and 
council tax in setting budgets.  I want to acknowledge the challenges you are facing.  We 
will continue our positive engagement with local government on all matters finance-related 
through the Finance Sub Group. 
 
I set out the position on capital funding for the Welsh Government as part of today’s budget 
statement.  As I set out in my letter to you on the provisional settlement, I have maintained 
the general capital funding for local authorities at £180m, the indicative level that was set 
last year and the £20 million capital on our joint priority of decarbonisation. I know this will 
mean that local authorities will have to look carefully at and prioritise capital programmes to 
continue to invest to best effect in the provision of public services.    
 
The Chancellor’s Autumn Statement referred to the changes to the SCAPE rate, which has 
implications for the costs of employers’ contributions to teachers and fire-fighter pensions. 
Funding for this is expected to be provided by UK Government during 2024-2025.  I have 
written to the Chief Secretary to the Treasury to press for assurances on the level and 
timing of this funding.  I can assure you that the funding Welsh Government receives for this 
will be provided to relevant bodies.  My officials will keep your officers informed.   
 

Tudalen 44



I know that you are aware of the need to comply with the general equality duties set out in 
the Equality Act 2010, and also the specific equality duties where applicable.  The equality 
impacts of budgetary options should be assessed and inform any final decisions. Authorities 
also need to have taken account of their duties under the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh language standards in preparing plans for 2023-24. 
 
The Government will now proceed to lay the Local Government Finance Report (No. 1) for 
2024-25 for debate in the Senedd on 5 March 2024. 
 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 

 
 
Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol 
Minister for Finance and Local Government 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 45



tudalen wag



Table 1a: Change in Aggregate External Finance (AEF), 

adjusted for transfers, by Unitary Authority (£000)

Unitary Authority

2023-24 Final 

Aggregate 

External 

Finance

2024-25 Final 

Aggregate 

External 

Finance

Percentage 

difference
Rank

Isle of Anglesey 124,147 127,586 2.8% 17

Gwynedd 228,180 233,317 2.3% 22

Conwy 199,025 203,526 2.3% 21

Denbighshire 193,351 200,795 3.8% 4

Flintshire 252,255 258,527 2.5% 20

Wrexham 225,021 232,865 3.5% 8

Powys 228,852 235,865 3.1% 11

Ceredigion 131,569 135,286 2.8% 14

Pembrokeshire 212,918 218,870 2.8% 16

Carmarthenshire 338,755 350,646 3.5% 7

Swansea 417,919 435,021 4.1% 3

Neath Port Talbot 277,211 285,594 3.0% 12

Bridgend 250,853 258,925 3.2% 10

The Vale of Glamorgan 202,925 209,781 3.4% 9

Rhondda Cynon Taf 471,369 485,567 3.0% 13

Merthyr Tydfil 119,170 123,492 3.6% 5

Caerphilly 340,339 348,864 2.5% 19

Blaenau Gwent 140,094 144,044 2.8% 15

Torfaen 172,572 178,733 3.6% 6

Monmouthshire 122,844 126,019 2.6% 18

Newport 289,622 304,045 5.0% 1

Cardiff 597,291 623,158 4.3% 2

Total unitary authorities 5,536,285 5,720,524 3.3%

Tudalen 47



tudalen wag



 

  
 
 
  

Jack to insert

APPENDIX 2

Tudalen 49



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

2 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 
Section Page 
  

Executive Summary 
  

3 
 

Introduction 
 

5 
 

Background 
 

5 
 

Methodology 
 

6 
 

Consultation Findings 
 

7 

         
 
   
Figures Page 
 

1: Council Tax 
 

7 
 

2: Council Tax Quick Poll 
 

8 
 

3: Schools 
 

11 
 

4: Efficiencies 
 

14 
 

5: Fees and Charges 
 

17 
 

6: Use of Reserves 
 

22 
 

7: Respondent Type 
 

25 
 

8: Impact on Welsh Language learners 
 

27 
 

9: Welsh Language 
 

29 

 
 
 

 
  

Tudalen 50



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

3 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
• This section provides a summary of the main findings from the Phase 2 

Budget Consultation 2024-25. 
 

• Rhondda Cynon Taf’s 2024-25 Budget Consultation is a phased approach, 
so that we can ensure residents and stakeholders have as much opportunity 
as possible to provide views on the budget and to make sure that views are 
informed by the most up to date and relevant information.  

 
• Phase 1 provided residents and stakeholders with the opportunity to 

feedback their views on some of the key strategic building blocks used to 
construct the Council’s proposed budget.  The Phase 1 consultation report 
was available to support the preparation of the budget strategy proposals 
and was presented to Cabinet on the 24th January 2024, where a draft 
budget strategy was agreed. 

 
• This report presents the findings of Phase 2 of the budget consultation, 

which asked for views on the draft budget strategy for 2024-25.  Phase 2 of 
the consultation started on the 24th January 2024 and ended on the 9th 

February 2024. 
 

• The Council is proposing that Council Tax be increased by 4.9% for next 
year, likely to be one of the lowest increases in Wales. 58.3% of respondents 
felt that the increase was not reasonable compared to 37.0% who fed back 
the proposed increase was reasonable.  
 

• The main reasons provided by respondents who disagreed with the 
proposed increase in Council Tax were the ongoing Cost of Living crisis 
including stagnating wages against increased outgoings and dissatisfaction 
with service levels (and concerns about proposed/future service reductions).  

 
• The respondents who thought that the proposed increase in Council Tax 

was reasonable that they believe the current financial situation requires 
additional Council Tax income to maintain services. 
 

• A Quick Poll question about Council Tax was phrased differently to that in 
the survey, asking whether respondents agreed “with a 1% increase in 
Council Tax to that originally planned, from 3.9% to 4.9%”. Results from this 
survey contradict those from the survey findings, with 67.2% agreement and 
29.4% disagreement. 

 
• The Schools Budget next year is once again being prioritised and will 

contribute a far lower efficiency saving than other Council Services.  It is 
proposed to increase the Schools Budget by £11.9 million, an increase of 
6.4% compared to the 2.8% increase in funding the Council is to receive 
from Welsh Government, as per the provisional local government 
settlement.  62.8% of respondents agreed with the approach to continue to 

Tudalen 51



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

4 
 

prioritise our schools and the proposed increase to the Schools budget for 
2024-25.  

 
• Significant work has been undertaken across all Council Services and 

budget reduction measures totalling £13 million for 2024-25 have been 
identified which can be delivered without significantly impacting on our front-
line services.  72.9% of respondents agreed that the Council should continue 
to maximise efficiency and pursue these efficiency savings for next year. 

 
• 67.5% of respondents agreed with the proposals for fees and charges.  

 
• 75.6% of respondents agreed with the proposed approach for the use of the 

Council’s reserves. 
 

• 686 people were engaged in the phase 2 budget consultation. Overall 
(including Phase 1) over 1,200 people were engaged in the Council’s 2-
phase budget consultation process. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Tudalen 52



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

5 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This report presents the findings of the Phase 2 Budget Consultation 

2024-25. 
 
1.2 Section 2 outlines some brief background to the consultation process. 

 
1.3 Section 3 details the methodology. 

 
1.4 Section 4 provides the results of the Let’s Talk engagement tools and 

the feedback received from the Older Persons Advisory Group 
(OPAG).  

 
 

1.5 Section 5 provides feedback on the young persons’ engagement. 
 

 
 
2. BACKGROUND  
 
 
2.1 The Council undertakes a comprehensive approach to its annual budget 

consultation, involving a large number of residents and key stakeholders.   
 
2.2 The widespread approach we use and the range of views we capture 

provides senior managers and Cabinet Members with the necessary 
information they need to recommend a Revenue Budget Strategy for the 
2024-25 financial year.  

 
2.3 Rhondda Cynon Taf’s 2024-25 Budget Consultation is a phased 

approach, so that we can ensure residents and stakeholders have as 
much opportunity as possible to provide views on the budget and to 
make sure that views are informed by the most up to date and relevant 
information.  

 
2.4 Phase 1 provided residents and stakeholders with the opportunity to 

feedback their views on some of the key elements used to construct the 
Council’s proposed budget. 

 
2.5 The Phase 1 consultation report was available to support the preparation 

of the budget strategy proposals and was presented to Cabinet on the 
24th January 2024, where a draft budget strategy was agreed. 

 
2.6 This report presents the findings of phase 2 of the budget consultation, 

which asked for views on the draft budget strategy for 2024-25. 
 
2.7 Phase 2 of the consultation started on the 24th January 2024 and ended 

on the 9th February 2024.  

Tudalen 53

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45119/Appendix%205.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45112/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45112/Report.pdf?LLL=0


Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

6 
 

3. METHODOLOGY 
 
3.1 This section provides a summary of the methodology used for the Phase 

2 Budget Consultation 2024-25.  The consultation was conducted in-
house.   

 
3.2 The consultation period ran from the 24th January 2024 and ended on 

the 9th February 2024. 
 
3.3 The approach included the following methods to consult with a range of 

stakeholders: 
 
o Publication of information on the Rhondda Cynon Taf “Let’s Talk” 

website, which included 
o A survey 
o “Quick Poll” 
o A simplified “Easy Read” document that could be downloaded 

and printed for use by any audiences that felt unable to 
engage with the full survey format. 

o Key background documents 
o Promotion through social media 
o A face-to-face meeting with the OPAG  
o Overview & Scrutiny Committee meeting 
o School Budget Forum meeting 
o Joint Consultative Committee meeting  
o A face-to-face session with young people and engagement through 

Tonyrefail Community School and Treorchy Comprehensive School 
o An email sent to key stakeholders. 

 
3.4 The Council provided a number of alternatives to online engagement, as 

it is important to continue to consider hard to reach groups, those having 
reduced or no access to the internet and those who prefer to engage 
through traditional methods. A telephone consultation option was also in 
place, through the Council’s contact centre. This option allows people to 
discuss their views or request consultation materials.  Individual call 
backs were available on request and a consultation Freepost address 
was available for postal responses. 

 
3.5 The Team designed an Easy Read/Plain English Document in paper 

format and online, to simplify some of the consultation materials.   
 
3.6 686 people were engaged in the phase 2 budget consultation. Overall 

(including Phase 1) over 1,200 people were engaged in the Council’s 2-
phase budget consultation process.  

 
  

Tudalen 54

https://lets-talk.rctcbc.gov.uk/


Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

7 
 

4. Consultation Findings 
 
4.1 The following section outlines the results from the phase 2 budget 

consultation questionnaire, which received 450 responses, and also 
includes the feedback received from the OPAG and the young people in 
schools.  

 
A selection of comments are provided, and the full list of comments will 
be provided to Cabinet and senior officers to assist with decision making. 

 
 Council Tax 
  
4.2 The Council is proposing that Council Tax be increased by 4.9% for next 

year. The majority of respondents to the questionnaire felt that the 
increase was not reasonable (58.3%). 

 

 
  Number % 

Yes 165 37.0% 
No 260 58.3% 

Q1 - Do you agree that 4.9% is a 
reasonable increase in Council 

Tax? Don't know 21 4.7% 
 Total 446  

Figure 1 – Council Tax 
 
4.3 The Poll question on the Let’s Talk Budget Engagement site was 

completed by 204 people, with 67.2% agreeing and 29.4% disagreeing 
to this level of Council Tax increase. It should be noted that the wording 
of the poll question was different to that in the main survey, where 
respondents were asked if they agreed with a 1% increase in Council 
Tax to that originally planned, from 3.9% to 4.9%.  

 

Yes
 37.0%

No
 58.3%

Don't Know
 4.7%

Q1 - DO YOU AGREE THAT 4.9% IS 
A REASONABLE INCREASE IN 

COUNCIL TAX?

Tudalen 55



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

8 
 

 
Quick Poll: Do you agree with a 1% 
increase in Council Tax to that originally 
planned, from 3.9% to 4.9%? Number % 
Yes 137 67.2% 
No 60 29.4% 
Don't know 7 3.4% 

 204  
Figure 2 – Council Tax Quick Poll 

 
4.4 A large number of comments disagreed with an increase in Council Tax 

and the comments can be placed under a number of themes, as follows: 
 

Cost of Living 
 
4.5 The main reason cited for disagreement with the suggested increase in 

Council Tax was the current cost of living crisis and that people were 
finding it difficult financially, with the increasing price of food, energy etc. 

 
"With everything else going up, it's hard enough as it is to manage 
without increasing more bills." 

 
"An increase would put more pressure on working families." 
 
“Most peoples pay hasn't gone up by that much” 
 
"People are struggling now, an increase would put more pressure on 
already stretched households." 
 
"Our monthly income is leaving us with nothing else to spare as it is, we 
are struggling to pay our mortgage, heating, and food. Our council tax is 

Yes
 67.2%

No
 29.4%

Don't know
 3.4%

DO YOU AGREE WITH A 1% 
INCREASE IN COUNCIL TAX TO 

THAT ORIGINALLY PLANNED, FROM 
3.9% TO 4.9%?

Tudalen 56



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

9 
 

already a bill that we struggle to keep on top of and it's increasing every 
year." 
 
“With RCT being one of the poorest regions in wales and the uk and with 
a cost of living crisis and low wages in the valleys with many people 
spending high fuel costs to travel to work this is totally unacceptable” 
 
"It's too much for struggling households to cope with on top of other 
financial pressures." 
 
The young people we spoke to in schools felt that the increase in 
Council Tax was unfair: 

 
“Alongside all the other costs, that is a lot.” 
 
“I think it’s unfair, everything’s going up, there’s not enough money to 
live on.” 

 
Dissatisfaction with Service Quality 

 
4.6 There was a level of dissatisfaction with the services received for the 

Council tax that is paid.  
 

"Services are being cut - yet we are expected to pay more." 
 
"Council tax is expensive and despite receiving a discount for a single 
occupancy it is already extremely high with council services not being 
delivered well." 
 
“Ridiculous. Cuts to save money by dropping bin collections to 3 
weekly and now increasing council tax feels insulting and takes no 
regard to the residents of RCT.” 
 
"The roads are still in a state. Potholes everywhere, street lighting 
knocked off, the list goes on." 
 
"Services have been reduced! So why do we have to pay more?" 
 
“If things were kept at current levels then yes but we all know services 
are being cut” 

 
Support the increase 

 
4.7 Some of the respondents were supportive of the increase in Council tax; 

 
"The rise should be higher so as to prevent cuts to our public services, 
which will prove inevitable without a much higher rise in tax." 

 
“Another year that RCT has managed to maintain a relatively low 
increase.” 

Tudalen 57



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

10 
 

 
“As stated this increase could be one of the lowest in Wales... There 
being no other option !!!!” 

 
“Given the hole RCT is in I agree that a 4.9% increase this year is 
necessary and could be considered reasonable however I also feel that 
the council needs to look into efficiency improvements throughout its 
organisation.” 

 
“I believe it’s necessary but not reasonable “ 

 
“I don't think any rise in Council Tax is reasonable, however, with the 
budget problems a 4.9% raise is acceptable.” 
 
“It is quite a jump, but due to current situation may be only option.”   
 
“its a lot to put on tax payers but if its the only way to keep hold of our 
public services then it has to be done” 

 
“Raise it a little more” 

 
“This is very reasonable in comparison to neighbouring authorities 
proposals” 

 
4.8 OPAG members accepted that the increase was necessary given the 

financial situation the Council is in.  
 

Schools Funding 
 

4.9 The Schools Budget next year is once again being prioritised and will 
have to contribute a lower efficiency saving than other Council 
Services.   

 
It is proposed to increase the Schools Budget by £11.9 million, an 
increase of 6.4% as compared to the 2.8% increase in funding the 
Council is to receive from Welsh Government, as per the provisional 
local government settlement. 
 
62.8% of respondents agreed with the approach and the proposed 
increase to the Schools budget for 2024-25.  

 

Tudalen 58



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

11 
 

 
  Number % 
Q2 - Schools Yes 279 62.8% 

 No 115 25.9% 
 Don't know 50 11.3% 
 Total 444  

Figure 3 – Schools 
 
4.10 The majority of comments welcomed the approach for funding schools. 
 

Support for additional funding: 
 

"Children are the future so must have a good education." 
 
"Schools are important and our children need safe and secure places 
to be educated." 
 
"Children are our future, & as an overall 'deprived area', schools & 
children need as much support as possible." 
 
"Schools need to be prioritized to give children the best possible 
chance." 
 
"Schools need more support as they are fighting a losing battle 
regarding behavior and the ALN children." 

 
“you cannot sacrifice the opportunity for a child to have the chance of a 
good education and future job/carer prospects” 

 
All of the young people we spoke to agreed with the additional funding 
for schools. 

 
 

Yes
 62.8%

No
 25.9%

Don't Know
 11.3%

Q2: AGREEMENT WITH SCHOOLS 
FUNDING

Tudalen 59



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

12 
 

4.11 Many comments were received that supported an increase in the school 
budget, however some respondents felt that the increase should be in 
line with the proposed Council Tax increase (4.9%) or the provisional 
settlement figure from Welsh Government (2.8%). 

 
Lower school budget increase 

 
“4.9% should be allocated” 
 
“School budgets increases should be lower to recognise that other 
services e.g. should also be protected. Schools should not expect to be 
protected year on year and should shore the pain of reduced budgets.” 

 
“I agree that schools budget should be protected but not to the 
detriment of other services, which by giving a 6.4 % increase will 
inevitably happen” 
 
“If Welsh Government is increasing by 2.8% that is all it should be 
increased by.  If you just manage and subsidise, then you will never get 
a fair settlement from WAG.  Robbing Peter to Pay paul isnt a good 
strategy…..”      

 
4.12 A number of comments received were in favour of a budget increase 

for schools, but wanted more information on how the money would be 
invested. 

 
Other ideas  

 
“Again, more understanding of why the budget needs increasing by this 
amount and further to this how exactly will the funds be used.” 

 
“Depends on how the money is going to be used” 

 
“Depends on what the increase will be spent on. I would rather see 
school transport still being provided and ensuring children are attending 
school especially the most vulnerable instead of for example providing 
stationary/books” 

 
“Education of children is important to ensure a bright future for the 
county but this must not come at a significant cost to parents and 
taxpayers. Having good education is pointless if the families of those 
pupils are in poverty.” 

 
“Needs to be specific investment with clear and measurable outputs” 

 
“Schools aren't the only services you provide.” 

 
4.13 Some respondents felt that they couldn’t comment on the schools budget 

due to them not having children and so were not affected, however 

Tudalen 60



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

13 
 

others felt it was unfair for them to contribute to the budget because they 
had no use for schools. 

 
Not applicable - not directly affected 

 
“Consistent increases in council tax to fund consistent increases in 
school budget is unfair for residents who have no use for the schools 
service. I agree that paying for essential schools budget is necessary but 
not if this is to help fund school services which are non essential” 
 
“Doesn't apply to me, have no children” 
 
“I don’t have children so this would be unfair for me to judge” 

 
4.14 There were some concerns about increasing schools budget at the 

expense of other services and the need for schools to also look at 
efficiencies themselves. 

 
School efficiencies  

 
"Schools should be tasked to look at their own budgets & make 
efficiencies where possible." 
 
"Schools have been protected for many years. It's time to carry out a 
review of service provision to see if there are potential savings." 

 
“A blanket increase may not be the right approach if schools are 
individually mis-managing budgets. If the fiscal governance of schools is 
tight, and every effort is made for correct management, then yes, a 
budget increase in line with inflation is appropriate.” 
 
“Although there is an increase, schools are also being asked to make a 
1.3% “efficiency saving” (essentially a cut)! I feel this should be 
accurately reported and mentioned alongside the proposed increase. 
Additionally, many of the schools’ traded services costs are being hugely 
increased. Just saying the budget going up doesn’t give a true reflection 
of the dire picture schools are facing.” 

 
“I know people who work in schools and so much money is wasted. 
Instead of increasing by that much I feel like budgets should be managed 
in a much more appropriate way.” 

 
4.15 The OPAG agreed with the approach outlined for the schools budget. 
 

Efficiencies 
 
4.16 Significant work has been undertaken across all Council Services and 

budget reduction measures totalling £13 million for 2024-25 have been 
identified which can be delivered without significantly impacting on our 
front-line services. 

Tudalen 61



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

14 
 

 
72.9% of respondents agreed that the Council should continue to maximise 
efficiency and pursue these efficiency savings for next year. 

 

 
  Number % 
Q3 - Efficiencies Yes 322 72.9% 
  No 49 11.1% 
  Don't know 71 16.1% 
  Total 442  

Figure 4 – Efficiencies 
 
4.17 Many of the responses were in agreement with the need for efficiencies: 
 

"Yes, I agree to efficiencies, but what does 'without significantly 
impacting' actually mean?" 
 
"Funds have to be used efficiently so yes, we all have to do our bit but 
it's hard to watch the quality of life deteriorate in the area." 
 
"Maximizing efficiency! Yes, get on with it….." 

 
Staffing and Efficiency: 
 

4.18 Some of the comments on this proposal noted that efficiencies should 
not be found at the expense of staffing levels or support to frontline 
services. 
 
"Your idea of efficiency seems to be cutting staff." 
 
"Frontline services are negatively impacted by every single unfilled 
vacancy and overworked staff member." 
 

Yes
 72.9%

No
 11.1%

Don't know
 16.1%

Q3: AGREEMENT WITH 
EFFICIENCIES STRATEGY

Tudalen 62



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

15 
 

"Efficiency is important but this must not come at the detriment of 
services or council employees." 

 
4.19 A number of suggestions for efficiencies and savings were made in the 

comments, including:   
 

"Make WFH more accessible managed during the pandemic why not 
now? If productivity is a concern managers need to be stronger." 
 
"You need to listen to and engage with the staff on the ground in 
relation to the efficiencies that are achievable while providing the 
service required." 
 
"Stop wasting money on street speed limit signs and remote funding for 
Welsh language, all very nice to have in a world where funding is 
there." 

 
"Stop cutting grass it is not good for biodiversity." 
 
"An easy way to save money is a strict work from home policy." 
 
“Stop the unnecessary office moves and relocations. Stop leasing 
property when we have Council owned property laying empty.” 
 
"Savings should be made where possible, however, money should be 
spent where the public safety is at risk." 
 
"If you're maximizing efficiencies and you've found savings why can 
these not be used instead of increasing council tax and increasing 
schooling budget." 
 
"As long as efficiency doesn't come at a cost to safeguarding children 
such as school transport and social services provision." 
 
Some comments from our school consultation included: 
 
“Road works – spending money on roads that don’t need to be fixed.” 
 
“20 mph areas are a waste of money to change signs only to change 
them back to 30mph.” 

 
“Lots of cares speeding in my street and nothing stops them.  More 
cameras are needed or speed bumps in areas where needed.” 

 
4.20 A number of comments called for cuts to managers and Councillors: 
 

"You need to take away from the top first, too many chiefs." 
 
"Cut the number of highly paid members of management." 
 

Tudalen 63



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

16 
 

Fees and Charges 
 
4.21 The Council reviews the level of fees and charges on an annual basis in 

the context of the rate of inflation. The current level of inflation 
(Consumer Prices Index to December 2023) is 4.0%, however it has 
been well above 5% for the majority of the past 12 months.  
 
Phase 1 of the Council’s 2024/25 Budget Consultation process set out 
that an across-the-board increase for all fees and charges is not 
considered reasonable, with the need for fees and charges to be 
reviewed individually having regard to service user impact.  
 
It is proposed that for the year ahead, the general rate of increase across 
our fees and charges is set at 5% with the Council absorbing the 
implications of not applying an uplift in line with inflation.  A number of 
areas are proposed to be subject to specific changes, as shown in the 
table below: 

 
Area of Charge Proposed Specific Changes  
Car Park Charges Season tickets/residential parking permits – Freeze 

Short stay/long stay up to 4 hours 
£0.10 increase 
and a £0.20 increase over 4 hours 
 
With the additional income generated used to off-set 
increased transaction costs incurred by the Council 
where card payments are made to purchase car park 
tickets* 

School Meals (Secondary 
Schools) 

£0.15 per meal 

Leisure for Life – 
Membership / Pay and 
Play 

Membership +£0.50 
(with further proposals set out in the full Fees and 
Charges Review) 

Rhondda Heritage Park £9.95 to £10.95 Adult Entry (with further proposals set 
out in the full Fees and Charges Review) 

Lido (Pontypridd) Standard admission charge / cold water swim / paid 
activities - freeze 
Children under 16 – remain free 
Boxing day swim: +£0.50 
Introduction of a £0.25 booking fee per individual 
ticket purchased to help reduce the number of pre-
bookings that do not result in attendance 

Community Meals (meals 
on wheels) & Day 
Services meals 

Increase of £0.25 

Non-residential care 
services 

Home care Hourly Rate: £20.00 to £21.00 per hour 
Day Centre Services daily rate: from £20.00 to £21.00 
per day 
Direct Payment hourly rate: £10.00 to £11.00 p hour 

Bulky Waste Collection From £17.00 to £20 (for 3 items) 

Tudalen 64



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

17 
 

* Car Park Charges – tickets machines being upgraded to enable card 
payments to be taken (payment by cash option to also remain in place) 

 
4.22 All of these changes would generate additional income of £407k per 

year.  67.5% of respondents agreed with the proposals for fees and 
charges.  

 

 
  Number % 
Q4 - Fees and Charges Yes 299 67.5% 

 No 118 26.6% 
 Don't know 26 5.9% 
 Total 443  

Figure 5 – Fees and Charges 
 
4.23 Overall there were a wide range of comments on all the areas of fees 

and charges proposals, based on services used and people’s 
understanding of each of the services.   

 
There was some general agreement with the overall approach: 
 
General agreement 
 
“I agree with all the prosed fee changes, although Car Park chargers 
should increase by 20p and 30p (not 10p and 20p). Lido fees should also 
increase by more than the proposed amount.” 
 
“Absolutely. These are sensible increases that won’t impact to heavily” 
 
“I believe some of these charges could be increased a little more 
considering past years increases compared to inflation rates.” 
 
“If these are being used then the user's should have to pay the increase” 
 

Yes
 67.5%

No
 26.6% Don't know

 5.9%

Q4: AGREEMENT WITH FEES AND 
CHARGES PROPOSALS

Tudalen 65



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

18 
 

“on the whole I agree these are good services and the cost is acceptable” 
 
“One or two points could be argued however in the main I'd support the 
increases as a whole.” 
 
“Seems a reasonable approach in the circumstances” 

 
4.24 Generally speaking, the majority of comments received were not in 

favour of the proposed increases to fees and charges, and there was 
concern for the local economy and businesses; 

 
Disagreement 

 
"Increases in fees could negatively impact the local economy and small 
businesses." 

 
"Stop raising prices and giving us nothing in return!" 

 
"Without transparency of how the funds are saved, it feels like an 
inflationary hit without any benefit." 

 
“Disagree with any increases along with my council tax increase. We 
need more given back, not extra charges.” 

 
“I am unsure what to make of this. The increasing prices more and 
more in a cost of living crisis is set to take advantage of people that are 
majorly affected by these increases (usually low/no income 
households)” 

 
“People are already putting themselves in debt to deal with the 
increases we are facing year after year” 

 
4.25 There were also concerns that some of the increases could have an 

impact on potentially vulnerable residents, particularly with regards to 
meal provision; 

 
Impact on Vulnerable Populations: 

 
"Meals young and old increasing, vulnerable people will skip meals." 
 
"No increase on care or meals on wheels as people who use these 
services already struggling." 

 
"These are hitting the most vulnerable in society." 
 
“The cost for non residential day services is too expensive. People will 
be excluded and become more isolated.” 

 
“The main one I do not agree with is the increase to the residential 
services and meals.on wheels. Again focused on the lowest earners. 

Tudalen 66



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

19 
 

Maybe place some fees on landlord portfolio owners, 2nd 3rd 4th 
homes instead. Those who can afford it. Not mrs jones on a state 
pension caring for her husband struggling to heat her home.” 

 
“All except care charges. These are not fair in anyway. These are our 
most vulnerable people and the charge is more than most can afford” 
 
"Some yes and some no comprehensive school meals are already 
expensive." 
 
A respondent from our school consultation commented “I don’t like the 
day centre increases.” 
 

4.26 The following areas received the most comments on fees and charges 
and a selection of those comments are provided.  

 
4.27 The Lido was seen as an area where prices could be increased due to 

the service being seen as a luxury. 
 

Lido Charge 
 

"Lido prices should be increased." 
 
“Lido should not be free unless family is on low income, many can 
afford to pay £3 per swim or £10 family of 4 pass - and if on free school 
means can go in free and keep a register.  That way you'll encourage 
more families to apply for Free School Meals as many dont.” 
 
“Increase Lido booking fee” 
 
“Pre-booking fee on the lido should be much higher.  Demand far 
outstrips supply and as the rates are so low, people make several 
bookings and do not think about others if they simply fail to use their 
allocated slot.” 
 
“Children are free to the lido which although very nice and may 
encourage exercise is a luxury not a necessity.” 

 
4.28 Parking had a mixture of comments with some respondents suggesting 

it was cheap and charges could potentially be increased, whereas others 
expressed the opposite opinion; 

 
Parking 

 
“Parking is so cheap I would rather increase that than school meals or 
meals o. Wheels the the elderly and children it seems disproportionate” 
 
"Charging for parking is killing the town centres." 
 
"Upgrade to parking machines will be very welcomed." 

Tudalen 67



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

20 
 

 
"It is unfair for residents who don't own a vehicle to cushion this." 

 
“Councils wonder why town centres are dead, increasing parking 
charges only facilitates this. There aren’t enough chain shops in towns 
to want to pay for parking when you can go to a retail park with no 
parking charges and do much more shopping than in a town centre.  
Also switching to card payments only is alienating a generation who 
pay cash. We are not a cashless society and we should not be forced 
into this.” 
 
“I believe that car parking could be increased.” 
 
“I do feel that parking charges could be increased more than this 
though.” 
 
“I think all public carparks in RCT should be free for the first 4 hours to 
encourage footfall in town centres” 

 
4.29 The general opinion on school meals was for them to stay as they 

currently are, with no increase.  They were mostly seen as a necessity 
and not a luxury. 

 
School meals 

 
"School meal prices should increase by up to 50p." 
 
“Increase in school meals by 20p” 
 
“School meal cost should be supplemented to ensure every child gets a 
hot meal.” 
 
“What justifies the increase in school dinner costs? The standard of the 
food is not getting better but yet you want to charge more. Also, the 
portions in a secondary school are not always satisfactory for an almost 
adult for lunch.” 

 
“School meals are not a luxury they are necessity, the small ones who 
don’t cost as much to feed are free whereas the teens are not.” 
 

4.30 The young people we consulted disagreed with the proposals to 
increase the prices of school meals. 
 
“£2.95 increasing to £3.10… my friend can only buy one item with her 
allowance.   If you have something for breakfast, you don’t have 
enough for lunch.  The pizza slices are too expensive.” 
 
“When I was in year 7, drinks were cheaper.  Cans were 70p and now 
they’re £1+.” 

 

Tudalen 68



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

21 
 

“Lunch is sometimes the only hot meal some young people have in the 
day.” 

 
4.31 There was concern that there was the potential for increased fly tipping 

with the proposal to increase the bulky waste charges. 
 

Bulky Waste 
 
"Charging for bulky waste collection has caused so much fly tipping." 
 
"The increase in bulky waste collection will lead to more fly tipping." 
 
"Charging for bulky waste collection prices are extortionate." 
 
"Don't agree - Bulky Waste Collection, Non-residential care services; 
School Meals (Secondary Schools)." 

 
A young person commented “Bulky waste increase isn’t fair.” 

 
4.32 With gym membership, the majority of comments received suggested 

that exercise benefitted a lot of people and was important for mental 
health therefore should not be increased. 

 
“fitness activity's going up could result with more pressure o NHS 
budgets if people stop keeping fit.” 
 
“Leisure for life should not be increased as it may deter people from 
using facilities which benefit their health.” 
 
“I go to Llantrisant Gym and the prices are already so high, it needs to 
be lowered. The general demographic earns less than Cardiff and the 
Vale and yet our gyms are much higher in price.” 
 
“Why will the lido fees remain frozen and hun membership increase 
when teenagers and younger people are more interested and invested 
in going to the gym rather than swimming....long term will have a 
positive impact ie less people using nhs ect” 

 
4.33 Some comments were received in relation to the Heritage park; 
 

“Consider reduced charges for OAP and the Disabled at the Rhondda 
HERITAGE PARK.” 

 
“Some suggestions here are totally fine however I believe the impact of 
increasing prices through psychological price barriers may impact 
takings negatively. Eg. A couple last year could go to the heritage park 
with a £20 note, now they can't, they could go somewhere else for 
roughly the same cost.” 
 

Tudalen 69



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

22 
 

“educational places like the heritage park going up? where is the 
incentive for family's to take their children and educate them on our 
past history of wales.” 

 
4.34 The OPAG noted increases in fees and charges are expected and were 

generally happy with the rises if they kept Council Tax levels down.  They 
did feel that the £0.25 booking fee for Lido tickets was too low and 
unlikely to address people booking and not turning up. All members felt 
it should be higher. 

 
Use of Reserves (Transition Funding) 

 
4.35 We have for many years used our reserves (transition funding) sensibly 

as part of our balanced budget strategy, at a level which does not 
compromise the robustness of our budget and which can be replenished 
with some certainty, given our ongoing strategy of delivering savings 
early. 

The Council is proposing to use £8.95 million of reserves (transition 
funding) to balance the budget for next year. 

75.6% of respondents agreed with the proposal to use the Council’s 
reserves in this way. 

 

 
  Number % 
Q5 - Use of Reserves Yes 332 75.6% 

 No 54 12.3% 
 Don't know 53 12.1% 
 Total 439  

Figure 6 – Use of Reserves 
 
4.36 A number of respondents were happy with the proposed use of reserves 

and the way the Council manages them;  
 

Yes
 75.6%

No
 12.3%

Don't know
 12.1%

Q5: AGREEMENT WITH USE OF 
RESERVES

Tudalen 70



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

23 
 

“Again RCT has effectively used reserves over a number of years” 
 
“as long as it doesn’t compromise the stability of the council” 

 
“income is never guaranteed so would not use as this cushion only as 
emergency for risk/health and safety” 
 
“Effective use of reserves is to be encouraged, as long as there is 
enough held back to cover emergencies such as fire and flooding.” 
 
“It is important that the council looks to use reserves before asking 
taxpayers to contribute towards higher council tax but less services.” 

 
4.37 There was some confusion about the levels of reserves held by the 

Council and more information was needed by some. 
 

“cannot make an informed response based on the information provided” 
 

“This is to vague, what percentage of the reserves is £8.95m? How 
quickly can it be replenished…….” 

 
“. . . there is no right answer to this question. We would also need to 
understand the impact of using it or not.” 

 
4.38 The OPAG commented on the importance of reserves within the Council 

and agreed with the proposed use of the Council reserves as outlined.  
 

Other Comments  
 
4.39 A wide range of general comments were received regarding the budget. 

Some of the most frequent themes are described below, with relevant 
quotes. 

 
Appreciation of the current financial situation 

 
“Only that I appreciate how difficult it must be for RCT to juggle things 
about considering the short fall from Govt.” 
 
“Think I have covered it all. I know have criticised but I also appreciate 
how difficult these decisions must be. Please put school children's needs 
first” 
  
“Seems fair in what is a tough time all round” 
 
“Strategy reasonable in the circumstances. Could considering raising 
extra revenue, suggestion: local lottery, staging fund raising events” 
 
“The strategy seems a balanced approach to deal with increasing 
financial constraints. I would just emphasise that a cost reduction without 
detriment to the provision of a required service is an efficiency saving. A 

Tudalen 71



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

24 
 

cost reduction that has a detrimental effect on a required service is not 
an efficiency saving. It is a cut.” 

 
Cost of living/Affordability 

 
“I am concerned about people on low incomes: proposed increases may 
be readily affordable for those on higher incomes, but some people are 
already struggling to make ends meet - I don't know how they will cope 
with even small increases.” 
 
“In our area, where even working people can’t afford basic living 
necessities,  how are the increases going to be paid however justified 
they are. ?” 
 
“I feel that saving jobs should be a priority.  In this current climate losing 
a job could be extremely damaging to not only finances but Health.” 
 
“More needs to be done for Pensioner's, Vulnerable and lonely people 
at a lower cost.” 
 
Councillor and Management Costs 
 
“lower the level of middle management - who are doing nothing for their 
Wages” 
 
“Find additional savings within the Council bureaucracy” 
 
“Look at staffing to cut costs. Do we need as many councilors and their 
costs?” 

 
Service Investment 

 
“I would like to see the health and social care services increased as this 
has had a significant impact on our family and that of our community 
members. Delays in services has had a significant impact on our 
wellbeing.” 
 
“Roads must be a priority. Public transport is non existent or unusable in 
many areas. We must spend on our roads to encourage development 
and jobs. This means prioritising repairs urgently needed” 
 
“Prioritise health, safety and education” 

 
Income Generation/Suggestions 

 
“council are missing out on income on litter dropping /cigarettes butts 
especially”   
 
“parking permit wardens are non-existent in my area (Aberdare)  many 
illegal parking situations going un-fined.” 

Tudalen 72



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

25 
 

 
“Increase hire charges for council facilities”. 
 
“Looks good. One comment, why not use local community groups to help 
council operatives for some general purpose use. For example litter 
picking ,informing on general deuteriation in council areas, playing fields 
etc.” 

 
Savings/Efficiencies 

 
“…….RCT has a vast array of Solar panels that could feed directly into 
the grid to increase the funds entering the council” 
 
“I think the council need to look at the wastage in every department” 
 
“An easy way to save money is a strict work from home policy. This 
would massively reduce the cost of heating and electricity paid for by the 
council.” 
 
“Reduce the 2 day in office to 1 day.  This could potentially reduce 
heating costs and possible the closure and selling of buildings” 

 
About You 

 
4.40 The majority of respondents to the survey were residents (89.6%, or 403 

people). Respondents were asked to select all labels that applied to 
them: 21.1% (95) stated they were employees of the Council, 3.6% (16) 
were members of a voluntary or community group, 2.2% (10) were a 
local business and 1.3% (6) selected “Other”. 

 

 
 
Note: This was a multiple response question. 

Figure 7 – Respondent Type 
 
 

Respondent Type

other

a member of a voluntary/ community group

an employee of the Council

a local business

a local resident

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450

Respondent Type

Tudalen 73



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

26 
 

 
 
4.41 Under the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duties, the 

Council has a legal duty to look at how its decisions impact on people 
because they may have particular characteristics. Respondents were 
asked how the proposals affect them because of: 
1. Gender 
2. Age 
3. Ethnicity 
4. Disability 
5. Sexuality 
6. Religion / belief 
7. Gender identity 
8. Relationship status 
9. Pregnancy 
10. Preferred language  
 

4.42 The most frequent theme in the comments was age, with a number of 
respondents expressing concern over the cost of living.  Single-adult 
families facing rising costs were also mentioned in a number of 
comments. 
 
The following are a selection of the comments received; 

 
Age 
 
“Age : restricted income on a pension” 
 
“AGE More robust investment in social care as this are is suffering the 
most , patients not having care packages and needs assessment on 
discharge from hospital and having to rely on family to meet these 
needs .this is not acceptable and is putting pressure on families . 
without investment and recruitment this area will collapse and the aging 
population will suffer” 
 
“As I think about retirement I increasingly think about what I need as an 
older person and how the Council supports the community I live  in to 
meet my needs and ensure a happy, active and healthy old age, that 
does not require me to be stuck in the house 24/7. I want to be part of 
a community that has lots going on and activities I can enjoy.” 
 
“Age - Being a mum of a young family and a carer to disabled peoples, 
any increase causes concern for us when things feel tight as it is.” 

 
Disability 
 
“Those with a disability will be impacted.  People below the standard 
level of equality are always negatively impacted when money is taken 
out of the system” 

Tudalen 74



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

27 
 

 
Gender 
 
“Sex/gender - traditional females role as a caregiver (as well as 
working) means an increase in food expenditure for the children at 
school. This increased costs as well as the council tax would 
significantly impact us.” 

 
“as a mother of two children who has to work part time as I cannot 
afford childcare, a rise in council tax will crucify me.” 
 
General 
 
“Cost of living so it would affect every household” 
 

4.43 Under the Welsh Language Measure (2011) and the Welsh Language 
Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015, the Council has a legal duty to 
consider how its decisions impact upon the Welsh language.  
Respondents were asked how they felt the proposal could impact on 
opportunities for learners to use and promote the Welsh Language. 

 

  Number % 
Positively 33 8.1% 
Negatively 41 10.1% 
No impact 234 57.6% 
Don't know 98 24.1% 

How do you feel the proposal 
could impact on opportunities 
for learners to use and 
promote the Welsh 
Language? Total 406  

Figure 8 – Impact on Welsh Language learners 

Positively
 8.1%

Negatively
 10.1%

No impact
 57.6%

Don't know
24.1%

HOW DO YOU FEEL THE 
PROPOSAL COULD IMPACT ON 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR LEARNERS 
TO USE AND PROMOTE THE 

WELSH LANGUAGE?

Tudalen 75



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

28 
 

 

4.44 Respondents were asked how could positive effects be increased, or 
negative effects be decreased? 

The following are a selection of the comments received, the majority 
not directly related to the question, but comments around the costs of 
the Welsh language on the Council and potential savings. 
 
“Bills & telephone enquiries should be in English not Welsh. Everyone 
speaks & reads English!!” 
 
“Savings could be made by asking people their language preference 
and where paper correspondence is required…” 

 
“Get rid of funding spends on Welsh language, business will still done 
and money will be saved.” 
 
“I agree with providing opportunities for all those who wish to speak 
Welsh and learn Welsh, but stop wasting money making everything 
bilingual when you are conversing with someone who has enquired in 
English and is their chosen language.” 
 
“I think the Welsh language is the last thing you should be worrying 
about when people are struggling to heat their homes and put food on 
the table.” 
 
There were a number of positive responses; 
 
“More chances to learn the Welsh medium through official means. 
Possible discounts and promotions of Welsh learning services to dispel 
the harmful perception of the Welsh language being a 'dead 
language'.” 
 
“more Welsh language recruitment in as many areas as possible to 
help sustain the use of Welsh in the work place” 
 
“Starting Welsh teaching at a higher level in primary school”. 
 

4.45 Respondents were asked if the proposal, in any way, treated the Welsh 
Language less favourably than the English Language. 
 
 

Tudalen 76



Budget Consultation 2024-25 - Phase 2 
 

29 
 

 
  Number % 

Yes 30 7.4% 
No 268 65.8% 
Don't know 109 26.8% 

Does the proposal, in any 
way, treat the Welsh 
Language less favourably 
than the English language? Total 407  

Figure 9 – Welsh Language 
 
 
 

_________________________ 
 
 

Yes
 7.4%

No
 65.8%

Don't know
 26.8%

DOES THE PROPOSAL, IN ANY 
WAY, TREAT THE WELSH 

LANGUAGE LESS FAVOURABLY 
THAN THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE?

Tudalen 77



tudalen wag



APPENDIX 3 

 

PHASE 2 BUDGET CONSULTATION (2024/25)  

(EXTRACT OF DRAFT MINUTES – SUBJECT TO APPROVAL BY THE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE) 

 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNCIL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 2022-2027 COMMITTEE 
Minutes of the virtual meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 2022-2027 Committee held on 

Monday, 29 January 2024 at 5.00 pm 
 
 

County Borough Councillors – The following Overview and Scrutiny 2022-2027 
Committee Councillors were present online: 

 
Councillor J Edwards (Chair) 

 
Councillor B Stephens Councillor M Ashford 

Councillor R Bevan Councillor J Bonetto 
Councillor R Davis Councillor Sheryl Evans 

Councillor Sera Evans Councillor S Morgans 
Councillor G L Warren Councillor M Powell 
Councillor S Emanuel  

 
Co-Opted Members in attendance:- 

 
Mr M Veale 

 
 

Officers in attendance:- 
 

Mr P Mee, Chief Executive  
Mr P Griffiths, Service Director, Finance and Improvement Services  

Mr C Hanagan, Service Director Democratic Services and Communications 
Mrs S Daniel, Principal Democratic Services Officer  

Ms L Lawson, Performance Manager  
  
 

Apologies for absence 
 

Councillor K Morgan  
     Councillor C Middle 
 

   

Extract from the minutes 

Budget Consultation 2024-25 (Phase 2) 

 

 The Service Director Democratic Services and Communications presented the 
report to Members to be consulted on and for the Committee to formally respond 
to the second phase of the Council’s 2024-25 Budget Consultation.  

 

Tudalen 79



The Service Director advised that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
requested to pre-scrutinise the draft 2024/25 Revenue Budget Strategy, as part 
of the second phase of the 2024-25 Budget Consultation process.  

The Service Director Finance and Improvement Services then gave a presentation 
to Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and covered the following 
areas: Introduction – 2024/25 Draft Revenue Budget Strategy; The Council’s 
Current Financial Position (2023/24); Phase 1 Budget Consultation – Headlines; 
Provisional Local Government Settlement 2024/25 – Headlines/Implications for 
Rhondda Cynon Taf; Cabinet Proposed Budget Strategy 2024/25; and Next steps 
and key dates. 
  
A Member was pleased to see that 63% of respondents to the phase 1 budget 
consultation process fed back that the Council should continue with its strategy 
on reserves, recognising that reserves cannot be used every year without being 
replenished.  
  
A Member fed back that the number of responses to the first phase of the 
consultation seemed disproportionate in comparison to the number of people 
living in Rhondda Cynon Taf and asked if there was an opportunity to learn from 
this and use different engagement strategies.  
  
The Service Director Finance and Improvement Services indicated that the 
Council considers its arrangements on an ongoing basis to learn lessons, with a 
comprehensive approach to engagement in place that includes face-to-face 
events in town centre locations, engagement with third sector partners and 
schools, and also through the use of social media.  
  
A Member asked if the Council are doing enough to educate people on the work 
of the Council, so they can better understand its finances, how funds are spent 
and its different functions.    
  
The Service Director Finance and Improvement Services fed back that the Council 
aims to make available information to aid residents’ understanding of the Council’s 
finances and where it spends public money, and provided examples in the form of 
an easy read guide produced for budget consultation purposes; a leaflet included 
within Council Tax notices to residents that provides a breakdown on the Council’s 
budget and how it is spent and also how the Council is funded; and engaging 
directly with school-based learners through consultation processes.  The Service 
Director Democratic Services and Communications added that the number of 
consultees referenced in the presentation does not reflect on-going 
communication activity the Council undertakes via its social media channels and 
noted that a number of separate public consultation processes have also been 
undertaken in recent months linked to the budget setting process that have 
received high levels of engagement from the public.  
  
A Member asked if demographic information in relation to individuals responding 
to the budget consultation was available to analyse.  The Service Director Finance 
and Improvement Services fed back that this information is captured and can be 
used to inform on-going consultation arrangements.  
  
A Member of the Committee commented that whilst increasing Council Tax is 
never popular and is a decision that is not taken lightly, the Council also need to 

Tudalen 80



ensure the necessary funding is in place to provide a wide range of vital services 
to our residents.  
  

  

 

 

Tudalen 81



tudalen wag



 
 

APPENDIX 4  
SCHOOL BUDGET FORUM MEETING – 25TH JANUARY 2024  

 
 

THE COUNCIL’S DRAFT 2024/25 REVENUE BUDGET STRATEGY – PHASE 2 
CONSULTATION 

 
Extract from the minutes  

 
BUDGET CONSULTATION 2024/25 (PHASE 2) 

 
With the aid of a PowerPoint Presentation, the Service Director – Finance and 
Improvement Services provided Members with an update in respect of the Council’s 
Budget Consultation 2024/25 and covered the following areas: Introduction – 
2024/25 Draft Revenue Budget Strategy; The Council’s Current Financial Position 
(2023/24); Phase 1 Budget Consultation – Headlines; Provisional Local Government 
Settlement 2024/25 – Headlines/Implications for Rhondda Cynon Taf; Cabinet 
Proposed Budget Strategy 2024/25; and Next steps and key dates. 
  
Following the overview by the Service Director, Forum Members were informed that 
their feedback would be considered by Cabinet, alongside feedback received from all 
other stakeholders, as part of Cabinet meeting later in February 2024 to finalise its 
recommended Budget Strategy. As part of the overview, Forum Members were 
advised that the Leader of the Council, Councillor Morgan, has requested officers to 
explore additional one-off funding opportunities to be allocated to schools for the 
2024/25 financial year, this being over and above the proposed school funding set 
out in the draft 2024/25 Budget Strategy.  
  
Following this, Forum Members had the opportunity to ask questions. The Deputy 
Leader noted the difficulties presented by the on-going need to identify and deliver 
budget savings and emphasised that as a Council we are proud of our schools and 
will continue to provide support for education. The Deputy Leader also fed back that 
in the context of the very challenging financial outlook, the proposed Council Tax 
increase was fair; efficiency saving opportunities have once again been maximised 
and where service operational reconfigurations have been identified, these do not 
have a significant detrimental impact on frontline services; and the Council has a 
proven track record over many years of using its reserves sensibly to support the 
setting of balanced budgets. Forum Members did not feedback any further 
comments based on the position set out by the Council’s Deputy Leader.  
 
The Chair also fed back that at yesterday’s Cabinet meeting, additional 
recommendations were agreed to amend the ‘continuation of free breakfast club 
provision in primary and special schools with the introduction of a charge for the 
additional childcare element’ proposal  based on the public consultation feedback 
received, namely, to provide the additional option to access the provision for up to 3 
days per week at £40 per term and a further category of concession whereby 
parents/carers would only pay for the first two children of primary age, living in the 
same household, accessing the provision. It was emphasised that the Council would 

Tudalen 83



work in partnership with Schools as part of implementation arrangements, with the 
additional income generated ring-fenced and re-invested back into school budgets. 
In respect of the changes to Breakfast Club provision, a Forum Member noted that it 
will be a challenge logistically and raised concern around the possibility of increased 
workload for Headteachers. In respect of 2024/25 school budget information, the 
Forum Member queried when this would be communicated to schools. The Director 
of Education and Inclusion Services advised that in respect of free Breakfast Club 
and additional childcare provision, the team will make arrangements to progress 
implementation, subject to confirmation of the decision, and would include an on-line 
facility for parents / carers to make payments to ensure the process is as efficient as 
possible. In respect of school budget information, the Service Director – Finance & 
Improvement Services confirmed that information will be provided to schools as 
timely as possible, in line with agreed processes.  
  
Discussions continued and a Forum Member queried whether efficiency savings 
would be included within the school budget formula. The Forum Member also noted 
that Schools have utilised reserves as part of budget setting for a number of years 
and could now be facing a deficit. The Member further queried if clarification could 
be provided on the funding of redundancies. The Service Director – Finance and 
Improvement Services advised that in respect of efficiency savings, the Council will 
ensure transparency as part of the school budget formula, and in respect of funding 
of redundancies it was fed back that internal discussions are currently on-going.  
  
Discussions ensued and a Member queried if teacher salaries would be fully funded. 
The Service Director – Finance and Improvement Services confirmed this was the 
case. Another Forum Member queried the new grants system and the Service 
Director, Finance Services advised that families continue to be encouraged to apply 
for Free School Meal status to ensure they are eligible for Schools Essentials Grant. 
Discussion continued and a Forum Member emphasised that the issue with the grant 
is that it is dependent on parents applying. The Service Director advised that the 
team are currently working on a social media campaign to encourage parents to 
apply. The Chair acknowledged the concerns of Forum Members in respect of 
parents applying and advised that this has also been raised directly with the Welsh 
Government.  
  
The Service Director – Finance Services added that in respect of the grant that 
replaces EIG, Welsh Government has committed to providing allocations by next 
week, with the requirement for the information to then be validated by local authority 
officers before distributing to schools. 
 
Following discussion, the Service Director– Finance and Improvement Services 
thanked Forum Members for their time and feedback and advised on next steps and 
key dates.  
  

 
 
The meeting closed at 3.09 pm.                                      Councillor R Lewis, Chair    

Tudalen 84



 

 

APPENDIX 5 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNCIL JOINT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 
Minutes of the virtual meeting of the Joint Consultative Committee meeting held on Monday, 5 

February 2024 at 12.00 pm (draft, subject to approval) 
 
 

County Borough Councillors - Joint Consultative Committee Members in attendance:- 
Councillor M Webber (Chair) 

Councillor A Morgan 
Councillor A Crimmings 

Trade Union Members in Attendance 
Mr P Crews (Unison) 

Mr C Jones(GMB) 
Ms L Davies (Unite) 

Mr A McCarthy (Unite) 
 

Officers in attendance 
 

Mr R Evans, Director of Human Resources 
Mr P Griffiths, Service Director – Finance & Improvement Services 

 
  

7   DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 

 

 In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, there were no declarations of 
interest pertaining to the agenda. 
 

 

 
8   APOLOGY  

 
 

 An apology for absence was received from County Borough Councillor G Caple. 
 

 
 
9   MINUTES  

 
 

 RESOLVED to approve the minutes of the 20th December 2023 as an accurate 
reflection of the meeting. 
 

 

 
10   BUDGET CONSULTATION 2024/25 (PHASE 2)  

 
 

 The Service Director Finance and Improvement Services presented the 
report to Members which provided the Committee the opportunity to 
formally respond to the second phase of the Council’s 2024-25 Budget 
Consultation.  
 
The Service Director Finance and Improvement Services then gave a 
presentation to Members of the Committee and covered the following 
areas: Introduction – 2024/25 Draft Revenue Budget Strategy; The 
Council’s Current Financial Position (2023/24); Phase 1 Budget 
Consultation – Headlines; and Provisional Local Government Settlement 
2024/25 – Headlines/Implications for Rhondda Cynon Taf.   

 

Tudalen 85



 

  
Before continuing to cover the remaining element of the presentation in 
respect of the Cabinet Proposed Budget Strategy 2024/25 and Next steps 
and key dates, the Chair fed back the implications of needing to deliver 
significant budget savings year-on-year and the very difficult financial 
outlook all local authorities across Wales are facing.   The Chair noted 
that 75.6% of respondents to the phase 1 consultation fed back that a 
reasonable increase in Council Tax to contribute to closing the budget 
gap was preferable.  
  
The Leader of the Council, Councillor A Morgan, commented on the 
Council’s proposed Council Tax level that is being consulted upon, 
advising that the proposed 4.9% was at the lower end of the spectrum in 
comparison to council tax levels being proposed by other Welsh Local 
Authorities.  Councillor Morgan also commented on the importance of 
setting a Council Tax level that took into account residents’ ability to pay 
and recognising that income from council tax is an important funding 
source to the Council to support service delivery.  
  
Councillor Morgan continued by referencing the significant level of 
efficiency savings that have once again been identified and built into the 
proposed budget strategy alongside a much smaller level of service 
changes that are deemed necessary due to funding levels being well 
below that needed to address budget pressures facing the Council. 
Councillor Morgan added that should the local authority funding position 
improve in the medium to long term, opportunity is available for service 
changes that will be implemented in 2024/25 to be revisited.  
  
The Service Director continued the presentation by outlining the detail of 
Cabinet’s proposed Budget Strategy and welcomed feedback and 
comments from members of the Committee.   
  
The importance of communication was highlighted, with Members 
commenting on the usefulness of the information within Council Tax 
notices, explaining how Council Tax income is utilised, and it was agreed 
that this information would be shared, when available, with Trade Union 
colleagues. 
  
The Chair provided comment on a number of areas proposed within the 
budget strategy and specifically referenced the Council’s on-going 
commitment to its successful Apprenticeship and Graduate schemes, with 
posts being funded by individual service areas, and the introduction of a 
booking fee in respect of the Lido Pontypridd, noting the rationale for the 
proposed fee and that prices would remain competitive for users.  
  
  
Mr P Crews (Unison) commented on the reduction in the Social Care 
Workforce Grant announced by Welsh Government, indicating the need 
to inform Welsh Government of the impact the reduction in funding would 
have on the Council.  In addition, clarity was requested on the future 

Tudalen 86



 

funding arrangements for the Graduate and Apprenticeship schemes, 
referring to this being met by individual service areas, and what 
monitoring would be in place to ensure the continued success and 
momentum of these schemes. 
  
Councillor Morgan fed back that monitoring arrangements for both 
schemes are in place via the Senior Leadership Team, with updates 
provided to himself and the Deputy Leader for consideration. Councillor 
Morgan also highlighted the on-going importance of the Council ‘growing 
its own talent’ through these schemes, with the Council committed to 
ensuring resources continue to be in place to support these areas.  
  
The Service Director also provided assurance that on-going work takes 
place with services as part of workforce planning arrangements, to 
identify the business need for graduate and apprentices, with budget 
management processes ensuring the necessary funding is in place.  
  
In respect of the Social Care Workforce Grant it was confirmed that the 
overall savings built into the draft budget strategy, alongside the use of 
transition funding, takes account of the reduced level of grant. The 
Service Director also indicated that as part of on-going engagement with 
Welsh Government, the impact of the reduction in grant has been fed 
back.  
  
Mr C Jones (GMB) welcomed the update regarding the apprenticeship 
and graduate schemes and went on to highlight concerns in respect of the 
proposed uplift to car parking charges and the potential financial hardship 
this would place on some staff. Councillor Morgan noted the availability of 
season parking tickets, with the price proposed to be frozen for 2024/25, 
and indicated that if there are specific cases to be looked into further, for 
these to be fed back.  
  
Mr Jones also took the opportunity to note the Day Centre proposals and 
spoke of concerns of the impact on the most vulnerable residents in the 
County Borough. 
  
Ms L Davies (Unite) focussed on the proposed charge for Meals on 
Wheels and referenced whether there had been a decline in the service 
following the previous service change introduced. Ms Davies noted the 
vulnerability of service users and the financial and social impact the 
proposed increase may have on them. The Deputy Leader reiterated the 
importance of the service, noted that rising food costs was the reason for 
the proposed meal price increase and commented on the quality meals 
that were available as part of the service.  
  
The Service Director noted the important service the Meals on Wheels 
Service provides and its links to social care services within the Council. 
The Service Director went on to note that the Council continues to 
subsidise the service, with the meal price to customers at the lower end of 
the spectrum compared to neighbouring local authorities. The Service 

Tudalen 87



 

Director added that further information will be requested in respect of 
current service take-up.  
  
Mr McCarthy (Unite) requested further information in respect of Council 
investment to develop a solar farm and the associated generation and 
sale of energy.  The Service Director fed back that an agreement is in 
place with Royal Glamorgan Hospital, with the Council responsible for 
funding the project and owning the asset, with income to be generated 
from 2024/25. The Service Director added that specific information in 
respect of the arrangement is commercially sensitive and would enquire 
whether further detail could be provided. 
  
  
Members of the Trade Unions highlighted the importance of good 
communication links between the Council and Trade Unions, and the 
need for on-going communication on budget savings and their 
implementation, if agreed by the Council.  The Director of Human 
Resources fed back that arrangements are in place to ensure open 
dialogue continues to take place.  
  
Mr McCarthy posed the question to the Committee in respect of the 
ethical treatment of agency labour and the Director of Human Resources 
commented upon the discussions that have taken place in this regard and 
the phased approach being progressed. 
  
The Chair thanked all Members for their contributions to the meeting and 
following discussions it was RESOLVED: 
  

1.   To provide feedback on the draft 2024/25 Revenue Budget 
Strategy as part of phase 2 of the Council’s 2024-25 Budget 
Consultation 

  
  

 
 

This meeting closed at 1.30 pm M Webber 
Chairman. 

 

Tudalen 88



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 

6th MARCH 2024  
 

COUNCIL TAX RESOLUTION FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31st MARCH 2025 
 

 
REPORT OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND GROUP DIRECTOR – FINANCE, 
DIGITAL AND FRONTLINE SERVICES  
 
Author: Mr. Barrie Davies (Tel No. 01443 424026)  

 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report provides Members with details of the calculation of the Authority’s Council 

Tax for the financial year ending 31st March 2025 in order to pass the necessary 
statutory resolutions.  

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that Members: 
 

i) Note the level of the precept from the Police & Crime Commissioner for 
South Wales; 

 
ii) Note the level of the Community / Town Council Precepts, as detailed in 

Appendix 1; 
 
iii) Pass the formal Council Tax resolutions for the financial year ending 31st 

March 2025, as contained in Appendix 2; and 
 

iv) Note my comments upon robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of 
the proposed financial reserves as detailed at paragraph 9.2.  

 
3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 At the Cabinet meeting held on 20th November 2023, Members confirmed the 

Council Tax Base for 2024/25 as £79,696.89. This means that each £1 of Council 
Tax levied on dwellings within the County Borough in 2024/25 would yield an 
estimated Council Tax income to the Authority of £79,697.  

 
3.2 Earlier in today’s meeting Council was asked to agree the total budget for the 

financial year ending 31st March 2025, at £631.795M (net), the result of that earlier 
decision will be reported by the Council’s Section 151 Officer. 

Tudalen 89

Agendwm 7



 
4.0 NON-DOMESTIC RATES 
 
4.1 On 22nd February 2024, Welsh Government provided notification of the Non-

Domestic Rate multiplier (rate in the pound) for 2024/25 at 56.2p. The multiplier rate 
is normally updated based on the annual percentage change in the CPI (Consumer 
Price Index) but for the forthcoming financial year Welsh Government have 
determined to “cap” the increase in the rate of the multiplier at 5%, which is lower 
than the 6.7% increase that would otherwise apply.   

 
5.0 GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
 
5.1  The Council will receive the following non-hypothecated grants from the Welsh 

Government in 2024/25: 
 

Table 1 
 

Type of Grant £M 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 399.589 
Redistributed Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) 85.978 
Total 485.567 

 
6.0 POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR SOUTH WALES - PRECEPT 
 
6.1  The Police & Crime Commissioner for South Wales notified the Council on 7th 

February 2024 that the precept for the financial year ending 31st March 2025 will rise 
by 11.1% to £28,106,702 which equates to a Council Tax on a Band D property of 
£352.67, an increase of 8.69%. 

 
7.0 COMMUNITY / TOWN COUNCIL PRECEPTS 
 
7.1 Appendix 1 provides details of the precepts levied by the twelve Community / Town 

Councils within the Rhondda Cynon Taf area.  The precepts for the services 
rendered by the Community / Town Councils are also expressed as Band D 
equivalents. 

 
8.0 COUNCIL TAX LEVELS FOR 2024/25 
 
8.1 The net amount that the Council needs to raise from local Council Taxpayers is 

shown in Table 2 below:  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 90



 
Table 2 

 
2024/25 Net Budget Requirement  

  
 Budget Band D 

Equivalent 
 £M £. p 
2024/25 Net Revenue Spending 631.795  
Less: Revenue Support Grant 399.589  
Less: Non Domestic Rate Grant 85.978  
Less: Social Care Workforce Grant  3.668  
Sub-Total 142.560  
Less: Release of Earmarked Reserves 7.502  
   
Council’s Requirement from Taxpayers 135.058 1,694.65 
Add: Police & Crime Commissioner for South 
Wales Precept 

28.107 352.67 

2024/25 Council Tax 163.165 2,047.32  
 
8.2 If agreed at the Council meeting earlier today, the County Borough Council’s 

revenue budget for the financial year ending 31st March 2025 will result in a Council 
Tax increase of 4.99% (excluding Community / Town Council precepts). 

 
8.3 However, the 8.69% Band D increase agreed by the Police & Crime Commissioner 

for South Wales will have the effect of raising the composite Band D Council Tax by 
5.61% (excluding Community / Town Council precepts). 

 
8.4      The figures in Table 2 above exclude Community / Town Council Precepts. Those 

taxpayers living in areas where a Community / Town Council Precept is payable will, 
therefore, have to pay an additional amount.  The Band D figures for Community / 
Town Councils are shown in Appendix 1. 

 
9.0 ROBUSTNESS OF ESTIMATES AND ADEQUACY OF RESERVES HELD 
 
9.1     Under the Local Government Act 2003 (Commencement) (Wales) Order 2003, as 

Responsible Finance Officer (per Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972), I 
have a duty to report to the Council on:  

(a) The robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the calculations; 
and  

(b) The adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. 
 

  

Tudalen 91



9.2    My view upon the above matters is: 
 
(a) Robustness of Estimates 
 
I am satisfied that the detailed calculations which underpin the agreed budget have 
been undertaken in a consistent and robust manner and reflect actual budgetary 
requirements across the Council at this point in time.  As part of the budget 
process, efficiency savings and other budget reduction measures have been 
identified which, along with other components of the budget strategy have allowed 
us to match service requirements against available resources.  I am satisfied that 
the overall budget reduction measures which are built into the Council’s 2024/25 
budget are suitably robust. 
 
Our budget requirements are modelled on a best estimate of demand across our 
services; we will continue to closely monitor spend against our budget in the 
knowledge that there may be volatility in demand and spend (for example in social 
care).  
 
The Council also continues to monitor the financial implications of the cost of living 
crisis and the impact of significant inflationary pressures on Council services and 
contractors. There will be a need to continue to use flexibility afforded within 
available reserves to transition any permanent additional costs into the base 
budget over the medium term. 
 
(b) Adequacy of Financial Reserves 

 
It remains my view that the Council should maintain a minimum level of General 
Fund Balances of £10M. I consider this necessary given the continuing financial 
pressures the Council is working under and the overall quantum of our budget (for 
2024/25 set at £631.795M net). Whilst this reflects the view we have held for some 
years, this minimum level is set in the context of the need for continued strong 
financial management that is felt to be essential to ensure that the Council 
maintains financial flexibility and stability going forward.  
 
The figure is, of necessity, not based upon any defined formula, but is a judgement 
by myself, as the Responsible Finance Officer.  
 
At the 31st March 2023, the level of General Fund Balances stood at £10.240M. 
Whilst the current financial year (2023/24) is extremely challenging, I am satisfied 
that plans are in place to manage the implications without adversely impacting on 
the level of General Fund Balances.   
 

  

Tudalen 92



10.0  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY AND SOCIO-ECONOMIC DUTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Due regard has been given to the Council’s public sector equality duties under the 

Equality Act 2010, namely the Public Sector Equality Duty and Socio-Economic 
Duty. 

 
10.2 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and concluded that the 

recommendations set out in the report are in line with the above legislation. 
 
11.0 WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The allocation of resources, as set out in the 2024/25 Revenue Budget Strategy, is 

based on supporting the Council’s service delivery requirements and associated 
statutory responsibilities for the forthcoming year. In doing so, the Strategy (that 
includes the required funding to be raised from local Council Tax payers) is in line 
with the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011. 

 
12.0  CONSULTATION  
 
12.1  Consultation on the level of Council Tax for the forthcoming year has been 

undertaken as part of the Council’s 2024/25 Budget Strategy Consultation process.  
 
13.0  FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)  
 
13.1  The financial implications of the recommendations are set out in the main body of 

the report.  
 
14.0  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 
 
14.1  The Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires each local authority to calculate 

its budget requirement for each financial year and the authority’s council tax must 
be set to take into account the budget requirement. This report ensures compliance 
with the legal duty in respect of council tax setting.  

 
15.0 LINKS TO CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE WELL-BEING 

OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT  
 
15.1   The recommended budget and council tax level for 2024/25 have been formulated 

to support the delivery of the Council’s strategic priorities, as set out within the 
Corporate Plan, these being aligned to the goals and principles included within the 
Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act.  

 
16.0 CONCLUSION  
 
16.1 Should the Council agree the net revenue budget at £631.795M for 2024/25, it is 

now in a position to pass the formal resolution required by statute to set the 
respective levels of its Council Tax for the financial year ending 31st March 2025. 

Tudalen 93



Appendix 1 
 

Community / Town Council Precepts - 2024/25 
 

  

Community Area 2024/25 
Precept Band D 

Precept 
Variance to 

Previous 
Year 

Gilfach Goch £87,511.00 £85.35 -48.7% 
Hirwaun £92,109.57 £54.63 5.0% 
Llanharan £271,893.53 £79.17 3.8% 
Llanharry £128,322.81 £79.18 14.0% 
Llantrisant £311,199.00 £57.50 5.4% 
Llantwit Fardre £349,904.00 £52.78 6.8% 
Pontyclun £235,970.00 £67.57 15.0% 
Pontypridd £837,969.68 £77.81 6.0% 
Rhigos £17,000.00 £59.58 0.0% 
Taffs Well £41,153.00 £28.42 8.2% 
Tonyrefail £317,000.00 £75.74 29.6% 
Ynysybwl & Coed-y-Cwm £80,000.00 £55.67 40.4% 
Total £2,770,032.59     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

T
udalen 94



Appendix 2 
 

It is recommended that Members:  
 
1. Confirm, in accordance with Regulation 3 of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (Wales) Regulations 

1995 (as amended) made under Section 33(5) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended), the following 
amounts for the year 2024/25:  

 
(a) £79,696.89 being the amount calculated by the Council as the Council Tax Base for the year; 
 
(b) Parts of the Council’s area     

 

Community Area 2024/25               
Tax Base 

Gilfach Goch £1,025.34 
Hirwaun £1,686.02 
Llanharan £3,434.30 
Llanharry £1,620.70 
Llantrisant £5,412.15 
Llantwit Fardre £6,629.18 

Pontyclun £3,492.35 
Pontypridd £10,769.34 
Rhigos £285.34 
Taffs Well £1,448.05 
Tonyrefail £4,185.24 
Ynysybwl & Coed-y-Cwm £1,436.96 

              
 

being the amounts calculated by the Council in accordance with Regulation 6 of the Regulations, as the amounts of its 
Council Tax Base for the year for dwellings in those parts of the area to which special items relate; 

T
udalen 95



 
Appendix 2 

 
2. Agree that the following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year 2024/25 in accordance with Section 32 

to 36 of the Local Government and Finance Act, 1992: 
 

(a) £862,786,805.87 ~ being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in Section 
32(2)(a) to (d) of the Act;  

 
(b) £239,816,606.28 ~ being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in Section 

32(3)(a) to (c) of the Act;  
 
(c) £622,970,199.59 ~ being the amount by which the aggregate at 2(a) above exceeds the aggregate at 2(b) above, 

calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 32(4) of the Act, as its budget requirement for the year;  
 
(d) £485,141,833.00 ~ being the aggregate of the sums which the Council estimates will be payable for the year into 

its General Fund in respect of Revenue Support Grant and redistributed Non-Domestic Rates (less discretionary 
Non-Domestic Rate relief);  

 
(e) £1,729.41 ~ being the amount at 2(c) above less the amount at 2(d) above, all divided by amount at 1(a) above 

calculated by the Council in accordance with Section 33(1) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for 
the year;  

 
(f) £2,770,032.59 ~ being the aggregate amount of all special items referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act;  
 
(g) £1,694.65 ~ being the amount at 2(e) above less the result given by dividing the amount at 2(f) above by the 

amount at 1(a) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount 
of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which no special item relates;  

 
 

 

T
udalen 96



Appendix 2 
 

(h) Parts of the Council’s Area: 
 

being the amounts given by adding to the amount at 2(g) above, the amounts of the special item or items relating to 
dwellings in those parts of the Council’s area mentioned above divided in each case by the amount at 1(b) above, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the basic amounts of its council tax for the 
year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or more special items relate; 

 
 

Community Area Band 
D 

Gilfach Goch £85.35 
Hirwaun £54.63 
Llanharan £79.17 
Llanharry £79.18 
Llantrisant £57.50 
Llantwit Fardre £52.78 
Pontyclun £67.57 
Pontypridd £77.81 
Rhigos £59.58 
Taffs Well £28.42 
Tonyrefail £75.74 
Ynysybwl & Coed-y-Cwm £55.67 

 
 
 
 
 
 

T
udalen 97



Appendix 2 
(i) Parts of the Council’s Area  

 

Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H Band I Local Precepting Authority 
(£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) 

Gilfach Goch 1,186.67 1,384.44 1,582.23 1,780.00 2,175.56 2,571.11 2,966.67 3,560.00 4,153.33 
Hirwaun 1,166.19 1,360.55 1,554.92 1,749.28 2,138.01 2,526.74 2,915.47 3,498.56 4,081.65 
Llanharan 1,182.55 1,379.64 1,576.73 1,773.82 2,168.00 2,562.19 2,956.37 3,547.64 4,138.91 
Llanharry 1,182.56 1,379.64 1,576.74 1,773.83 2,168.02 2,562.20 2,956.39 3,547.66 4,138.93 
Llantrisant 1,168.10 1,362.78 1,557.47 1,752.15 2,141.52 2,530.89 2,920.25 3,504.30 4,088.35 
Llantwit Fardre 1,164.96 1,359.11 1,553.28 1,747.43 2,135.75 2,524.07 2,912.39 3,494.86 4,077.33 
Pontyclun 1,174.82 1,370.61 1,566.42 1,762.22 2,153.83 2,545.43 2,937.04 3,524.44 4,111.84 
Pontypridd 1,181.64 1,378.58 1,575.52 1,772.46 2,166.34 2,560.22 2,954.10 3,544.92 4,135.74 
Rhigos 1,169.49 1,364.40 1,559.32 1,754.23 2,144.06 2,533.89 2,923.72 3,508.46 4,093.20 
Taffs Well 1,148.72 1,340.16 1,531.62 1,723.07 2,105.98 2,488.88 2,871.79 3,446.14 4,020.49 
Tonyrefail 1,180.26 1,376.97 1,573.68 1,770.39 2,163.81 2,557.23 2,950.65 3,540.78 4,130.91 
Ynysybwl & Coed-y-Cwm 1,166.88 1,361.36 1,555.84 1,750.32 2,139.28 2,528.24 2,917.20 3,500.64 4,084.08 
All Other Parts of Rhondda Cynon Taf 1,129.77 1,318.06 1,506.36 1,694.65 2,071.24 2,447.83 2,824.42 3,389.30 3,954.18 

 
being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 2(g) and 2(h) above by the number which, in the proportion set out in 
Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that 
proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation Band D, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of 
the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different valuation 
bands, as set out below: 

 
 

  

T
udalen 98



Appendix 2 
 

3. Note that for the year 2024/25, the Police & Crime Commissioner for South Wales has stated the following amounts in precepts 
issued to the Council, in accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Act 1992, for each of the categories of dwellings 
shown below:  
 

Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H Band I Major Precepting Authority 
(£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) 

Police & Crime Commissioner for South Wales 235.11 274.30 313.48 352.67 431.04 509.41 587.78 705.34 822.90 
 
 

4. Agree that having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 2(i) and 3 above, the Council, in accordance with 
Section 30(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the following amounts as the amounts of Council Tax for 
the year 2024/25 for each of the categories of dwellings shown below:  

  
Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H Band I Total Council Tax Demand 

(£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) (£.p) 
Gilfach Goch 1,421.78 1,658.74 1,895.71 2,132.67 2,606.60 3,080.52 3,554.45 4,265.34 4,976.23 
Hirwaun 1,401.30 1,634.85 1,868.40 2,101.95 2,569.05 3,036.15 3,503.25 4,203.90 4,904.55 
Llanharan 1,417.66 1,653.94 1,890.21 2,126.49 2,599.04 3,071.60 3,544.15 4,252.98 4,961.81 
Llanharry 1,417.67 1,653.94 1,890.22 2,126.50 2,599.06 3,071.61 3,544.17 4,253.00 4,961.83 
Llantrisant 1,403.21 1,637.08 1,870.95 2,104.82 2,572.56 3,040.30 3,508.03 4,209.64 4,911.25 
Llantwit Fardre 1,400.07 1,633.41 1,866.76 2,100.10 2,566.79 3,033.48 3,500.17 4,200.20 4,900.23 
Pontyclun 1,409.93 1,644.91 1,879.90 2,114.89 2,584.87 3,054.84 3,524.82 4,229.78 4,934.74 
Pontypridd 1,416.75 1,652.88 1,889.00 2,125.13 2,597.38 3,069.63 3,541.88 4,250.26 4,958.64 
Rhigos 1,404.60 1,638.70 1,872.80 2,106.90 2,575.10 3,043.30 3,511.50 4,213.80 4,916.10 
Taffs Well 1,383.83 1,614.46 1,845.10 2,075.74 2,537.02 2,998.29 3,459.57 4,151.48 4,843.39 
Tonyrefail 1,415.37 1,651.27 1,887.16 2,123.06 2,594.85 3,066.64 3,538.43 4,246.12 4,953.81 
Ynysybwl & Coed-y-Cwm 1,401.99 1,635.66 1,869.32 2,102.99 2,570.32 3,037.65 3,504.98 4,205.98 4,906.98 
All Other Parts of Rhondda 
Cynon Taf 1,364.88 1,592.36 1,819.84 2,047.32 2,502.28 2,957.24 3,412.20 4,094.64 4,777.08 

 

T
udalen 99



tudalen w
ag



 

 
 
 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023-2024 
 

COUNCIL 
 

6th MARCH 2024 
 

 THE COUNCIL’S THREE YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2024/25 – 2026/27  
 
 
REPORT OF THE CABINET 
 
AUTHOR: BARRIE DAVIES, DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE & GROUP DIRECTOR – 
FINANCE, DIGITAL & FRONTLINE SERVICES (01443) 424026 
 
   
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT  

 
1.1 This report sets out the Council's proposed Capital Programme for 2024/25 to 

2026/27, following receipt of the final local government settlement for 2024/25. 
  
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that Members: 
 

2.1 Note the detail of the final 2024/25 local government settlement for capital 
expenditure, reproduced at Appendix 1; 
 

2.2 Agree to the proposed reallocation of existing resources, and allocation of new 
resources as detailed in paragraph 5; 
 

2.3 Agree to allocate the funding identified in the report to the investment priorities as 
detailed in paragraph 6.2; 
 

2.4 Agree the proposed ‘core’ three year programme detailed at Appendix 2; 
 

2.5 Agree the proposed total three-year Capital Programme, detailed at Appendices 3 
(a) to (e), which includes the following non core capital funding: 
 
• Prudential borrowing to support Sustainable Communities for Learning 

Schemes (formerly 21st Century Schools); 
• Capital grants for specific schemes; 
• Third party contributions; and 
• The investment priorities detailed in paragraph 6.2. 

 
 

Tudalen 101

Agendwm 8



3.0 BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 Members will be aware that each year the Council is allocated a sum of 
unhypothocated “Supported” borrowing and General Capital Grant from the Welsh 
Government (WG). Details of the final allocation for 2024/25 are shown at Appendix 
1.  The funding for 2024/25 has decreased by £0.058M and totals £13.828M. 
 

3.2 WG’s final budget maintains General Capital Funding at £180M (all Wales) for 
2024/25, with a further £20M (all Wales) in respect of decarbonisation.  It is 
proposed that any additional resources are considered as part of future Investment 
Priority reviews outside of our Core Programme.  
 

3.3 Members have continued to receive regular updates on the projections of the 
Council’s revenue budget position to 2026/27. The Revenue Budget Strategy for 
2024/25 includes a proposal to capitalise expenditure which is currently funded 
from our revenue budgets which in line with accounting rules, is actually capital in 
nature.   
 

3.4 These expenditure items relate to IT software licence costs totalling £0.500M which 
is now proposed to be included in our core programme allocations.  The allocations 
are shown at Appendix 2 which proposes a core programme totalling £14.180M. 

 
3.5 To set the core programme at this level, and in light of latest capital receipt forecasts 

and use of capital reserves, would leave a remaining balance of £2.148M (for 
2024/25) of WG General Capital Funding which can be used to contribute toward 
funding Investment Priorities over and above the core programme as set out at 
paragraph 6.2. 
 

3.6  The wider overall capital programme however includes approved prudential 
borrowing, specific grants and agreed additional investment in our key priorities. 

 
 
4.0 THE NEW THREE YEAR PROGRAMME (2024/25 TO 2026/27) 

 
4.1 The proposed new 3 year capital programme for 2024/25 to 2026/27 represents a 

total investment of £165.630M.  This comprises: 
 
• A Core programme of £42.540M over the next 3 years;  
• Prudential borrowing of £13.138M to support the Sustainable Communities for 

Learning Programme; 
• Specific grants of £42.968M; 
• Third party contributions of £0.015M; 
• Earmarked reserves and revenue contributions previously allocated to schemes 

and investment priorities of £33.588M; 
• Capital resources, in addition to the 3 year core allocation, of £14.114M; and 
• If agreed, allocated earmarked reserves of £15.035M, reallocated earmarked 

reserves of £2.084M and reallocated core funding of £2.148M, to fund the 
proposed investment priorities detailed in paragraph 6.2. 

 
4.2 Having due regard to the level of available capital resources, both from WG and 

from our own capital receipts, the new core programme for 2024/25 to 2026/27 is 

Tudalen 102



set at £14.180M per year.  This represents a fully funded £42.540M core 
programme across the 3 years. 
 

4.3 There remains a risk that the projected capital receipts are less than anticipated 
and projections will continue to be closely monitored.  
 

4.4 Whilst allocating core resources for three years, there remains the requirement for 
us to continue to review and challenge any commitments made into years two and 
three, to robustly monitor capital receipt projections and to position ourselves to 
respond as appropriate and necessary as we move forward.  
 

4.5 Given the timing of external funding approval processes, it will be necessary to 
maintain flexibility of funding across individual schemes in order to ensure the most 
efficient delivery of the overall programme. 
 

4.6 Details of the overall capital programme for the 3 year period are set out in Section 
7 of this report. 

 
 
5.0 FURTHER AVAILABLE FUNDING  

 
5.1 The Council has maintained an Investment/Infrastructure reserve for a number of 

years to fund the cost of maintaining and enhancing infrastructure across the 
County Borough. The balance of this reserve at 31st March 2023 was £24.950M, 
against which £7.730M has already been released, leaving £17.220M available to 
fund further investment priorities. 
 

5.2 An Invest to Save reserve has also been maintained to fund opportunities as and 
when they arise, including investment in carbon reduction and renewable energy 
projects which results in a reduction in energy costs and/or additional income for 
the Council.  The balance of this reserve at 31st March 2023 was £6.887M, of which 
£4.021M has been committed to projects leaving £2.866M available to fund further 
Invest to Save opportunities.   
 

5.3 Our capital expenditure and commitments are closely monitored across the 3 year 
period of the programme and it is not unusual for spend to slip into future years and 
present opportunities for the reallocation of resources. In this regard an amount of 
£2.084M has been identified which can be reprioritised without adversely impacting 
on wider programme delivery and whilst maintaining the new core programme. 
 

5.4 The total additional available funding, as outlined above (and paragraph 3.5) is 
£24.318M 
 
 

6.0 INVESTMENT PRIORITIES 
 
6.1 The Cabinet believe that the most appropriate use of these one off resources is to 

continue to invest in our infrastructure and to support the aspirations and priorities 
of the Corporate Plan. 

 
6.2 In being able to support the above objectives, Cabinet have identified the following 

specific areas which it is proposed that Council agree to be invested in:  

Tudalen 103



 
Investment Priority £M 
Highways Maintenance  5.050 
Unadopted Roads 0.200 
Highways Structures 1.000 
Rhigos Mountain Road Rock Netting 1.404 
Flood Alleviation  1.000 
Streetcare Bins (revenue allocation) 0.025 
Parks Structures 0.250 
Parks & Green Spaces 1.395 
Country Parks Investment 0.305 
Play Areas 0.350 
Multi Use Games Areas (MUGAs) 0.225 
Coed Ely Solar Farm 7.388 
Hawthorn Hockey Pitch 0.350 
Leisure Fitness Equipment 0.350 
Total Council Investment 19.292 

 
6.3 The above investment priorities can be funded from the resources identified at 

paragraph 5.4, with the remaining resource amounting to £5.026M being retained 
in our Investment/Infrastructure reserve to fund future priorities. 
 

6.4 Further details on these investments are included in section 7. 
 
 

7.0 THE THREE YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2024/25 – 2026/27 
 

7.1 The details of the 3 year proposed programme for each Service Group are provided      
below. 

 
 
          CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S GROUP 

 
7.2 The latest projections show expected full year capital spend of £28.498M for the 

Chief Executive’s Group in 2023/24. 
 
CORPORATE ESTATES 
 

7.3 The total resources for 2024/25, as outlined in the proposed three-year Capital 
Programme is £8.829M. 
 

7.4 As identified in 6.2 additional investment has been provided in Corporate Estates 
in the following areas: 
 
• Coed Ely Solar Farm – £7.388M (including £2.866M from the Invest to Save 

reserve referenced in paragraph 5.2).  The Council is progressing the 
development of a 6-megawatt solar farm on the former Coed Ely colliery site, 
which is owned by the Council.  The renewable (green) energy produced will be 
for the benefit of the public sector and enable an offset of over 1,100 tonnes of 

Tudalen 104



carbon per year, and around 47,000 tonnes over the expected 40 year lifecycle. 
 

7.5 As part of the Council’s on-going programme to ensure high standards of health 
and safety and operational efficiency within its premises, appropriate resources 
continue to be allocated to our operational accommodation, the management and 
remediation of Asbestos and Legionella and resources for energy efficiency/carbon 
reduction measures across our property estate.  We await details of the £20M 
allocated by WG for decarbonisation. 
 
PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
Regeneration 
 

7.6 A budget of £15.875M for 2024/25 has been allocated to support the next phase of 
Regeneration.  
 

7.7 The Council’s Capital Programme continues to provide a long-term funding 
commitment to the economic regeneration of the County Borough in line with its 
Corporate Plan.  

 
7.8 In addition to the above, sustained investment has been maintained across a range 

of funding streams, supported by external funding and resources prioritised toward 
the Corporate Plan Investment Priorities. This has enabled a wide range of 
regeneration activity to be delivered to benefit the local economy. 

 
7.9 The Council will continue to work with partners to develop and progress exciting 

and innovative schemes such as: 
• The redevelopment of key sites in the Southern Gateway Quarter in Pontypridd 

town centre including the former Bingo Hall site and former M&S, Burton and 
Dorothy Perkins site; 

• Townscape Enhancements across our key town centres – a targeted approach 
to acquiring, redeveloping and upgrading town centre buildings for increased 
business and commercial use and continuing to improve the quality of the 
townscape providing business investment and employment growth.  This will be 
supported by the development and delivery of strategies and placemaking plans 
for our key town centres; 

• The former Rates Building redevelopment and plans to redevelop the Rock 
Grounds Buildings are being brought forward as part of the Aberdare Town 
Centre Strategy; and 

• Sources of investment post EU funds are being accessed to bring forward 
projects such as the UK Government Levelling Up Fund where successful bids 
have been made for the Muni Arts Centre Redevelopment, Porth Transport Hub 
and A4119 Dualling projects and also the UK Government Shared Prosperity 
Fund (SPF) where delivering the RCT SPF Local Investment Plan is a key 
priority. 
 

7.10 The programme of regeneration projects will add value to the significant 
regeneration investment that has already taken place and will act as a catalyst for 
the development and delivery of further regeneration activity.  

 
 
Cardiff Capital Region City Deal  

Tudalen 105



 
7.11 A budget of £1M per year is allocated toward the Council’s commitment to the 

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Wider Investment Fund.  
 
Planning and Countryside  
 

7.12 A budget for 2024/25 of £0.943M has been allocated to the Planning and 
Countryside programme, this will enable the Council to continue to develop and 
progress schemes which improve the countryside.  Supported by external funding, 
the Council will continue working on schemes which improve access to and on the 
Public Rights of Way network, open access land and green and blue spaces. 
 

7.13 As identified in 6.2 additional investment has been provided in Planning and 
Countryside in the following area: 
 
• Country Parks Investment - £0.305M 
 
Private Sector Housing 

 
7.14 A budget for 2024/25 of £11.574M has been allocated and the programme 

comprises the following schemes to contribute to the delivery of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan.  
• Disabled Facilities Grants; 
• Maintenance Repair Assistance Grants; 
• Renovation Grants in Exceptional Circumstances; 
• Delivery of Welsh Government’s National Empty Homes Grant Scheme for all 

participating Local Authorities in Wales from April 2024 to March 2026; 
• Shared Prosperity Fund Heating Grant and Solar Panel Grant which provides 

financial support for residents to make their homes more energy efficient; 
• Affordable Housing through the Social Housing Grant; and 
• Tackling Poverty Fund. 

 
 

FINANCE, DIGITAL AND FRONTLINE SERVICES 
 
7.15 The latest projections show expected full year capital spend of £79.246M for 

Finance, Digital and Frontline Services in 2023/24.  
 

7.16 The total resources for 2024/25, as outlined in the proposed three-year Capital 
Programme is £41.760M.  
 

7.17 As identified in 6.2 additional investment has been provided in Finance, Digital and 
Frontline Services in the following areas: 

 
• Highways Maintenance – £5.050M 
• Unadopted Roads – £0.200M  
• Highways Structures – £1.000M 
• Rhigos Mountain Road Rock Netting – £1.404M 
• Flood Alleviation – £1.000M 
• Parks Structures Improvements – £0.250M 
• Parks & Green Spaces – £1.395M 

Tudalen 106



 
This additional investment is included in the figures presented in Appendix 3b. 
 
 
FRONTLINE SERVICES 
 
Highways Technical Services 

 
7.18 A budget for 2024/25 of £14.265M has been allocated to the next phase of the 

Council’s Highways Improvement programme and in doing so supports the delivery 
of the Council’s Corporate Plan.  Schemes comprise: 
• Road surface treatments and resurfacing – £6.757M 
• Car park improvements – £0.035M 
• Major repairs to structures such as bridges and walls – £6.580M 
• Parks Structures Improvements – £0.320M 
• Street lighting replacement and upgrades – £0.473M 
• Traffic Management – £0.100M 

 
Strategic Projects 

  
7.19 A budget for 2024/25 of £16.629M has been allocated to Strategic Projects for 

major economic infrastructure investment and a programme of multi-modal 
transport enhancements ranging from sustainable travel initiatives to encourage 
walking and cycling, park and ride facilities, “making better use” enhancements, 
road safety and drainage improvements. Funding has been allocated as follows: 
• Transport Grant Schemes – £0.580M 
• Major Economic Transport Infrastructure investments and associated 

transportation enhancements – £14.779M 
• Drainage Improvements and Land Reclamation Schemes – £1.270M 

 
7.20 There remains uncertainty with regard to the level of WG grant funding for 2024/25.  

It is anticipated that further funding will be made available to undertake 
modifications to the Welsh Government Default 20mph speed limit initiative. Road 
Safety Revenue and Road Safety Capital grants will also be available to be bid for 
this year. A number of individual grants, such as Resilient Roads fund, have now 
been incorporated into the Local Transport Fund grant.  Bids for various funds 
returned during January and February are expected to be confirmed during March. 
Bids have also been submitted for “Small Scale” flood alleviation schemes with the 
upper limit of funding for individual schemes set at £0.200M, and to the major 
projects Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) programme to 
gain Approval in Principle for funding. 
 

7.21 A supplementary report on the detail of proposed schemes for Highways, 
Transportation & Strategic Projects will be presented to Cabinet shortly. 
 
Storm Dennis Flood Recovery 
 

7.22 Following the unprecedented weather events of Storm Dennis in February 2020, 
the Council will have already spent £47M on repairing, replacing and improving 
infrastructure damaged by this exceptional storm event by the end of March 2024. 
 

Tudalen 107



7.23 Funding for the recovery work is provided by WG on an annual basis and the 
Council continues to work closely with WG to ensure funding is increased and 
secured during the financial year to maintain the momentum of the recovery 
programme.  Formal confirmation of the funding for 2024/25 is awaited from WG, 
however the Council has assurance from WG to continue with recovery works.  In 
anticipation of the funding for 2024/25 being confirmed a total budget for 2024/25 
of £4.485M is now included. 
 

7.24 There are a significant number of schemes ongoing to repair and replace bridges, 
river walls and retaining walls, as well as a work programme to deal with coal spoil 
tip safety, including the remediation process following Tylorstown landslip. 
 
Parks 
 

7.25 Investment in Parks infrastructure in 2024/25 totals £1.643M to fund a rolling 
programme of improvements to drainage, pavilions, buildings and other 
infrastructure such as seating, fencing, paths and walls. 
 
Waste Strategy 
 

7.26 The budget for 2024/25 is £1.184M. This relates to consideration of the feasibility 
of implementing a transfer station to reduce operational costs associated with 
hauling waste and recycling, and to reduce the carbon footprint associated with the  
significant operation. 
 
Fleet 

 
7.27 The 3 year rolling programme for replacement vehicles continues. The 3 year 

allocation is £4.958M. This service area is subject to ongoing assessment and 
continuous review of requirements. 
 
 
EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES 
 

7.28 The latest projections show expected full year capital spend of £72.862M for 
Education & Inclusion in 2023/24. 

 
7.29 The total resources available to Education & Inclusion Services for 2024/25, as 

outlined in the proposed three-year Capital Programme, is £38.790M and will 
support the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan. This investment will also 
support the delivery of Strategic Priority 5: Delivering 21st Century learning 
environments and innovative services for our learners and communities, of the 
Education and Inclusion Services Strategic Plan. 
 

7.30 As identified in 6.2 additional investment has been provided in Education and 
Inclusion Services in the following areas: 
 
• Hawthorn Hockey Pitch - £0.350M 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 108



Schools 
 
7.31 The Council will continue to deliver and support its long-term strategic investment 

school modernisation programme, creating environments that meet the needs of 
learners and our communities, providing the best learning provision and supporting 
positive outcomes for young people and the wider community.  The programme of 
capital investment is delivered utilising Council funding, WG Sustainable 
Communities for Learning funding (previously the 21st Century Schools and 
Colleges Programme) and Section 106 funding.   

 
7.32 The following key school projects are either in progress or planned, and are 

included in the overall strategic programme and include a combination of 
refurbishments, remodelling, demolitions and new buildings: 

 
• YGG Llyn Y Forwyn – construction is ongoing to build a brand new school on 

a new site in the Rhondda Fach, increasing Welsh medium capacity and 
providing community facilities; 

• Creation of Ysgol Afon Wen – works are continuing to construct a new teaching 
block providing exciting new learning environments for all pupils of the new 
school. Demolition of the existing school buildings plus extensive external 
improvement works are also planned; 

• Creation of Ysgol Bro Taf – significant remodelling and refurbishment works 
will continue throughout the school, providing new learning environments for all 
pupils, delivering new sports facilities that will be available for the wider 
community, plus the creation of a new car park and bus-bay area; 

• Creation of Ysgol Awel Taf – works on the brand new Welsh medium school 
are ongoing, remaining works include the creation of the staff and visitor car 
park and bus-bays; 

• Bryncelynnog Comprehensive School – works to improve facilities at the school 
continue. The remaining works include the creation of a new car park; and 

• Childcare Capital Grant – improvements to existing childcare provision at 
Glenboi Primary School and Penderyn will be delivered, improving the 
environments and increasing the childcare offer. 

 
7.33 In addition to the above schemes being delivered through capital funding, the 

Council has been successful in securing funding via WG’s Mutual Investment 
Model (MIM) programme, which is the revenue funding element of the Sustainable 
Communities for Learning Programme.  The Council has entered into a 25-year 
contract for the design, build, funding and building maintenance of three schools.  
Continuation of work during 2024/25 will deliver: 
• Pontyclun Primary School (by early 2025) – All existing buildings (including 

temporary classrooms) will be demolished to construct a new two-storey school 
building, sports and recreation facilities.  Hard play areas will be provided 
externally, along with two (MUGAs) and other informal grass play areas; 

• Llanilltud Faerdref Primary School (by spring 2024) – A new single-storey 
building will be constructed on the existing grassed playing field area on the 
eastern part of the site.  Externally, there will be landscaped areas and hard 
and soft play areas set around the school.  Two MUGAs will be built, along with 
a grass sports pitch (5-a-side) and a 40-metre grass sprint track; and  

• Penygawsi Primary School (by summer 2024) – All existing buildings will be 
demolished to construct a new two-storey building at the north-east corner of 

Tudalen 109



the site.  Hard play areas will be provided externally, along with a grass sports 
pitch (7-a-side), two MUGAs and informal play areas at the southern end of the 
site. 

 
Planned Capital Works 

 
7.34 The planned capital works programme allocation for 2024/25 is £6.315M.  The 

allocation includes an on-going rolling programme for kitchen 
refurbishments/remodelling, window & door replacements, essential works, 
electrical rewiring, fire alarm upgrades, toilet refurbishments, Equalities 
Act/compliance works, access condition surveys, boiler replacements, roof 
renewals, asbestos remediation works, 21st Century classroom upgrades, external 
improvements, capitalisation of IT hardware/software & licences and improvements 
to schools. Also included is funding to support capital expenditure in relation to the 
Universal Primary Free School Meals initiative. 
 

7.35 A supplementary report detailing proposals of works for consideration within the 
above-mentioned programme will be presented to Cabinet shortly. 

 
  

COMMUNITY AND CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
 

7.36 The latest projections show expected full year capital spend of £13.110M for 
Community and Children’s Services in 2023/24.  
 

7.37 The total resources available to Community and Children’s Services for 2024/25,  
as outlined in the proposed three-year Capital Programme is £12.464M.  
 

7.38 As identified in 6.2 additional investment has been provided in Community and 
Children’s Services in the following areas: 

 
• Multi Use Games Areas (MUGAs) – £0.225M 
• Play Areas – £0.350M 
• New Leisure Fitness Equipment - £0.350M 
 
This additional investment is included in the figures presented in Appendix 3d. 

 
Adult & Children’s Services 

  
7.39 The programme for Adult and Children’s Services includes a budget of £7.464M in 

2024/25. This will continue to fund the essential refurbishment and improvement 
works to the Council’s Adult & Children’s Services establishments, including the 
extra-care programme, in line with care standards and health & safety legislation.  
Also included are additional costs associated with Telecare Services. 
 

7.40 The Council is working towards the successful delivery of the Council’s extra care 
strategy including residential dementia care, a fourth new accommodation for 
adults with learning disabilities, and investment in the Council’s own care homes.  
The strategy will lead to the development of a more sustainable model of residential 
services providing the best possible care and support. 
 

7.41 The capital funding requirements to deliver the proposals for investment in new 

Tudalen 110



facilities will be considered by Cabinet as individual schemes are developed. This 
will include reviewing all opportunities to secure any available external (Welsh 
Government) sources of finance to support the timely delivery of the strategy.  

  
7.42 These investments will support the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan 

Priorities.  
 

 Public Health & Protection 
 
7.43 The Public Health and Protection programme has a budget of £5.000M in 2024/25. 

This budget is allocated across the ongoing rolling programmes for Cemeteries and 
Community Safety measures. Also included in this budget are allocations for 
investment and improvement works at Leisure Centres and Play Areas. The 
redevelopment of the Muni Arts Centre is also included in this programme, and 
overall, the areas of investment support the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan 
Priorities. 

 
 
8.0 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS AND SOCIO-ECONOMIC DUTY 

 
8.1 Due regard has been given to the Council’s public sector equality duties under the 

Equality Act 2010, namely the Public Sector Equality Duty and Socio-Economic 
Duty. 

 
8.2 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and concluded that the 

recommendations set out in the report are in line with the above legislation. 
 
 
9.0 WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 There are no Welsh language implications as a result of the recommendations in 

this report. 
 
 
10.0 CONSULTATION  

 
10.1 Consultation and engagement has been undertaken as part of formulating the 

revised programme and this was also built into the wider consultation exercise 
undertaken in respect of the recommended 2024/25 Revenue Budget Strategy, 
where consultees were asked what services are important to them in Rhondda 
Cynon Taf.  

 
 
11.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)  

 
11.1 The financial implications of the recommendations are set out in the main body of 

the report.  
 
 

12.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 
 

12.1 The Council's proposed Capital Programme for 2024/25 to 2026/27 complies fully 

Tudalen 111



with all legal requirements.  
 
 

13.0 LINKS TO CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE WELL-BEING 
OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT  
 

13.1 The Council's proposed Capital Programme for 2024/25 to 2026/27 has been 
formulated to support the delivery of the Council’s strategic priorities, as set out 
within the Corporate Plan, with these documents being aligned to the goals and 
principles included within the Well-Being of Future Generations Act.  

 
 
14.0 CONCLUSIONS 

 
14.1 The three year Capital Programme is a key component of the overall Medium Term 

Financial Planning and Resources Strategy for this Council. Targeted capital 
investment can make a significant impact on service delivery and used effectively, 
is able to underpin the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities, where relevant.  
 

14.2 This report sets out the capital investment priorities for the Council through to March 
2027. It represents an ambitious and significant level of investment (£165.630M) 
over the next 3 years. 
 

14.3 The programme includes some element of slippage identified throughout 2023/24, 
which is subject to change when final spend for the capital programme is known 
and the 2023/24 accounts are finalised. Any changes to slippage will be reported 
as part of the Council’s quarterly performance reports. 
 

14.4 This report has also identified the opportunity to invest £19.292M of additional 
resources in our local area and infrastructure in order to improve the services and 
facilities which are available to our residents. 
 

14.5 As the year progresses, changes will be made to the programme, for example, 
where new schemes can be supported by specific grants. Approval from Members 
will be sought as these opportunities arise throughout 2024/25. 
 
 
 

************************* 
 

Tudalen 112



Appendix 1

Table 2a: Breakdown of General Capital Funding (GCF), by Unitary Authority, 2024-25 (£000)
Final Settlement

Unitary Authority General Capital Funding 
2024-25 

of which: General Capital 
Grant

of which: Unhypothecated 
Supported Borrowing

Isle of Anglesey 4,386 2,222 2,164
Gwynedd 8,223 4,166 4,057
Conwy 6,899 3,496 3,403
Denbighshire 6,185 3,134 3,051
Flintshire 8,142 4,125 4,017
Wrexham 7,018 3,556 3,462
Powys 9,297 4,710 4,587
Ceredigion 5,854 2,966 2,888
Pembrokeshire 7,587 3,844 3,743
Carmarthenshire 11,989 6,074 5,915
Swansea 12,943 6,558 6,385
Neath Port Talbot 8,950 4,535 4,415
Bridgend 7,980 4,043 3,937
The Vale of Glamorgan 6,986 3,540 3,446
Rhondda Cynon Taf 13,828 7,006 6,822
Merthyr Tydfil 3,157 1,600 1,557
Caerphilly 9,731 4,930 4,801
Blaenau Gwent 3,855 1,953 1,902
Torfaen 5,405 2,739 2,666
Monmouthshire 4,938 2,502 2,436
Newport 8,459 4,286 4,173
Cardiff 18,188 9,215 8,973
Total unitary authorities 180,000 91,200 88,800

Tudalen 113



Appendix 2

 

 
SERVICE GROUPS 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27

£M £M £M
Chief Executive's Group 5.740         5.740         5.740         
Finance, Digital & Frontline Services 4.926         4.926         4.926         
Education & Inclusion Services 2.768         2.768         2.768         
Community & Children's Services 0.746         0.746         0.746         
Total Capital Expenditure 14.180    14.180    14.180    

Estimated Resources Required to Fund Capital Programme

Welsh Government General Capital Funding 
Supported borrowing 6.822         6.822         6.822         
General Capital Grant 7.006         7.006         7.006         
Total WG Funding 13.828       13.828       13.828       

WG capital funding allocated to fund Investment 
Priorities 2.148-         1.898-         1.898-         

Total Available to fund the Core Programme 11.680       11.930       11.930       

Council Resources
Council Resources 2.500         2.250         2.250         

Total Resources Required to Fund the "Core" 
Capital Programme      14.180      14.180      14.180 

PROPOSED "CORE" THREE YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME

2024 / 2027

Tudalen 114



Chief Executive Appendix 3a

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Corporate Estates

Major repair/refurbishment and/or rationalisation of 
Service Group Accommodation 611 100 100 811

Strategic Maintenance 40 40 40 120
Asset Management Planning  35 35 35 105
Asbestos Management 115 115 115 345
Asbestos Remediation Works 35 35 35 105
Legionella Remediation Works 180 180 180 540
Legionella Management 115 115 115 345
Coed Ely Solar Farm 6,638 750 0 7,388
Carbon Reduction Programme 760 280 280 1,320
Electric Vehicles Charging 300 0 0 300
Total Corporate Estates 8,829 1,650 900 11,379

Prosperity & Development

Regeneration
Enterprise Investment Fund 480 130 130 740
Town Centre Maintenance Grants (SPF) 50 0 0 50
Town Centre Property Improvements (SPF) 715 0 0 715
96-102 Taff St, Pontypridd 100 0 0 100
Pontypridd Southern Gateway 12,198 0 0 12,198
Transforming Towns Place Making Grant 690 0 0 690
Former Rates Building, Aberdare 646 0 0 646
Major Projects Investment Fund 589 0 0 589
Regeneration Investment 350 270 270 890
Ynysangharad Park Brilliant Basics Fund 37 0 0 37
Rock Grounds Development 20 0 0 20
Total Regeneration 15,875 400 400 16,675

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal
Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 1,000 1,000 1,000 3,000
Total Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 1,000 1,000 1,000 3,000

Planning & Countryside
Local Places for Nature 539 0 0 539
Countryside 404 0 0 404
Total Planning & Countryside 943 0 0 943

3 Year Capital Programme 2024 - 2027

Scheme Total 3 Year 
Budget

2024/2025 
Budget

2025/2026 
Budget

2026/2027 
Budget

Tudalen 115



Chief Executive Appendix 3a

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

3 Year Capital Programme 2024 - 2027

Scheme Total 3 Year 
Budget

2024/2025 
Budget

2025/2026 
Budget

2026/2027 
Budget

Private Sector Housing 
Disabled Facilities Grants/Adaptations (DFG) 2,315 2,875 2,875 8,065
Maintenance Repair Assistance (MRA) 235 235 235 705
Renovation Grants Exceptional Circumstances & Home 
Improvement Zones 711 235 235 1,181

Empty Properties Grants Investment 2,213 0 0 2,213
National Empty Homes Grant Scheme 2,383 1,811 0 4,194
Affordable Housing 2,000 1,000 515 3,515
Tackling Poverty Fund 250 0 0 250
Community Regeneration 1,467 100 95 1,662
Total Private Sector Housing 11,574 6,256 3,955 21,785

Total Prosperity & Development 29,392 7,656 5,355 42,403

Group Total 38,221 9,306 6,255 53,782

Chief Executive Paul Mee

Service Director - Finance Services Martyn Hughes

Tudalen 116



Finance, Digital and Frontline Services Appendix 3b

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Finance & Digital Services

CIVICA Financials 240 240 240 720
Capitalisation of Computer HW/SW & Licences 1,342 1,342 1,342 4,026
Total Finance & Digital Services 1,582 1,582 1,582 4,746

Frontline Services

Highways Technical Services
Highways Improvements 6,757 930 930 8,617
Car Parks 35 40 40 115
Structures 6,580 195 195 6,970
Parks Structures 320 0 0 320
Street Lighting 473 330 130 933
Traffic Management 100 100 100 300
Total Highways Technical Services 14,265 1,595 1,395 17,255

Strategic Projects
Transportation and Travel Schemes 580 0 0 580
Transportation Infrastructure 14,779 25 25 14,829
Drainage Improvements 1,255 95 95 1,445
Land Reclamation 15 0 0 15
Total Strategic Projects 16,629 120 120 16,869

Storm Dennis Flood Recovery
Storm Dennis Flood Recovery 4,485 0 0 4,485
Total Storm Dennis Flood Recovery 4,485 0 0 4,485

Parks
Parks 1,643 65 65 1,773
Total Parks 1,643 65 65 1,773

Waste Strategy
Waste Strategy 1,184 0 0 1,184
Total Waste Strategy 1,184 0 0 1,184

Fleet
Vehicles 1,758 1,600 1,600 4,958
Total Fleet 1,758 1,600 1,600 4,958

Scheme Total 3 Year 
Budget

2024/2025 
Budget

2025/2026 
Budget

2026/2027 
Budget

3 Year Capital Programme 2024 - 2027

Tudalen 117



Finance, Digital and Frontline Services Appendix 3b

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Scheme Total 3 Year 
Budget

2024/2025 
Budget

2025/2026 
Budget

2026/2027 
Budget

3 Year Capital Programme 2024 - 2027

Buildings
Buildings 95 45 45 185
Capitalised Equipment 119 119 119 357
Total Buildings 214 164 164 542

Total Frontline Services 40,178 3,544 3,344 47,066

Group Total 41,760 5,126 4,926 51,812

Deputy Chief Executive and Group Director Barrie Davies

Service Director - Finance Services Martyn Hughes

Tudalen 118



Education and Inclusion Services Appendix 3c

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Schools

School Modernisation Rhondda and Tonyrefail 974 0 0 974
School Modernisation 5,177 259 100 5,536
Bryncelynnog Comprehensive 296 0 0 296
Y Pant Extension 351 0 0 351
Aberdare Church in Wales Primary School 350 0 0 350
SRIC - School Modernisation Programme 1,089 0 0 1,089
Childcare Facility Improvements 1,588 0 0 1,588
21st Century Schools Band B
YGG Awel Taf
(New Welsh Medium Primary School Rhydfelin) 680 431 0 1,111

Ysgol Bro Taf
(3-16 Pontypridd School Modernisation) 5,615 350 0 5,965

Ysgol Afon Wen 
(3-16 Hawthorn School Modernisation) 6,062 375 0 6,437

Bryncelynnog Comprehensive School Modernisation 1,592 0 0 1,592
YGG Llyn Y Forwyn 6,350 429 0 6,779
Mutual Investment Model Projects 2,351 0 0 2,351
Total 32,475 1,844 100 34,419

Supplementary Capital Programme

Planned Kitchen Refurbishments 390 130 130 650
Window & Door Replacements 100 100 100 300
Essential Works 651 270 270 1,191
Capitalisation of Computer HW / SW & Licences 258 258 258 774
Roof Renewal 1,094 465 465 2,024
Boiler Replacement 290 170 170 630
Equalities Act/Compliance Works 1,939 155 155 2,249
Education & Inclusion Services Condition Surveys 200 35 35 270
Electrical Rewiring 115 130 130 375
Asbestos Remediation Work 500 595 595 1,690
Fire Alarm Upgrades 45 65 65 175
Toilet Refurbishments 308 235 235 778
Universal Primary Free School Meals Capital 360 0 0 360
Improvements to Schools 65 65 65 195
Total 6,315 2,673 2,673 11,661

Group Total 38,790 4,517 2,773 46,080

Director of Education and Inclusion Services Gaynor Davies

Service Director - Finance Services Stephanie Davies

Scheme Total 3 Year 
Budget

2024/2025 
Budget

2025/2026 
Budget

2026/2027 
Budget

3 Year Capital Programme 2024 - 2027

Tudalen 119



Community and Children's Services Appendix 3d

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult & Children's Services

Modernisation Programme (Adults) 6,968 95 95 7,158
Modernisation Programme (Childrens) 160 25 25 210
Asbestos Remediation 25 25 25 75
Telecare Equipment (Inc of Carelink Equipment) 140 140 140 420
Capitalisation of Computer HW / SW / Licences & 
Equipment 171 171 171 513

Total Adult & Children's Services 7,464 456 456 8,376

Public Health, Protection & Community Services

Leisure Centre Refurbishment Programme 415 55 55 525
Play Areas 620 45 45 710
Cemeteries Planned Programme 110 90 90 290
Community Safety Initiatives 2,149 45 45 2,239
Community Hubs 348 0 0 348
Culture 130 20 20 170
Muni Arts Project 1,193 0 0 1,193
Buildings 35 35 35 105
Total Public Health, Protection & Community 
Services 5,000 290 290 5,580

Group Total 12,464 746 746 13,956

Director of Social Services Neil Elliott

Director of Public Health, Protection & Community 
Services Louise Davies

Service Director - Finance Services Neil Griffiths

2025/2026 
BudgetScheme

3 Year Capital Programme 2024 - 2027

Total 3 Year 
Budget

2024/2025 
Budget

2026/2027 
Budget

Tudalen 120



Appendix 3e

 
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total

£M £M £M £M
Chief Executive 38.221 9.306 6.255 53.782
Finance, Digital & Frontline Services 41.760 5.126 4.926 51.812
Education and Inclusion Services 38.790 4.517 2.773 46.080
Community and Children's Services 12.464 0.746 0.746 13.956
Total 131.235 19.695 14.700 165.630

Estimated Resources Required to Fund Capital Programme
Supported Borrowing 6.822 6.822 6.822 20.466
Unsupported Borrowing 12.157 0.981 0.000 13.138
Total 18.979 7.803 6.822 33.604

Capital Grants
General Capital Grant 7.006 7.006 7.006 21.018
WG National Empty Homes Grant Scheme 2.383 1.811 4.194
WG Local Transport Fund 0.580 0.580
WG Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant 0.070 0.070
WG Flood Recovery Grant 3.619 3.619
WG Coal Tips Safety Grant 0.866 0.866
WG Sustainable Communities for Learning 10.721 0.604 11.325
WG Universal Primary FSM Grant 0.360 0.360
WG Access Improvement Grants 0.078 0.078
WG Voluntary Aided Schools Urgent Capital Repairs 0.350 0.350
WG ENABLE 0.476 0.476
UK Government Levelling Up Fund 0.731 0.731
UK Government Shared Prosperity Fund 14.752 14.752
WG Transforming Towns 1.336 1.336
WG PRS Lease Scheme 2.104 2.104
WCVA Local Places for Nature 0.539 0.539
WG Childcare 1.588 1.588
Total 47.559 9.421 7.006 63.986

Third Party Contributions 0.015 0.000 0.000 0.015

Council Resources
Revenue Contributions 49.757 0.950 0.000 50.707
General Fund Capital Resources 14.925 1.521 0.872 17.318
Total 64.682 2.471 0.872 68.025

Total Resources Required to Fund Capital Programme 131.235 19.695 14.700 165.630

Difference Total Spend to Total Resources 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Group

Capital Programme from 1st April 2024 to 31st March 2027

Tudalen 121



tudalen wag



 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023 / 2024 
 

COUNCIL 
 

6th March 2024 
 

       
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY INCORPORATING INVESTMENT    

STRATEGY, TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS AND MINIMUM 
REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) STATEMENT FOR 2024/25 

  
REPORT OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE & GROUP DIRECTOR - 
FINANCE, DIGITAL & FRONTLINE SERVICES  
AUTHOR:- BARRIE DAVIES (01443) 424026 

 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to set out the Council’s:-  

• Treasury Management Strategy for 2024/25; 
• Investment Strategy for 2024/25; 
• Treasury Indicators for 2023/24 (actuals to date), 2024/25, 2025/26 

and 2026/27; and 
• Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement. 

 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that Members: 
 
2.1 Approve the Treasury Management Strategy, Investment Strategy, 

Treasury Indicators, and the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy 
statement as set out in the report. 

 
 

3.0  REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

Tudalen 123

Agendwm 9



 
3.1  To ensure the Council complies with its legal duty under the Local 

Government Act 2003 and in doing so is in line with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities.  

 
 
4.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
4.1 CIPFA defines Treasury Management as: 

“The management of the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, including its banking, money market and capital market transactions, 
the effective control of the risks associated with those activities and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 
 

4.2 The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations require the 
Council to have regard to the CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy) Treasury Management Code of Practice and the CIPFA 
Prudential Code. This report also meets the requirements of Welsh 
Government Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Guidance and Welsh 
Government Investment Guidance. 

 
4.3 This Treasury Management Strategy details the expected activities of the 

Treasury Management function in the forthcoming financial year (2024/25).  
 

4.4 The Prudential Code is produced by CIPFA and is underpinned by the 
Local Government Act 2003.  The Code sets out a framework which 
supports local strategy planning, local asset management planning and 
proper option appraisal. The objectives of the Prudential Code are to 
ensure capital expenditure and investment plans are affordable and 
proportionate, all external borrowing and other long term liabilities are 
prudent and sustainable, the risks associated with investments for 
commercial purposes are proportionate to financial capacity, and that 
treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 
professional practice. 
 

4.5 It is a statutory requirement under Section 33 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992, for the Council to produce a balanced budget. In 
particular, Section 32 requires revenue costs from capital financing 
decisions to be included in the budget requirement. 

 
4.6 The implementation of MiFID II (Market in Financial Instruments Directive) 

reclassified local and public authorities as retail investors, by default, from 
3rd January 2018. Such a reclassification would increase costs for financial 
advice and potentially restrict access to certain financial products. To avoid 
such additional costs and restrictions the Council has elected for a return 
to professional status (“opt up”) in order to ensure there is access to the 
full range of services and products required. The conditions of professional 
status require local authorities to have an investment balance of at least 
£10M and the person authorised to make the investment decision must 

Tudalen 124



have at least one year’s relevant professional experience. The Council’s 
money market brokers and treasury management advisors have confirmed 
our professional client status.  
 
 

5.0 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2024/25 
 
5.1 The proposed Treasury Management Strategy for 2024/25 is based on 

officers’ views on likely interest rates, supplemented with forecasts 
provided by the Council’s independent treasury advisors.  The strategy 
covers: 
 

• Current Portfolio Position; 
• Prospects for Interest Rates; 
• Borrowing Strategy; and 
• Debt Rescheduling Opportunities. 
 

5.2 Information is also provided on the use of Treasury Management advisors 
and relevant training that has taken place. 

  
 
6.0 Current Portfolio Position 
 
6.1 The Council’s treasury portfolio position as at the end of December 2023 

comprised: 
 

  £M Av. Rate  
Debt    
    
Fixed Rate  PWLB 201.757 2.44% 
                             
 
 
 
Variable Rate 

Market 
Market (LOBO) 
 
 
Market  

54.500 
31.000 

 
 

0.000 

5.00% 
4.50% 

 
 

0.00% 

  287.257 3.15% * 
    
Investments    
    
Variable Rate Public Bodies 38.072**   4.93% 
    
    

 
   

*  Estimated weighted average rate of borrowing for 2023/24 is 3.25%  
**  Does not include investment with Cynon Taf Community Housing Group nor ring-

fenced resources held in our role as regional lead authority for the Shared Prosperity 
Fund 

Tudalen 125



 
6.2 A LOBO (Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option) is a financial instrument 

which provides a lower rate of interest for an initial period and a higher rate 
for the rest of its term (reversionary period), albeit that the higher rate was 
comparable with interest rates prevailing at the time the loans were taken.  
At the end of the initial period and at six monthly intervals, the lender has 
the option to increase the interest rate payable. This provides the Council 
with the option to repay the loan if the terms are not acceptable. 

 
 
7.0 Prospects for Interest Rates 
 
7.1 The level of the Bank Rate tends to be the main factor which determines 

the rate of interest the Council receives on its short term investments. The 
Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) sets the rate and 
has brought in a number of increases over the last year:  
 
  
 % Increase Interest 

Rate 
May 23 0.25% 4.50% 
June 23 0.50% 5.00% 
August 23 0.25% 5.25% 

 

7.2 The current forecast is for the Bank Rate to start decreasing in the latter 
half of this year. The MPC sets monetary policy to meet the government’s 
2% inflation target. In its February 2024 report, it was noted that inflation 
rates will move lower over the next 12 months and by April 2025 the 
headline CPI rate is expected to be at or below the 2% target. The 
publication of GDP data demonstrated that the UK economy contracted in 
the final quarter of 2023 for a second successive quarter and thereby a 
recession in the second half of 2023.   UK activity remains weak, although 
there has been some evidence of recovery in the services sector and 
housing market.  
 

7.3 Generally, the Council borrows its long term funding from the Public Works 
Loan Board (PWLB).  Long term PWLB rates increase and decrease in line 
with gilt yields (government bonds). The Council's Treasury Management 
advisors latest forecast of interest rates (certainty rate) is as follows: 
 

 5 yr  10 yr  20 yr  50 yr  
2024/25 4.30% 4.50% 5.00% 4.70% 
2025/26 4.10% 4.45% 5.00% 4.75% 
2026/27 4.20% 4.55% 5.05% 4.75% 

 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 126



8.0 Borrowing Strategy  
 

8.1  The Council's borrowing requirement for 2024/25 is currently £19.0M 
based on the updated Capital Programme 2024/25 – 2026/27 (subject to 
approval by Council 6th March 2024). The opportunities afforded by the 
Prudential Code provide for further borrowing in line with decisions taken 
during the year and the Strategy, Prudential Indicators and Limits may 
need to be refined accordingly in light of future decisions. Further details of 
Prudential Indicators and Limits are detailed within the Capital Strategy 
being considered alongside this report.   

 
8.2 Uncertainty over future interest rate prospects increase the risks 

associated with treasury activity.  As a result the Council will continue to 
take a cautious approach to its treasury strategy. 

 
8.3 The policy will be to continue to maximise “internal borrowing”, running 

down cash balances and foregoing interest earned. This also minimises 
counterparty risk (risk that an investment may become irrecoverable). This 
continues to be our favoured approach (referred to as maintaining an 
“underborrowed” position), meaning that the capital borrowing need (the 
Capital Financing Requirement - CFR) has not been fully funded with loan 
debt.  We will though take the opportunity to lock in longer term debt as 
and when the opportunity arises, in line with advice from our Treasury 
Advisors. 

 
8.4 Short term borrowing could be taken from the money market or other    

public bodies such as local authorities by the Treasury Management team 
for day to day cashflow purposes.  

 
8.5 The majority of the Council’s borrowing is from the PWLB. Long-term 

borrowing rates are influenced by gilt yields and these are expected to be 
volatile around a relatively narrow range. 
 

8.6 The PWLB updated its guidance in August 2021 whereby loans are no 
longer available to Councils planning to buy investment assets primarily for 
yield or solely for exploiting commercialisation opportunities in any of the 
following three years.  
 

8.7  The Council may arrange forward starting loans where the interest rate is 
fixed in advance, but the cash is received at a later date, up to a maximum 
of one year. This would enable certainty of costs without suffering a cost of 
carry in the intervening period. The cost of carry is the interest cost 
incurred where funds are borrowed prior to being required. 
 

8.8 There are uncertainties associated with the forecasts detailed above. 
Alternative approaches given different interest rate forecasts are shown 
below: 
• Risk of sharp fall in long and short term rates – long term borrowing will 

be postponed and potential rescheduling from long term to short term 
borrowing could be considered. 

Tudalen 127



• Risk of sharper than forecast rise in long and short term rates – fixed 
rate borrowing taken whilst rates still cheap. 

 
8.9 The Section 151 Officer (or in his absence the Deputy Section 151 Officer), 

under delegated powers, will take the most appropriate form of borrowing 
depending on the prevailing interest rates and forecasts at the time, taking 
into account advice provided by our advisors and an assessment of risk.  
Members will be advised of borrowing activity during the year as part of the 
Council's quarterly performance reporting arrangements and the Mid Year 
Treasury Management Stewardship review. 

 
 
9.0 Debt Rescheduling Opportunities 

 
9.1 Debt rescheduling refers to the premature repayment of existing debt and 

replacing it with alternative cheaper borrowing. 
 
9.2 The difference in rates applied to new borrowing and repayment of existing 

debt has meant that PWLB rescheduling is now less attractive. 
Consideration would need to be given to the large premiums which would 
be incurred on repaying debt early. 

 
9.3 Early repayment of debt could be considered. This would run down 

investment balances as short term rates on investments are likely to be 
lower than that on debt. However, premium costs may be expensive and 
our investment balance estimates for 2024/25 are relatively low given the 
approach to maximise “internal borrowing”, therefore such a course of 
action is unlikely to be viable. 

 
9.4 Any rescheduling and repayment of debt is likely to impact upon the 

Council’s debt maturity profile and this will need to be considered in 
accordance with the relevant indicator. 

 
9.5 The Council has previously taken advantage of maximising debt 

rescheduling opportunities. The reasons for any rescheduling to take place 
could include: 
• the generation of savings, at minimum risk; 
• to help fulfil the strategy outlined in section 8 above; or 
• to enhance the balance of the long term portfolio (amend the maturity 

profile and/or the balance of volatility). 
 
9.6 The Section 151 Officer will monitor prevailing rates for any opportunities 

during the year based upon information provided by the Council’s Treasury 
advisors.   

 
 
10.0 Treasury Management Advisors 

 
10.1 The Council’s Treasury Management advisors are Arlingclose Ltd. The 

company provides a range of services including: 

Tudalen 128



 
• Technical support on treasury matters, capital finance issues and 

suggested report formats; 

• Economic and interest rate analysis; 

• Debt services which includes advice on the timing of borrowing; 

• Debt rescheduling advice on the existing portfolio; 

• Generic investment advice on interest rates, timing and investment 
instruments; and  

• Credit ratings/market information service.  
 

10.2 Whilst the advisors provide support to the Council’s treasury function, the 
final decision on any treasury matter remains with the Council. 

10.3 The Council ensures that quality of service is maintained via feedback at 
regular online meetings with key contacts. 

10.4 The Council is currently finalising the outcome of a procurement process to 
appoint a Treasury Management Advisor for a 3 year period from 1st April 
2024, with an option to extend for a further 2 years. 

 
11.0 Member and Officer Training  

 
11.1  During 2023/24, officers with Treasury Management responsibilities have 

attended virtual webinars facilitated by our advisors and attended virtual 
strategy meetings.   

11.2 As part of continued professional development, officers will continue to 
keep up to date with emerging issues via webinars, research and regular 
information provided by advisors and other sources. 

11.3 If any emerging issues arise, specific training sessions can be arranged for 
Members facilitated by our advisors. The contractual arrangements with 
Arlingclose include an annual training session for elected Members, this 
being delivered on the 4th September 2023 prior to the Governance and 
Audit Committee considering the Treasury Management Annual Report 
2022/23. 

11.4 The Council’s Principal Accountant, Pension Fund and Treasury 
Management holds the Certificate in International Treasury Management – 
Public Finance, a professional qualification of CIPFA and the Association 
of Corporate Treasurers in the fundamentals of treasury management for 
the public service. 
 
 

12.0 Reporting and Scrutiny 
 

12.1 The Governance and Audit Committee will continue to undertake the 
required scrutiny function for treasury management activities as detailed in 
its Terms of Reference.  This is in line with the relevant Codes of Practice, 

Tudalen 129



including the CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of 
Practice 2021, and will include: 

• Quarterly updates (available as part of the Council’s Performance 
Reporting arrangements); 

• Strategy report (as reported to full Council); 
• Formal mid year review of treasury management (as reported to full 

Council); and 
• Annual review (as reported to full Council). 

 
 

13.0  INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
 
13.1 The Council’s investment strategy has regard to the Welsh Government’s 

Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments and the CIPFA 
Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes. The Council’s investment priorities will be 
security first, liquidity second and then yield (return).  

13.2 The Treasury Management Code categorises investments into three 
categories, those for: 

• Treasury management purposes – investments that arise from the 
Council’s cash flows or treasury risk management activity and represent 
balances that need to be invested until the cash is required for use in 
the course of business; 

• Commercial purposes – investments taken or held primarily for financial 
return and are not linked to Treasury management activity or directly 
part of delivering services; and 

• Service purposes – investments  taken or held primarily  for the 
provision of delivering of public services (including housing, 
regeneration and local infrastructure), or in support of joint working with 
others to deliver such services. 

13.3 The Welsh Government statutory guidance also requires local authorities 
to categorise investments as either Financial or Non-Financial. Financial 
investments can be further sub categorised into Specified, Loans and Non-
Specified. 

 
13.4  Financial Investments 

 
13.5 The key requirements of both the Treasury Management Code and the 

Welsh Government statutory investment guidance are to set an investment 
strategy, as part of its annual treasury strategy for the following year. The 
guidance includes the identification and approval of the following: 
 
• Specified investments. These are high security (i.e. high credit quality, 

this is defined by the Council) and high liquidity investments in sterling 
and with a maturity of no more than a year. 

• Loans. These are agreements where a local authority temporarily 
transfers cash to a third party, joint venture, subsidiary or associate who 

Tudalen 130



agrees a return according to the terms and conditions of receiving the 
loan. 

• Other Non-specified investments. These are investments not meeting 
the definition of a specified investment or loan. 
 

13.6 The priority intention of the strategy is to provide security of investment 
and minimisation of risk. In order to comply with the Code, the Council 
must not borrow to invest for the primary purpose of financial return. 
 
Specified Investments  

13.7  An investment is a Specified Investment if all of the following apply: 
1. the investment is denominated in sterling  
2. it is not long term 
3. it is not defined as capital expenditure 
4. it is of high credit quality or with one of the following public sector 

bodies:  
a. the UK government; or 
b. a local authority in England or Wales (as defined in S23 of 

the 2003 Act) or similar body in Scotland or Northern Ireland 
c. a town or community council. 

 
13.8 These investments are sterling investments of not more than one-year 

maturity, or those which could be for a longer period but where the Council 
has the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes.  These are 
considered low risk assets where the possibility of loss of principal or 
investment income is small.  These would include sterling investments 
which would not be defined as capital expenditure with: 
o The UK Government (such as the Debt Management Account Deposit 

Facility, UK Treasury Bills or a Gilt with less than one year to maturity). 
o A local authority, parish council or community council. 
o A body that is considered of a high credit quality. This covers bodies 

with a minimum long term rating of A- (or the equivalent) as rated by 
Fitch rating agency or equivalent. 

o Within these bodies, and in accordance with the Code, the Council has 
set additional criteria to set the time and amount of monies which will 
be invested in these bodies.   

 
13.9 The Code of Practice requires Councils to not rely solely on credit ratings 

but to supplement it with other information.  The other information referred 
to includes quality financial press publications, credit default swaps, share 
prices, annual reports, statements to markets, information on government 
support for banks, credit ratings of that government support, rates being 
paid, what other banks are saying, information provided by advisors, 
market price (and movement of market price) of existing debt securities 

Tudalen 131



issued by counterparties.  This represents a significant pool of “other 
information”.  

 
13.10 The review of all such information will be incorporated into the Council’s 

decision making processes although it will not be a simplistic and quick 
process and will need to be considered alongside the relative benefits of 
making one investment over another (e.g. versus the Debt Management 
Office - DMO) and the relative risks of exposing the Council’s resources. 

 
13.11 Members will recall that all of the Council’s investments were transferred to 

the DMO DMADF (Debt Management Account Deposit Facility) upon the 
onset of the national and international economic crisis which started in 
2008.   

 
13.12 It is proposed that these arrangements continue for 2024/25, that is, that 

all Council investments will be with the DMADF or with other Government 
backed Public Sector Bodies, and that these arrangements should be kept 
under constant review.   

 
13.13 These investments could also include the Council’s own banker if it fails to 

meet the high credit criteria. In all instances balances are minimised by 
transferring monies to the DMO but there is a possibility that not all sums 
can be transferred as there are minimum amounts in place for these 
transfers. For example, deposits are on occasion transferred into the 
Council’s bank account after the deadline for daily trading / cash transfer. 
In such circumstances the Council’s exposure is limited to the next working 
day.  

 
13.14  The Council aims to be a responsible investor and any changes to current 

investment policy will consider environmental, social and governance 
(ESG) issues. ESG considerations are increasingly a factor in global 
investors’ decision making. The framework for evaluating investment 
opportunities is still developing and therefore the Council’s investment 
monitoring processes does not currently include ESG scoring or other real-
time ESG criteria at an individual investment level. 

 
13.15  The CIPFA Treasury Management Code does not permit local authorities 

to both borrow and invest long-term for cash flow management. The 
Council may make long-term investments for treasury risk management 
purposes, including to manage interest rate risk by investing sums 
borrowed in advance for the capital programme for up to three years.  

 
Loans 

 
13.16 At its meeting on the 20th July 2016, Council agreed to supplement our 

existing investment strategy by approving lending to organisations upon 
which we would undertake appropriate due diligence and put in place 
appropriate security arrangements. This could result in the Council being 
able to achieve better investment returns at an acceptable level of risk and 

Tudalen 132



to secure base budget savings over the short to medium term to protect 
frontline services.  

 
13.17  Such transactions are classified as “Loans” within the “Financial“ 

investments category under the Welsh statutory guidance. They are 
classed as investments for service purposes under the Code. 

 
13.18 Decisions on these financial investments will be subject to S151 officer 

determination, following appropriate due diligence and subject to 
appropriate and acceptable security arrangements being put in place as 
part of a commercial agreement. Such loan arrangements should align with 
and be led by the Council’s own corporate priorities. 

 
13.19 A maximum exposure for this type of investment is set at £25M with a 

maximum maturity limit of 30 years. 
 
13.20 The Council has one commercially agreed loan. Such loans are treated as 

financial investments and are part of the Investment Strategy enabling 
lending to organisations, subject to S151 officer determination, following 
appropriate due diligence and subject to appropriate and acceptable 
security arrangements. The balance outstanding at 1st April 2024 is 
expected to be £2.1M.  

 
13.21 During 2023/24, the Council repaid an interest free loan from Welsh 

Government relating to transport infrastructure. 
 

Non-Specified Investments  
 
13.22 Non-specified investments are any other type of investment (i.e. not 

defined as Specified or a Loan above).   
 
13.23 The non-specified investments held by the Council are: 

o Cynon Valley Waste Disposal Company Ltd, trading as Amgen 
Cymru Ltd. The principal activities of the company are the provision 
of recycling services and waste disposal facilities.  

o Amgen Rhondda Ltd. The principal activities of the company are the 
stewardship of a closed landfill site and associated opportunities for 
income generation. 

These are shown in the Council’s 2022/23 balance sheet as £3.045M, 
under “Investment in Subsidiaries”.  These are the only non-specified 
investments held, the value of which changes in line with the net assets on 
the balance sheet of the companies. Under the Treasury Management in 
the public services Code of Practice, these investments are deemed 
investments for service purposes. 
 
 

Tudalen 133



13.24  Non-Financial Investments 
 

13.25 The Council has one investment it categorises as a non-financial and 
commercial investment. Ty Dysgu at Cefn Coed Business Park, Nantgarw 
was originally approved as an acquisition to support service provision.  
However, as a result of a change of use for the building consequent to a 
review of service delivery requirements, the asset was reclassified as an 
investment property within the balance sheet. The building and site has a 
fair value of £3.0m, with an annual rental of £322k.  

 
13.26  The Council has investments it categorises as non-financial and other 

investments relevant to Council functions (investment for Service 
purposes). These buildings have a fair value of £22.5m, with an annual 
rental of £1.6m. They relate to 50-53 Taff St, Pontypridd; Unit 1 Cambrian 
Industrial estate, Clydach Vale; Rhos Surgery, Mountain Ash; Coed Ely 
Business Units; 103-110 Taff Street, Pontypridd; 13-17 Sardis Road, 
Pontypridd; Robertstown Business Park and Llys Cadwyn, Pontypridd.   

 
13.27 Under the International Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial 

Instruments (IFRS 9), the accounting for certain investments depends on 
the Council’s “business model” for managing them. The Council aims to 
achieve value from its internally managed treasury investments by a 
business model of collecting the contractual cash flows (interest) and 
therefore, where other criteria are also met, these investments will continue 
to be accounted for at amortised cost in the balance sheet, as principal 
amount outstanding plus any interest due. 

 
 
14.0 Risk Benchmarking 
 
14.1 In accordance with Welsh Government guidance (revised 2019), this 

Investment Strategy sets out the Council's policies for giving priority to 
firstly, the security of investments, secondly liquidity, and thirdly yield.  It 
sets out the Council’s criteria for choosing investment counterparties and 
limiting the exposure of risk of loss. 
 

14.2 The codes and statutory guidance require the consideration, approval and 
monitoring of security and liquidity benchmarks. Yield benchmarks are 
currently widely used and less subjective than those relating to security 
and liquidity. 

 
14.3 The benchmarks for security, liquidity and yield are targets, not limits and 

as such, may be breached from time to time. The purpose of the 
benchmark is to monitor trends and act as early warning signals. Actual 
activity levels will be reported in the mid year and annual reports. 

 
14.4 Security 

 
14.5 Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published long term 

credit rating from a selection of external rating agencies. Where available, 

Tudalen 134



the credit rating relevant to the specific investment class of investment is 
used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. However, 
investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, and 
all other relevant factors including external advice will be taken into 
account.  

 
14.6 When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness 

of all organisations, this is not generally reflected in the credit ratings, but 
can be seen in other market measures. In these circumstances, the 
Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit 
quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to maintain the 
level of security. 

 
14.7 Liquidity 

 
14.8 This is defined as having adequate, though not excessive cash resources, 

borrowing arrangements, overdrafts or standby facilities. The Council 
maintains a bank overdraft facility at £3.0m.  
 

14.9 It is recommended that the Council sets limits for: 

• Liquid short term deposits available with a week’s notice.  

• Weighted Average Life benchmark and maximum. The shorter the 
weighted average life of the portfolio implies less risk. 

As we are maintaining low levels of cash to minimise credit risk, the setting 
of such targets / limits is not appropriate. 
 

14.10 Any investment for greater than 365 days will be made with a prudent 
approach to cashflow requirements and in accordance with above limits. 

 
14.11 Yield 
 
14.12 The benchmark used is 7 day Sterling Overnight (SONIA) rate.  

 
 

15.0 Forecast for Investment Returns 
 
15.1 Traditionally, investments which would have been invested longer would 

secure better returns, however uncertainty over counterparty 
creditworthiness suggests short dated investments in higher credit quality 
establishments will provide better security.  The Council will continue to 
favour security above return.  

 
15.2 Shorter-term interest rates are expected to follow changes in Bank Rate.  
 
 
16.0 TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS AND LIMITS FOR 2024/25 
 
16.1  To comply with both the Prudential Code and Treasury Management 

Code, the Council has to determine and set Prudential and Treasury 

Tudalen 135



Management Indicators in relation to capital expenditure, external debt and 
treasury management activities. The purpose of the indicators is to provide 
a framework for Capital Expenditure decision making. 

 
16.2 To comply with the Codes every Council is required to agree a set of 

prudential indicators prior to the start of the financial year. These indicators 
are prepared by the Chief Finance Officer and presented to Council prior to 
the start of the financial year, and take into account the Council’s budget 
setting process. The indicators cover a three year period and must be 
monitored during the year.  

 
16.3 The indicators are purely for internal use by the Council and are not 

intended for use as comparators (i.e. between Councils) nor should they 
be viewed individually.  The real value will arise as a result of monitoring 
the movement in indicators over time. 

  
16.4 The following indicators are required (by the Prudential Code) to be 

approved and are included in the Capital Strategy: 
• Capital Expenditure 
• Capital Financing Requirement 
• External Debt  
• Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 
• Liability Benchmark  
• Authorised Limit 
• Operational Boundary 
• Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 
• Ratio of Net Income from Commercial and Service Investment to Net 

Revenue Stream 
 

16.5 The following Treasury Management Prudential indicators are required (by 
the Treasury Management Code) to be approved: 
• Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
• Long Term Treasury Management Investments 
• Interest Rate Exposure (optional) 

 
16.6 Indicator : Maturity Structure of Borrowing  
 
16.7 The Maturity Structure of Borrowing indicator sets gross limits to reduce 

the Council’s exposure to large sums falling due for refinancing annually. 
The indicator includes variable rate debt. Where the maturity date of 
borrowing is uncertain, the maturity will be determined by reference to the 
earliest date at which the lender can require repayment. This applies to the 
Council’s LOBO loans which will be deemed to have a maturity date of the 
next call date for risk management purposes. This position continues to be 
under review. 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 136



 
 
 2023/24  

Projected 
Outturn as 

at 31/12/23 

Upper Limit Lower Limit 

Under 12 months 33% 70% 0% 
12 months to 2 years 3% 70% 0% 
2 years to 5 years 10% 70%  0% 
5 years to 10 years 8% 70% 0% 
10 years to 20 years 2% 90% 0% 
20 years to 30 years 18% 90% 0% 
30 years to 40 years 26% 90% 0% 
40 years to 50 years 0% 90% 0% 

 
  
16.8 Indicator : Long Term Treasury Management Investments 
 
16.9 In order to maximise investment returns there may be opportunities for 

sums to be invested for longer than one year. This would only be 
undertaken with a prudent view of the primary considerations of security 
and liquidity. 

16.10 Where a Council invests for treasury management purposes in fixed 
interest instruments for periods longer than a year, the Council will set an 
upper limit for each forward financial year for the maturing of such 
investments.  The Council does not currently have any such investments. 
 
 Upper Limit 

£’M 
Actual 

£’M 
2024/25 25 0 
2025/26 25 0 
2026/27 25 0 

 
  
16.11 Indicator : Interest Rate Exposure   
 
16.12 For measuring the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk, the following 

table shows the revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interest rates (based 
on borrowing and investments as at 31st December 2023): 
 
Interest Rate Risk  Impact 

£M 
One year revenue impact of a 1% 
rise/fall in interest rates 

0.381 

 
16.13 LOBO’s are included as fixed rate debt. Although not a requirement of the 

Prudential Code, an internal limit of LOBO debt is set as follows:  

Tudalen 137



 
 

 £M % of Debt Portfolio 
LOBO limits  50 20 

 
 The amount of LOBO debt held is £31m being 10.8% of our total debt 

portfolio. This internally set limit may be temporarily exceeded as a 
consequence of debt restructuring activities. 

 
 
17.0 THE MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) POLICY STATEMENT 
 
17.1 In accordance with legislative requirements applicable to local government 

(Local Government Act 2003), there is a requirement to charge an amount 
to revenue each year in respect of capital expenditure. This charge is 
known as the "Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)”. 

 
17.2  The implementation of the Prudential Code in 2004 (and subsequent 

updates) provided greater flexibilities for Councils to borrow to fund capital 
projects over and above their previous level of capital approvals - referred 
to as prudential or unsupported borrowing.   
 

17.3 In 2008, and to complement the flexibilities afforded by the Prudential 
Code, Welsh Government amended the Local Authorities (Capital Finance 
and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003 (the ‘Regulations’) to provide 
for a number of differing options for charging to revenue the costs incurred 
in respect of Capital Expenditure.   The regulations also required the 
approval by full Council of this MRP Policy Statement. 

 
17.4 In November 2018 the Welsh Government issued revised guidance on 

MRP, with effect from 1st April 2019. The main amendments to the 
guidance being: 
• A revised definition of a prudent provision – “To ensure that the cost of 

debt is charged to a revenue account over a period that is 
commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure provides 
benefit”; 

• If there is a change in the method of calculating MRP, and the MRP 
reduces, then this does not give rise to an overpayment; 

• Asset lives should not normally exceed 50 years; and 
• MRP extends to investment properties where their acquisition is fully or 

partially funded by an increase in borrowing (as depreciation is not 
charged on investment properties, the depreciation method is not a 
suitable approach). 

 
17.5 Supported Borrowing – The MRP on supported borrowing is written off on 

a straight line basis over 40 years, linked (broadly) to the lives of the 
Council’s assets.  
 

17.6 Unsupported Borrowing - 3 options are detailed: 
• Asset life method (equal instalments); 

Tudalen 138



• Asset life method (annuity method); or 
• Charge in accordance with the depreciation of the asset. 

 
17.7 Each of these methods might be appropriate depending on the type of 

asset being created / funded by Prudential borrowing.  It is also feasible 
that an alternative method might be appropriate (for example, linked to a 
payback period or the period over which the asset provides benefits to the 
Council) - this is also recognised in the relevant Welsh Government 
guidance. 

 
17.8 For capital expenditure loans to third parties that are repaid in annual or 

more frequent instalments of principal, the Council will make nil MRP, and 
will instead apply the capital receipts arising from principal repayments to 
reduce the capital financing requirement.  

 
17.9 The Regulations also allow for the commencement of MRP to be in line 

with the asset being brought into use. Accordingly, a decision upon the 
relevant method to apply should be made as part of the option appraisal 
decision to proceed with any Prudential borrowing on a project by project 
basis. 

   
17.10 Lease schemes and Mutual Investment Models (MIM) - MRP is equivalent 

to the principal value of repayments as detailed in the Welsh Government 
Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision.  

 

18.0 FUNDING OF PROJECTS SUPPORTED BY THE SUSTAINABLE 
COMMUNITIES FOR LEARNING PROGRAMME (FORMERLY, 21ST 
CENTURY SCHOOLS AND COLLEGES PROGRAMME)  

 
18.1  This Council continues to successfully deliver new, improved and modern 

schools to make a significant improvement to the learning environment for 
our young people. 

  
18.2  On the 4th October 2021, Cabinet considered a report which detailed a 

significant increase in the approved Strategic Outline Programme (SOP) 
for Band B of the programme from £167M to £252M. The individual school 
projects were reported as part of that update, which are being funded by a 
combination of WG Grant Funding (at 65%) and the WG Mutual Investment 
Model (MIM) Funding (at 81%, subsequently updated to 83.66%). The 
Council is also responsible for funding fit out costs at 35% for the MIM 
projects. The Council’s contributions are funded using prudential borrowing 
and revenue funding respectively.  

 
18.3  The individual schemes continue to evolve through the Welsh 

Government’s five case business model and approval process, with 
procurement processes running alongside to enable the delivery of 
timetabled on-site development.  
 

Tudalen 139

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/guidance-on-minimum-revenue-provision.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/guidance-on-minimum-revenue-provision.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/guidance-on-minimum-revenue-provision.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/guidance-on-minimum-revenue-provision.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/guidance-on-minimum-revenue-provision.pdf


18.4  Whilst absolute costs are not known until the completion of procurement 
processes and WG approvals, the overall envelope has previously been 
agreed by WG and accordingly the Council’s contributions in line with the 
agreed envelope likewise need to be secured to avoid unnecessary delays 
to the programme.  
 

18.5   The Council’s contributions to the respective funding packages are and will 
continue to be built into the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan and 
Capital Programme accordingly. 

  
18.6  Council has previously agreed the overall level of contribution of £43.2M 

borrowing to fund the full programme in line with the detail set out above 
and up to and within the overall envelope.  Set against this, current 
borrowing amounts to £41.6M. 

 
 
19.0  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS AND SOCIO-ECONOMIC 

DUTY 
 
19.1  Due regard has been given to the Council’s public sector equality duties 

under the Equality Act 2010, namely the Public Sector Equality Duty and 
Socio-Economic Duty, as part of compiling the recommended 2024/25 
Revenue Budget Strategy and recommended new three-year Capital 
Programme (2024/25 to 2026/27).  

 
 
20.0 WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS  
 
20.1 There are no Welsh language implications as a result of the 

recommendations in this report. 
 
 
21.0 CONSULTATION  
 
21.1  Following consideration by Council, this report will be presented to the 

Governance and Audit Committee in line with the laid down Codes of 
Practice and also the Terms of Reference for this Committee.  

 
 
22.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)  
 
22.1 The financial results / implications of the Council’s Treasury Management 

arrangements will be incorporated into quarterly Performance Reports 
during the year.  

 
 
23.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 
 
23.1 The report ensures the Council complies with its legal duty under the Local 

Government Act 2003 and in doing so is in line with the CIPFA Code of 

Tudalen 140



Practice on Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities.  

 
 
24.0 LINKS TO CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT  
 
24.1  This report supports the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan by 

pursuing optimum treasury management performance or return at the 
same time as managing associated risk.  

 
24.2  The report also supports the Well-being of Future Generations Act in 

particular ‘a globally responsible Wales’ through responsible management 
and investment of the Council’s resources.  

 
 
25.0 CONCLUSIONS 
 
25.1 This report provides the Council's Treasury Management Strategy, 

Investment Strategy, Treasury Management Indicators and MRP policy for 
2024/25.  

 
25.2 With regard to the Treasury Management Strategy, a cautious approach 

will continue to be followed.  The Section 151 Officer (or in his absence the 
Deputy Section 151 Officer) will monitor the interest rate environment and 
adopt a pragmatic approach to any changing circumstances, in 
consultation with the Council's independent treasury advisors. 

 
25.3 With regard to the Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators, these 

will be monitored throughout the financial year with details reported to 
Members as part of the Council's quarterly performance reporting 
framework and scrutiny process.  

 
 
          
 
 
 

Other information:  
Relevant Scrutiny Committee – Governance and Audit Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 141



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
 

AS AMENDED BY 
 
 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

  
COUNCIL 6TH MARCH 2024  

 
 

REPORT OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE & GROUP DIRECTOR -  
FINANCE, DIGITAL & FRONTLINE SERVICES  

 
 

Item: 2024/25 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY INCORPORATING 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY, TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS AND 

MRP STATEMENT  
 
 

Background Papers  
 

• 6th March 2024 Council meeting – Report: 2024/25 Capital Strategy report  
 

• 6th March 2024 Council meeting – Report: The Council’s Capital Programme 
2024/25 – 2026/27.  
 

• 6th March 2024 Council meeting – Report: The Council’s 2024/25 Revenue 
Budget  

 
Officer to contact: Barrie Davies (Deputy Chief Executive & Group Director -  
Finance, Digital & Frontline Services)  
 
 

***** 
 

Tudalen 142



 
 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023 / 2024 
 

COUNCIL 
 

6th March 2024 
  

2024/25 CAPITAL STRATEGY REPORT INCORPORATING PRUDENTIAL 
INDICATORS 

 
 

REPORT OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE & GROUP DIRECTOR -  
FINANCE, DIGITAL &  FRONTLINE SERVICES  
AUTHOR:- BARRIE DAVIES (01443) 424026 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the Capital Strategy report is to provide a high level overview 

of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity 
contribute to the provision of Council services along with an overview of the 
associated risk, its management and the implications for future financial 
sustainability.  

 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that Members: 
 

2.1 Approve the Capital Strategy report incorporating the Prudential Indicators. 
 

 
3.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION  
 
3.1  To ensure compliance with the 2021 edition of the Prudential Code requiring 

local authorities to produce a Capital Strategy Report.  
 
  

Tudalen 143

Agendwm 10



4.0  BACKGROUND  
 
4.1 The framework established by the Prudential Code1 supports local strategic 

planning, local asset management planning and option appraisal. The 
objectives of the Prudential code are to ensure that a local authority’s : 
 

• Capital and investment plans are affordable and proportionate; 
• External borrowing and other long-term liabilities are within prudent and 

sustainable levels; 
• The risks associated with investments for commercial purposes are 

proportionate to their financial capacity; and 
• Treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 

professional practice.  
 
4.2 The Council has developed this Capital Strategy document to support its 

strategic and financial planning arrangements, and also complement other key 
strategies and plans in place. The Capital Strategy does not duplicate 
information included within other key strategies and plans such as the Treasury 
Management Strategy, Three Year Capital Programme and Corporate Plan, 
and should be read in conjunction with them.  

 
4.3 The Council’s Capital Strategy covers the following areas:  

 
• Strategic Context  
• Capital Expenditure and Financing  
• Asset Management  
• Asset Disposals  
• Treasury Management 
• Other Long Term Liabilities 
• Revenue Budget Implications 
• Knowledge and Skills 

 
 

5.0  STRATEGIC CONTEXT  
 
5.1  The Council’s Capital Strategy is inherently linked to and informed by other key 

strategy documents.  
 
 
 The Council’s Corporate Plan 
 
5.2  Capital investment decisions made by the Council are guided by the long term 

priorities and ambition set out within the Corporate Plan.  Whilst the current plan 
is in the process of being updated, the vision set out in the 2020-24 plan “Making 
a Difference” has served us well in guiding our investment activities which sets 
out our ambition through a vision ‘To be the best place in Wales to live, work and 

 
1 Prudential Code - produced by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and is underpinned by the 
Local Government Act 2003 and the Capital Financing Regulations (Wales) 2004  

Tudalen 144



play, where people and businesses are independent, healthy, and prosperous’ 
and focussing on three priorities:  

 
1. Ensuring People: are independent, healthy and successful;  
2. Creating Places: where people are proud to live, work and play; and 
3. Enabling Prosperity: creating the opportunity for people and businesses    

to: be innovative; be entrepreneurial; and fulfil their potential and 
prosper.  

 
The forthcoming new Corporate Plan will guide our future investment and 
resource allocation decisions and provide us with the opportunity to consider and 
appropriately prioritise our resources going forward. 

 
Other Key Strategies and Plans  
 

5.3  The Council also has a number of other key strategies and plans that inform 
service delivery and its programme of capital investment. These include2:  

 
• Revenue Budget Strategy – setting out the Council’s annual revenue budget 

requirement that includes its Capital Financing budget to support the delivery 
of the Capital Programme. The Revenue Budget Strategy 2024/25 is to be 
considered by full Council on 6th March 2024. 

 
• Three Year Capital Programme – setting out capital expenditure plans and 

funding. The Capital Programme 2024/25 to 2026/27 is to be considered by full 
Council on 6th March 2024.  
 

• Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) – setting out a forecast of revenue 
spending and funding for the period 2023/24 to 2026/27. The latest MTFP can 
be viewed by clicking here and references, amongst other things, the proactive 
strategy the Council has adopted in recent years to identify a range of budget 
saving options to address the budget gap.  
 

• Treasury Management Strategy – reported alongside this Capital Strategy.  
 

• Annual Self-Assessment 2022/23 Incorporating the Council’s Draft Corporate 
Performance Report and approved by full Council on 17th January 2024.  
  

• Corporate Asset Management Plan, Climate Change and Carbon Reduction 
Plans, Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme (formerly 21st 
Century Schools), Regeneration Plans and Highways Improvement 
Programme.  
 

• Service Delivery Plans – a plan for designated service areas setting out key 
priorities, measures and risks.  
 

 
2 A brief summary of the strategy or plan is provided, where appropriate / not covered elsewhere within the Capital Strategy 

Tudalen 145

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g50004652/Public%20reports%20pack%2020th-Sep-2023%2016.00%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g50004654/Public%20reports%20pack%2017th-Jan-2024%2017.00%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


• Cwm Taf Morgannwg Well-Being Plan 2023 – 2028 – this being a long term 
partnership plan for the Cwm Taf Morgannwg area (Rhondda Cynon Taf, 
Merthyr Tydfil and Bridgend) in line with the Well-Being of Future Generations 
Act. The Cwm Taf Morgannwg Well-being Plan can be viewed by clicking  here. 
 

5.4  The importance of on-going investment has been recognised by the Council with 
over £161M already invested (over and above the normal Capital Programme) 
in areas supporting key Corporate Plan priorities since October 2015, and more 
recently £7.7M of investment being agreed by Council in September 2023 and 
further investment of £19.3M included in the updated Capital Programme 
2024/25 to 2026/27. 

 
 
6.  CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCING  
  
6.1 Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets such as 

property or vehicles that will be used for more than one year. The Council does 
have some limited discretion over what it deems to be capital expenditure, for 
example, assets costing less than £10k are not capitalised and are charged to 
revenue in-year.  
 
Capital Programme 2024/25 to 2026/27 

6.2  The Council is to consider an updated capital programme on 6th March 2024 
totalling £165.630M investment over three years.  

 
6.3  All capital expenditure must be financed either from external sources (e.g. grants 

and third party contributions), the Council’s own resources (e.g. revenue and 
capital receipts) or borrowing (e.g. loans, leasing). A summary of available capital 
resources for the Capital Programme 2024/25 to 2026/27 is included at ‘Indicator 
1 : Capital Expenditure’. 

 
6.4  The Council’s Capital Programme continues to provide a long term funding 

commitment to the economic regeneration and well-being of the County Borough 
and in doing so supports the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities. 

 
6.5 In addition to the above, sustained investment has been maintained across a 

range of funding streams, supported by external funding and the Corporate Plan 
Investment Priorities. This has enabled a wide range of regeneration activity to 
be delivered to benefit the local economy. 

 
6.6 The Council will continue to work with partners to develop and progress exciting 

and innovative schemes such as: 
 
• The redevelopment of key sites in the Southern Gateway Quarter in 

Pontypridd town centre including the former Bingo Hall site and former M&S, 
Burton and Dorothy Perkins site; 

• Townscape Enhancements across our key town centres – a targeted 
approach to acquiring, redeveloping and upgrading town centre buildings 
for increased business and commercial use and continuing to improve the 

Tudalen 146

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s40494/Report.pdf?LLL=0


quality of the townscape providing business investment and employment 
growth. This will be supported by the development and delivery of strategies 
and placemaking plans for our key town centres; 

• The former Rates Building redevelopment and plans to redevelop the Rock 
Grounds Buildings are being brought forward as part of the Aberdare Town 
Centre Strategy;  

• Sources of investment post EU funds are being accessed to bring forward 
projects such as the UK Government Levelling Up Fund where successful 
bids have been made for the Muni Arts Centre Redevelopment, Porth 
Transport Hub and A4119 Dualling projects and also the UK Government 
Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) where delivering the RCT SPF Local 
Investment Plan is a key priority; 

• The long-term strategic investment school modernisation programme, 
creating environments that meet the needs of learners and our communities, 
providing the best learning provision and supporting positive outcomes for 
young people and the wider community;   

• The successful delivery of the Council’s extra care strategy including 
residential dementia care, a fourth new accommodation for adults with 
learning disabilities, and investment in the Council’s own care homes.  The 
strategy will lead to the development of a more sustainable model of 
residential services providing the best possible care and support; 

• Leisure Centres, parks and play areas – an on-going programme of 
investment to provide upgraded, modern and safe facilities for residents to 
use, enjoy and support their health and well-being; and   

• Deliver strategic projects for major economic infrastructure investment and 
a programme of multi-modal transport enhancements ranging from 
sustainable travel initiatives to encourage walking and cycling, park and ride 
facilities, “making better use” enhancements, road safety and drainage 
improvements. 

 
6.7 There is a statutory duty under the Local Government Act 2003 for the Council 

to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to borrow. The 
Council must have due regard to the Prudential Code when setting its 
affordable borrowing limit (“Authorised Limit”). This requires the Council to 
ensure that total capital investment and borrowing remains affordable, 
proportionate, sustainable and prudent.  

 
6.8 To comply with both the Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code, the 

Council must determine and set Prudential and Treasury Management 
Indicators in relation to capital expenditure, external debt, investments and 
treasury management activities. The purpose of the indicators is to provide a 
framework for Capital Expenditure decision making. 

 
6.9 To comply with the Codes, every Council is required to agree a set of prudential 

indicators prior to the start of the financial year. These indicators must be 
prepared by the Chief Finance Officer, presented to Council, and align with the 
budget setting process. The indicators cover a three year period and must be 
monitored during the year.  

 

Tudalen 147



6.10 The indicators are purely for internal use by the Council and are not intended 
for use as comparators (i.e. between Councils) nor should they be viewed 
individually.  The real value will arise as a result of monitoring the movement in 
indicators over time. 

 
6.11 Capital Expenditure is predominantly funded by Welsh Government support, 

capital grants and capital resources. General capital funding from the Welsh 
Government takes the form of General Capital Grant plus “supported 
borrowing”. The remaining balance of expenditure will form a borrowing need 
and be classed as unsupported and will have an impact on the Council’s budget 
requirement (unless extra borrowing costs are funded through existing 
budgets).  

 
6.12 The following indicators are required (by the Prudential Code) to be approved: 

• Capital Expenditure 
• Capital Financing Requirement 
• External Debt 
• Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 
• Liability Benchmark  
• Authorised Limit 
• Operational Boundary 
• Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 
• Ratio of Net Income from Commercial and Service Investments to Net 

Revenue Stream  
 

Capital Expenditure and the Capital Financing Requirement 
 
6.13 The Capital Expenditure plans of the Council will be financed through various 

sources such as capital resources, grants and other contributions. The 
remaining element which cannot be immediately financed from resources will 
constitute our borrowing requirement. The estimated level of available capital 
resources is provided in summary as the Capital Expenditure Indicators below. 
 
Indicator 1 : Capital Expenditure  

 2023/24 
Projected 

Outturn 
£M 

2024/25 
Estimate 

 
£M 

2025/26 
Estimate 

 
£M 

2026/27 
Estimate 

 
£M 

Supported spend 168.786 119.078 18.714 14.700 
Unsupported 
spend 

24.930 12.157 0.981 0.000 

Total spend 193.716 131.235 19.695 14.700 
  Financed by:- 
Borrowing 31.780 18.979 7.803 6.822 
Other Capital 
Resources (e.g. 
Grants, Capital 
Receipts) 

161.936 112.256 11.892 7.878 

Tudalen 148



 
6.14 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) represents the Council’s underlying 

need to borrow for capital purposes.  The CFR is capital expenditure that has 
not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. 

 
6.15 The expected movement in the CFR over the next three years is dependent on 

the level of supported and unsupported capital expenditure and decisions taken 
during the budgeting cycle.  

 
6.16 The unsupported element of borrowing relates to the capital expenditure 

freedom allowed under the Prudential Code and enables Councils, subject to 
agreed reporting and approval arrangements, to enter into projects such as 
"spend to save" schemes or decisions to allocate additional resource from 
revenue to capital, to enable service / asset enhancements. Members have 
shown their willingness to use this option for schemes such as investment in 
schools and highways. 

 
6.17 The main factor limiting the Council’s ability to undertake unsupported capital 

expenditure is whether the revenue resource is available to support in full the 
implications of capital expenditure, i.e. both borrowing costs and running costs.  
In other words, can the Council afford the implications of the unsupported 
capital expenditure?  

6.18 The Council’s expectations for the CFR in the next three years is shown below.  
 
 Indicator 2 : Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)   

    
 2023/24 

31/03/24 
Projected 

Outturn 
£M 

2024/25 
31/03/25 
Estimate 

 
£M 

2025/26 
31/03/26
Estimate 

 
£M 

2026/27 
31/03/27 
Estimate 

 
£M 

CFR  519.553 578.877 569.009 557.509 
Net movement in CFR  59.324 (9.868) (11.500) 

 
6.19 CFR estimate for 2024/25 onwards includes the impact of IFRS 16 and the 

Mutual Investment Model (MIM), please refer to paragraph 6.22 for further 
details. 

 
6.20 A key risk is that the level of Welsh Government support has been estimated 

and is, therefore, subject to change.  Similarly, some of the estimates for other 
sources of funding, such as capital receipts, may also be subject to change 
over this time. Officers will continue to monitor the totality of capital resources 
and will report back to Members if further action is required. 

6.21 The expected external debt for each year is as detailed below.  
 
 
 

Tudalen 149



 Indicator 3: External Debt         
    

 2023/24 
31/03/24 

Projected 
Outturn 

£M 

2024/25 
31/03/25 
Estimate 

 
£M 

2025/26 
31/03/26 
Estimate 

 
£M 

2026/27 
31/03/27
Estimate 

 
£M 

Borrowing 283.423 352.004 361.585 366.166 
Other long term 
liabilities  0.581 56.812 55.539 54.215 

Total External 
 Debt  31st March 284.004 408.816 417.124 420.381 

Net movement in 
External Debt  124.812 8.308 3.257 

    
 6.22 Other Long Term Liabilities from 2024/25 includes an estimate of the Council’s 

future lease liabilities and liabilities in relation to Sustainable Communities for 
Learning Mutual Investment Model (MIM) schemes in accordance with 
mandatory accounting changes.   

 
 Limits to Borrowing Activity 

 
6.23 The first key control over the Council’s borrowing activity is to ensure that, over 

the medium term, borrowing will only be for a capital purpose. The Council 
needs to ensure that external borrowing does not exceed the total of the capital 
financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimate of the additional 
capital financing requirement for the next three financial years. This allows 
some flexibility within a three-year period to deliver an effective treasury 
management strategy. 

 
Indicator 4: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 

 2023/24 
31/03/24 

Projected 
Outturn 

£M 

2024/25 
31/03/25 
Estimate 

 
£M 

2025/26 
31/03/26 
Estimate 

 
£M 

2026/27 
31/03/27 
Estimate 

 
£M 

Gross 
Borrowing 284.004 408.816 417.124 420.381 

Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 

519.553 578.877 569.009 557.509 

 
6.24 As the above shows, gross borrowing is below the relevant CFR for current and 

future years. This is termed “under-borrowing”. This view takes into account 
current commitments, existing plans and the proposals in the latest 3-year 
capital programme. Again, this indicator will be monitored and reported to 

Tudalen 150



Council during the three-year period, including the incorporation of revisions if 
deemed necessary.  

 
6.25 The Liability Benchmark is calculated to show the lowest risk level of borrowing 

where cash and investment balances are kept to a minimum of £10M at each 
year end to maintain sufficient liquidity but minimise credit risk. 

 
6.26 The liability benchmark is an important tool to help establish whether the 

Council is likely to be a long-term borrower or long-term investor in the future, 
and in doing so shapes its strategic focus and decision making. The liability 
benchmark itself represents an estimate of the cumulative amount of external 
borrowing the Council must hold to fund its current capital and revenue plans 
while keeping treasury investments at the minimum level required to manage 
day-to-day cash flow. The following chart is based on the current 3 year capital 
programme and assumes that there is no further capital expenditure after this 
period. 

 
Indicator 5 : Liability Benchmark  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
* The loans CFR in the above table does not include any finance leases or the MIM schemes 

as there is no net cash effect. 

 
31/03/23 

Actual 
£m 

31/03/24 
Estimate 

£m 

31/03/25 
Estimate 

£m 

31/03/26 
Estimate 

£m 

31/03/27 
Estimate 

£m 
Loans CFR * 502.8 521.2 522.07 513.47 503.29 
Less: Balance 
sheet resources (321.0) (231.0) (141.0) (111.0) (111.0) 

Net loans 
requirement 181.8 290.2 381.07 402.47 392.29 
Plus: Liquidity 
allowance 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 

Liability 
benchmark 191.8 300.2 391.07 412.47 402.29 

Tudalen 151



 
 
6.27 Explanation of the Chart: 

• Loans CFR – this is the total CFR minus the amounts that are met by 
other long term liabilities e.g. lease liabilities. 

• Fixed Rate Loans and LOBOs – this represents the level of long-term 
borrowing based on the maturity profile of the current loans portfolio 

• Net Loans Requirement – this is the forecast level of net borrowing 
calculated as external borrowing minus treasury investments. 

• Liability Benchmark – this is the net loans requirement plus an allowance 
for liquidity. The liability benchmark represents the lowest level of 
borrowing taking into account credit, liquidity and market risks. 

 
6.28 Where the actual borrowing is lower than the liability benchmark, 2024-2036, 

the Council will take short term borrowing for cash flow management. This is in 
line with the advice from our treasury management advisers to use internal 
balances and borrow short term. 

 
6.29 The Authorised Limit represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, 

and needs to be set, monitored and revised by Council.  It reflects the maximum 
level of borrowing to fund existing capital commitments, which could be afforded 
in the short term, but is not sustainable.  It is the expected maximum borrowing 
need, with some added headroom for unexpected movements. 

 
6.30 This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 

Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either the 

Tudalen 152



total of all Councils’ plans or those of a specific Council. The Government has 
not yet exercised this control. 

 
Indicator 6 : The Authorised Limit  

 
 

2023/24 
31/03/24 

Projected 
Outturn 

£M 

2024/25 
31/03/25 
Estimate 

 
£M 

2025/26 
31/03/26 
Estimate 

 
£M 

2026/27 
31/03/27 
Estimate 

 
£M 

Gross Borrowing 
Limit 283.423 502.000 512.000 517.000 

Other long term 
liabilities  0.581 86.000 85.000 83.000 

Authorised Limit 284.004 588.000 597.000 600.000 

 
6.31 The Operational Boundary is based on the probable external debt during the 

course of the year; actual borrowing could vary around this boundary, for short 
times, during the year. It should act as an indicator to ensure the Authorised 
Limit is not breached. 

 
Indicator 7 : The Operational Boundary 

 2023/24 
31/03/24 

Projected 
Outturn 

£M 

2024/25 
31/03/25 
Estimate 

 
£M  

2025/26 
31/03/26 
Estimate 

 
£M 

2026/27 
31/03/27 
Estimate 

 
£M 

Gross Borrowing  283.423 360.000 365.000 370.000 
Other long term 
liabilities  0.581 57.000 56.000 54.000 

Operational 
Boundary 284.004 417.000 421.000 424.000 

 
  

Affordability Prudential Indicators 
 
6.32 Previous sections have covered overall capital and control of borrowing 

indicators, but there is also a requirement to assess the affordability of capital 
investment plans.   This provides an indication of the impact of the capital 
investment plans on the overall Council finances.   

 
6.33 The Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream identifies the trend in the 

cost of capital (borrowing costs net of interest and investment income), against 
the "net revenue stream", with lease liabilities for IFRS 16 and MIM now 
included in this ratio from 2024/25. The net revenue stream for the General 

Tudalen 153



Fund is the amount collectable from Council Tax-payers added to the Council's 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Non Domestic Rates (NDR). The key use 
of this indicator is to compare trends in the ratio of financing costs to the net 
revenue stream, over time. 

 
Indicator 8 : Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

 
 2023/24 

Comparator 
2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

General Fund 4.54% 5.22% 5.45% 5.43% 
 
6.34 The Ratio of Net Income from Commercial and Service Investments to Net 

Revenue Stream identifies the net income from financial and commercial 
investments (other than treasury management investments) and is intended to 
show the financial exposure of the Council to the loss of income. Direct costs 
of the investment may be netted off. 

 
Indicator 9 : Ratio of Net Income from Commercial and Service 
Investments to Net Revenue Stream 

 
 2023/24 

Comparator 
2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

General Fund 0.28% 0.32% 0.31% 0.31% 
 

 Governance  
 
6.35 The rolling Three Year Capital Programme is constructed in line with the 

Council’s agreed strategies and plans on an annual basis, reviewed by Cabinet 
and if deemed acceptable, is recommended to full Council for approval each 
year.  

 
6.36   Throughout the year, capital programme updates are made public through the 

Council’s quarterly Performance Reports that are reported to Cabinet for 
approval and thereafter scrutinised by the Governance and Audit Committee.  

 
 
7.0  ASSET MANAGEMENT  
 
7.1 To ensure that capital assets are managed in a proactive and efficient way, and 

continue to be of long-term use, the Council has a Corporate Asset 
Management Plan (CAMP). The CAMP outlines the vision and approach to the 
strategic management of the assets of the Council and sets out the primary 
aims: to maximise the benefits derived from the Council’s land and buildings; 
to support the delivery of its priorities; to meet service requirements; and to 
comply with regulatory and statutory duties.  An updated CAMP is due to be 
prepared alongside the new Corporate Plan. 

 
 
 

Tudalen 154



8.0 ASSET DISPOSALS  
 
8.1 When a capital asset is no longer needed it may be sold so that proceeds, 

 known as capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or to repay debt. Capital 
receipts are used as part of the overall General Fund Capital Resources to fund 
the Capital Programme 2024/25 to 2026/27 as set out below.  Capital receipts 
are used to fund the Capital Programme across years and so the figures below 
will not align with those estimated to be received within each year as included 
in the CAMP. 
 

 2024/25 
Estimate 

£M 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£M 

2026/27 
Estimate 

£M 
General Fund Capital 
Resources  

14.925 1.521 0.872 

 
 
9.0 TREASURY MANAGEMENT  
 
9.1 CIPFA defines Treasury Management as “The management of the Local 

Authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, including its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.”  

 
9.2  Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive 

cash available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks 
involved. Surplus cash is invested until required, while a shortage of cash will 
be met by borrowing, to avoid excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the 
Council’s bank current account.  

 
9.3  The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Incorporating Investment 

Strategy, Treasury Management Indicators and Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) Statement for 2024/25 (from hereon, the Treasury Management 
Strategy) is being considered alongside this report.  

  
 Borrowing Strategy  
 
9.4 The Council’s policy will continue to be to maximise “internal borrowing”, 

running down cash balances and foregoing interest earned. We will though take 
the opportunity to lock in longer term debt as and when the opportunity arises, 
in line with advice from our Treasury Advisors. 

 
9.5  Where the Council does need to borrow to fund the Capital Programme, its 

main objective is to achieve a low but certain cost of finance while retaining 
flexibility should there be changes in the financial market. The Council seeks a 
balance between lower cost short term loans and longer-term fixed rate loans 
where the future cost is known and secured.  

  
 

Tudalen 155



 Investment Strategy 
 
9.6 The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity 

over yield and to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns.  
 
9.7 The Council complies with paragraphs 51-53 of the Prudential Code, in respect 

of prudence in borrowing and investment, in that the Council will: 
• Not borrow to invest primarily for financial return. 
• Not make any investment or spending decision that will increase the 

CFR unless directly and primarily related to the functions of the Council  
and where any financial returns are either consequential to supporting 
the viability of the project in question or otherwise incidental to the 
primary purpose. 

• Comply with PWLB rules for lending. 
• Review options for exiting financial investments for commercial 

purposes in the annual treasury management or investment strategies 
(noting that Rhondda Cynon Taf Council originally acquired one asset 
for service delivery purposes (i.e. Ty Dysgu at Cefn Coed Business Park, 
Nantgarw); this has subsequently been re-classified as a commercial 
investment, following a change of use and will be kept under on-going 
review in line with the requirements of the Prudential Code).  
 
 

9.8 The Welsh Government statutory guidance on Local Government Investments 
categorises investments as either Financial or Non-Financial. Financial 
investments can be further sub categorised into Specified, Loans and Non 
Specified. The updated Prudential and Treasury Management Codes 
categorise investments as Commercial Investments, Service Investments or 
Treasury Management Investments. Details of the Council’s Investment 
Strategy is set out within its Treasury Management Strategy. 

 
9.9  Cash that is likely to be spent in the near term is invested with the Debt 

Management Office (DMO) and other public bodies. Longer term investments 
include lending to organisations, subject to S151 officer determination, 
following appropriate due diligence and are subject to appropriate and 
acceptable security arrangements. These type of investments provide support 
for the delivery of investment aligned to the Council’s own strategic objectives.  

 
 Commercialisation 
 
9.10 This section sets out the Council’s high-level approach and appetite for 

commercial opportunities: 
 

• Property acquisitions will be regeneration led and whilst there may be a  
commercial aspect, that is very much a by-product of our regeneration 
priority where, for example, public ownership will maximise the potential for 
property to be brought back into use, improve the viability and sustainability 
of our town centres and guard against properties being mothballed and a 
blight on our town centres and communities; 

Tudalen 156



• We will not acquire assets outside of Rhondda Cynon Taf, other than via 
the auspices of the Cardiff Capital Region Joint Committee and the South 
East Wales Corporate Joint Committee, where the asset is of regional 
significance; 

• In line with our Treasury Management Strategy we will lend to other public 
sector organisations for the purpose of supporting and enabling them to 
contribute positively to our own corporate priorities and deliver projects from 
which the Council, our residents and communities will benefit.  We will not 
lend money solely for income generation; 

• We will continue to operate in the commercial market place where we have 
historically been a service provider, for example Trade Waste, Building 
Regulations, Waste Disposal and providing services to other public bodies, 
including local Registered Social Landlords. We will not develop our 
services to enter market places where there is sufficient supply and 
alternative providers other than where we can provide significant and 
demonstrable benefit to our residents, businesses and communities. We 
will continue to deploy our Community Asset Transfer arrangements as part 
of our work with communities and the voluntary sector to explore alternative 
delivery models to maintain services and facilities. 

9.11    We summarise our approach further in the table below. 
 

Commercial 
Skills 

Our staff development activities and programmes will 
incorporate opportunities for our staff to develop and 
enhance their commercial awareness and exploit 
opportunities, including appropriate risk management; 

Efficient and 
Effective 
Organisation 

Already a pillar within our Corporate Plan, our robust self-
assessment and service delivery planning arrangements 
will require all our services to consider commercial 
opportunities; 

Procurement We will ensure that our purchasing activities are focussed 
on achieving best value and will negotiate the best deals 
we can secure for the Council taking into account both 
cost and quality considerations. In doing so, we will also 
consider opportunities to ensure that local suppliers and 
service providers have the opportunity to compete for 
contracts we bring to the market and that we are socially 
responsible and contribute to reduce our carbon footprint; 

Use of Assets We will take advantage of our existing scale, breadth of 
activities and our asset base to identify opportunities 
where we can add value and generate income whilst not 
adversely destabilising existing markets and where the 
private sector can already provide excellence at good 
value; 

Charging We will continue to review and update our charging policy 
annually as part of setting our budget and seek to 
balance income generation alongside provision of our 

Tudalen 157



valued services at affordable prices and not seek to 
disincentivise our customers based on price; 

Trading We will continue to trade commercially through our wholly 
owned company, Amgen, seeking opportunities to extend 
trading operations and maximise income generation and 
profit; 

Investing We will invest in line with the prudential code principles 
where it is prudent, sustainable, affordable and 
proportionate; we will lend commercially where there are 
clear service and/or regeneration benefits which align 
with the Council’s priorities; 

 
 

9.12 Decision making on commercial activities will be in line with the Council’s 
constitution, approved strategies and policies and will in all instances be with 
the express approval of the Council’s Section 151 Officer and the Director of 
Legal and Democratic Services. 

   
 Governance  
 
9.13  Decisions on investments are made by the S151 Officer in line with the criteria 

and limits approved by Council in the Treasury Management Strategy. Property 
and other regeneration and commercial investments can be capital expenditure 
and therefore will be approved via the appropriate decision-making 
arrangements. 

 
9.14  Following approval by full Council, the Treasury Management Strategy and the 

Capital Strategy Report incorporating Prudential Indicators are reported to the 
Governance and Audit Committee at the start of each financial year. A Mid-Year 
Treasury Management Stewardship Report and an Annual Treasury 
Management Review Report (following year-end) are reported to full Council 
and thereafter scrutinised by the Governance and Audit Committee. The role of 
scrutiny is a specific requirement of the laid down code of practice “CIPFA 
Treasury Management in the Public Services 2021” and also the Terms of 
Reference for the Governance and Audit Committee.  

 
 
10.0 OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES  
 
10.1 The Council is committed to making future payments to cover its pension fund 

liabilities (deficit) on the Pensions Reserve of £127M within the Council’s 
balance sheet, under unusable reserves, and in line with actuarial valuations.  

 
10.2 The Council has short term and long term provisions set aside amounting to 

£4.5M, the majority of which (£3.5M) is to cover Insurance claims.   
  
10.3 The Council’s latest audited Statement of Accounts for the 2022/23 financial 

year can be viewed by clicking here. 
 

Tudalen 158

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/RelatedDocuments/StatementofAccounts/202223/StatementofAccounts2022to2023.pdf


10.4 The 2024/25 CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting has been 
updated for a mandatory change in the accounting rules for leases. The lessee 
will account for a lease by including in its balance sheet a right-of-use asset 
representing the economic benefits and service potential over which it has 
obtained control for the term of the lease, together with a liability for the 
payments it will make for the acquisition of those rights. This means that 
included within Other Long Term Liabilities will be estimated figures for lease 
liabilities, with the right of use value for the underlying asset of the lease being 
included within the CFR. Previously only finance leases were accounted for on 
the balance sheet of lessees.  

 
10.5 The mandatory accounting changes for leases are also applicable to schools 

funded by the Mutual Investment Model (MIM) within the Sustainable 
Communities for Learning programme. 

 
 

  11.0     REVENUE BUDGET IMPLICATIONS  
 
11.1    The Council’s borrowing or debt is only a temporary source of finance, since 

loans and leases must be repaid over time, usually from Revenue which is 
known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The interest costs and 
principal repayment of debt, net of any investment income, are known as 
financing costs and are determined in line with the Council’s MRP policy.  

 
11.2 The Council’s net capital charges form part of the revenue budget and actual 

spend against budget is reported to Cabinet as part of quarterly Performance 
Reports. They are also set out within the Mid-Year Treasury Management 
Stewardship Report and Annual Treasury Management Review Report. The 
Council also has a Treasury Management Earmarked Reserve in order to 
mitigate short / medium term volatility against this budget.   

 
 
12.0    KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS 
  
12.1 The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior 

positions with responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and 
investment decisions, in line with approved strategies and statutory / regulatory 
requirements. The Council also employ Treasury Management advisors to 
provide a range of specialist services including training for elected Members 
and officers, interest rate analysis, investment advice and technical support. 

 
 
13.0  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS AND SOCIO-ECONOMIC 

DUTY 
 
13.1  Due regard has been given to the Council’s public sector equality duties under 

the Equality Act 2010, namely the Public Sector Equality Duty and Socio-
Economic Duty, as part of compiling the recommended new three-year Capital 
Programme (2024/25 to 2026/27).  

 

Tudalen 159



 
14.0 WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1 There are no Welsh language implications as a result of the recommendations 

in this report. 
 

 
15.0 CONSULTATION  
 
15.1  Subject to approval of the Capital Strategy, this Report will be presented to the 

Governance and Audit Committee for review, challenge and where deemed 
required, the scrutiny of specific areas in more detail.  

 
 
16.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)  
 
16.1 The financial results / implications of the Council’s Treasury Management 

arrangements will be incorporated into quarterly Performance Reports during 
the year.   

 
 
17.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 
 
17.1 The report ensures the Council complies with its legal duty under the Local 

Government Act 2003 and in doing so is in line with the CIPFA Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
in Local Authorities.  

 
 
18.0 LINKS TO CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE WELL-

BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT  
 
18.1  This report supports the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan by pursuing 

optimum treasury management, capital and revenue performance or return at 
the same time as managing associated risk.  

 
18.2  The report also supports the Well-being of Future Generations Act in particular 

‘a globally responsible Wales’ through responsible management and 
investment of the Council’s resources.  

 
 
19.0 CONCLUSIONS 
  
19.1  The Capital Strategy Report incorporating Prudential Indicators sets out a high 

level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of Council services along with 
an overview of the associated risk, its management and the implications for 
future financial sustainability.  

 

Tudalen 160



19.2 With regards to the Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators, these will 
be monitored throughout the financial year with details reported to Members as 
part of the Council's quarterly performance reporting arrangements and scrutiny 
process. 

 
 

Other information:  
Relevant Scrutiny Committee – Governance and Audit Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 161



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
 

AS AMENDED BY 
 
 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

COUNCIL 6th MARCH 2024  
 
 
REPORT OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE & GROUP DIRECTOR - 
FINANCE, DIGITAL & FRONTLINE SERVICES  

 
 

Item: 2024/25 CAPITAL STRATEGY REPORT INCORPORATING PRUDENTIAL 
INDICATORS    

 
 

Background Papers  
 

 
• 6th March 2024 Council meeting – Report: The Council’s Capital Programme 

2024/25 – 2026/27.  
 

• 6th March 2024 Council meeting – Report: The Council’s 2024/25 Revenue Budget.  
 

• 6th March 2024 Council meeting – Report: Treasury Management Strategy 
incorporating Investment Strategy, Treasury Management Indicators and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Statement for 2024/25 

 
Officer to contact: Barrie Davies (Deputy Chief Executive & Group Director -  
Finance, Digital & Frontline Services)  

 
 
 
 

 
******************* 

Tudalen 162



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023/24 
 

COUNCIL  
 

                                             6th MARCH 2024 
 

 
 

THE COUNCIL’S 2024/25 PAY POLICY STATEMENT 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HUMAN RESOURCES AND THE 
DIRECTOR OF LEGAL & DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 
Authors:  
Richard Evans, Director of Human Resources   
Andrew Wilkins, Director of Legal & Democratic Services 
 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with information in respect of 

the Council’s 2024/25 Pay Policy Statement. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 It is recommended that Council approves, the Pay Policy Statement at 

Appendix A of this report. 
 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 

3.1 To respond to the legal requirement under the Localism Act 2011. 
 

3.2 The production of the pay policy statement also provides openness and 
accountability in how the Council rewards its employees. 
 

4. BACKGROUND 
 
4.1 Under Section 38(1) of the Localism Act 2011 (the ‘Act’), the Council is 

required to produce a pay policy statement, which must be prepared each 
financial year.  

 
4.2 Employees who are appointed and directly managed by Governing Bodies are 

not required to be included within the scope of Pay Policy Statements as the 
provisions in the Localism Act (2011) only apply to employees appointed and 
directly managed by the Council. This reflects the requirements contained 
within the Staffing of Maintained Schools (Wales) Regulations (2006) where 
school-based staff are considered to be employees of the Council, yet the 
appointment and management of this staff group is discharged to the 
Governing Body.  

 

Tudalen 163

Agendwm 11



However, in the interests of consistency and transparency, the staff and pay 
data set out within this Pay Policy Statement includes information relating to 
those who are appointed and managed by Governing Bodies.  

 
4.3 Each local authority is an individual employer in its own right and has the 

autonomy to make decisions on pay that are appropriate to local 
circumstances and which deliver value for money for local taxpayers. The 
provisions in the Act do not seek to change this or to determine what 
decisions on pay should be taken or what policies individual employing 
authorities should have in place. Rather, they only require that authorities are 
open about their own local policies and how local decisions are made. 
 

4.4 The Act requires that the Council include in its pay policy statement, its 
approach to the publication and access to information relating to the 
remuneration of chief officers. Remuneration includes salary or payment for a 
contract for services, expenses, bonuses, and performance related pay as 
well as severance payments. The definition of chief officers includes the head 
of paid service, statutory chief officers and non-statutory chief officers and 
those who report to them. 

 
4.5 Section 38(2) of the Act also requires the Council to set out its policy on 

remuneration for its highest paid staff alongside its policies towards its lowest 
paid employees. 

 
4.6 The Council must, in setting pay policy statements have regard to any 

guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers. The Welsh Government’s published 
guidance under Section 40 of the Act is entitled ‘Pay Accountability in Local 
Government in Wales’. Due regard has been given to this guidance in the 
preparation of the proposed Pay Policy Statement. The Pay Policy Statement 
also has due regard to the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014.  
 

4.7 The Pay Policy Statement must be approved by a resolution of full Council 
before it comes into force. Once in force it must be complied with, although 
full Council may amend it during the relevant financial year. It must be 
published on the Council’s website as soon as reasonably practicable after 
approval or amendment. 

 
4.8 A Pay Policy Statement meeting the legal requirements of the Localism Act 

2011 and having regard to the Welsh Government guidance is attached at 
Appendix A and is recommended for approval by Council. 
 

4.9 This report has been prepared and written by the Director of Human 
Resources and Director of Legal & Democratic Services and the Pay Policy 
reflects the current grading of those officers. Given previous cases where 
concerns have been expressed about Officers being involved in the 
preparation of reports that affect their own pay, this point is explicitly drawn to 
the attention of Members of the Council. 
 

4.10 It should be noted however that any officer of the Council writing this report 
would be in the same position. It is also important to note that this Pay Policy 

Tudalen 164



statement provides an accurate summary of the Council’s current policy for 
the purposes of publication under the Localism Act. What is also important to 
note is that this policy is not specifically about the authors in an individual 
capacity otherwise than as part of the Council’s group of Chief Officers. 

 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The conditions and rates relating to pay, as detailed in the Pay Policy 

Statement, are reflected in the Council’s budget for 2024/25.  
 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1 Under Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 the Council must prepare a Pay 
Policy Statement for each financial year before the commencement of that 
year. The Pay Policy Statement for 2024/25 must therefore be approved by 
full Council by 31st March 2024. 
 

6.2 The Act requires the Pay Policy Statement to cover certain specific matters 
and the Welsh Government has issued statutory Guidance in relation to Pay 
Policies, to which the Council must have regard. It is considered the Pay  
Policy at Appendix 1 meets the requirements set out in the guidance.  

 
6.3 The Pay Policy Statement must be published in such manner as the Council 

thinks fit, which must include publication on the Council’s website.  
 

7. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS  
 

7.1 The Council’s pay structures are considered to be compliant with Equalities 
legislation. 
 

8. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no Welsh language implications as a result of the recommendations 

in this report. 
 

9. CONSULTATION 
 

9.1 There are no specific consultation requirements aligned to this report.  
 

10. LINKS TO CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE WELL-
BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT 
 

10.1 The Pay Policy Statement supports the Council’s Corporate Plan as how 
employees are rewarded for their contribution is directly linked to the delivery 
of the Council’s key aims and priorities. The well-being goals are overarching 
and are considered during the development of all Council Human Resource 
policies.  
 
 
 

Tudalen 165



 
 

 
APPENDIX A 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 
 
 
 

2024/2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 166



 
 
 
Contents 
 
1. Introduction & Purpose 
2. Legislative Framework 
3. Scope & Pay Structure 

• Additional Payments 

• Honoraria 
• Secondments 
• Performance Related Pay 
• Market Supplements 

4. Senior Pay Remuneration 
5. Recruitment of Chief Officers 
6. Additions to Salary of Chief Officers 
7. Payments on Termination 
8. Re-employment 
9. Publication 
10. Pay Relativities 
11. Independent Remuneration Panel 
12. Accountability and Decision Making 
13. Reviewing the Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 167



1. Introduction & Purpose 
 
Leader’s Introduction 

 
1.1 Rhondda Cynon Taf Council recognises the importance of administering pay 

fairly, objectively and consistently in a way that encourages employees to 
make a positive contribution to the Council’s business. The decisions that are 
taken regarding pay and grading are crucial to maintaining equality across the 
Council.  
 

1.2 In setting its pay structure, the Council reflects on its corporate priorities, the 
important role that senior leadership plays in achieving those aims and also 
seeks to continually demonstrate value for money to the residents of the 
County Borough.   

 
 Purpose 
 
1.3 Under Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the 

“power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the 
authority thinks fit”. This Pay Policy Statement (the ‘statement’) sets out the 
Council’s approach to pay policy in accordance with the requirements of 
Section 38 and Section 40(2) of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act). 

 
2. Legislative Framework 
 
2.1 In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council 

will comply with all relevant employment legislation. 
 
3. Pay Structure 
 
3.1 The Council has adopted and implemented an objective, analytical job 

evaluation system based on job demands and developed a pay and grading 
structure based on spot salaries. 

 
3.2 This determines the salaries of the majority of the Council workforce. The 

features of the pay & grading structure are as follows: 
 

• Eighteen spot salaries; 
• Weekend enhancement of time plus a third is paid for Saturday and 

time plus a half for Sunday; 
• There are no enhanced rates for overtime payments; 
• There are no bonus payments. 

 
3.3 The pay and grading structure applies to all employees covered by the NJC 

for Local Government Services. 
 
3.4 The Council continues to pay the Real Living Wage (RLW) rate that in 

October 2023 increased to £12.00 per hour. In line with our agreement with 
the trade unions, this increase will be implemented from the 1st April this year.  

Tudalen 168



The increase to £12.00 per hour from April will affect all staff on grades 1 – 3 
of the Council’s grading system. This position may of course change, once the 
Council receives confirmation of the NJC for Local Government Services pay 
award uplift that is effective from the 1st April 2024.  
 

3.5 Employees covered by Soulbury terms and conditions have their pay 
determined by the Soulbury Committee. There are no overtime or bonus 
payments for this group of employees. 

 
3.6 The Council makes payments in respect of a ‘holiday pay’ supplement which 

was implemented to ensure all holiday payments to staff are made in 
accordance with the Working Time Directive.  

 
3.7 The determination of salary scales for employees covered by JNC for Local 

Authority Chief Executives and Chief Officers are dealt with under paragraph 
4 below.  

 
3.8 In addition to basic salary, the Council will reimburse all reasonable business 

travel and subsistence expenses on production of receipts and in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme for payment of travelling expenses, subsistence 
allowances and redeployment expenses. The Council operates a single 
scheme that applies to all employees. 

 
3.9 All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally 

negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance 
with collective bargaining arrangements and/or as determined by the 
Council’s Constitution and the Scheme of Delegation contained therein. In 
determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for all posts, 
the Council takes account of the need to ensure value for money in respect of 
the use of public funds, balanced against the need to recruit and retain 
employees who are able to meet the requirements of providing high quality 
services to the community, delivered effectively and efficiently and at times at 
which those services are required. 

 
3.10 The process for paying any temporary additional payments for undertaking 

additional responsibilities are in accordance with the Council’s Honoraria and 
Secondment Policies that apply to all Council employees (including Chief 
Officers). 

 
3.11 The Council does not operate a performance related pay system for any of its 

employees (including Chief Officers).  
 
3.12 There are occasions where it is necessary to take account of the external pay 

market through the payment of a ‘market supplement’, in order to attract and 
retain employees with particular experience, skills and capacity. Where 
necessary, the Council has ensured that such requirements are objectively 
justified by reference to evidence of relevant market comparators, using 
appropriate data sources available from within and outside the local 
government sector. 

 

Tudalen 169



 
4. Senior Pay Remuneration 

 
Definition of Chief Officer Remuneration 
 

4.1 For the purposes of this statement, ‘chief officers’ are as defined within 
Section 43 of the Act. The posts falling within the statutory definition are set 
out below: 

 
• Chief Executive  

• Deputy Chief Executive/ Group Director 

• Directors 

• Service Directors 

• Heads of Service 

Role of the Chief Executive 
4.2 The role of the Chief Executive, as the senior officer, is to advise and support 

the Council’s Cabinet to: 

• Provide leadership, vision and strategic direction; 
• Develop strategic policies to fulfil the Authority’s objectives; 
• Define the corporate culture and promote core values; 
• Ensure the Authority meets its statutory obligations and exercises 

sound corporate governance and effective resource management; 
• Ensure the performance of the Authority is managed effectively. 

 

4.3 Rhondda Cynon Taf had a Net Revenue Budget of £609.955M for the 
2023/24 financial year and a 3-year capital programme (2023/24 to 2025/26) 
of £314.750M (Quarter 2 Performance Report). The Net Revenue Budget for 
2024/25 is £631.795M and the updated 3-year capital programme for the 
period 2024/25 to 2026/27 amounts to £165.630M. The Council delivers a 
wide range of services employing approximately 10,583 staff.  

 
4.4 In Rhondda Cynon Taf the Chief Executive salary is determined by the criteria 

set out in the JNC for Local Authority Chief Executives National Agreement for 
Pay and Conditions of Service. The Chief Officer salary structure is based on 
a percentage of the Chief Executives salary and within the Education & 
Inclusion Services directorate, there are some Heads of Service positions 
which are remunerated at the senior Soulbury pay scale level. For details of 
the Chief Officer salary structure, please refer to Section 6 below. 

 
4.5 Any change to the existing Chief Executive and Chief Officer pay structure for 

Rhondda Cynon Taf can only be determined by the Council’s Cabinet and full 
Council as necessary. Should any changes to the existing value of the pay 
structure be considered, then due regard will be given to the Independent 
Remuneration Panel which is covered in Section 11 below. 

Tudalen 170



 
5. Recruitment of Chief Officers 
 
5.1 The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment are set out 

within the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Council 
Constitution. 

 
5.2 When recruiting to all posts the Council will take full and proper account of its 

own Equalities, Recruitment and Management of Change Policies. 
 
5.3 The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed 

chief officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies 
in place at the time of recruitment. Welsh Government recommends that full 
Council should be offered the opportunity to vote on salary packages of 
£100,000 and above in respect of new appointments. 

 
5.4 Where the Council is unable to recruit to a post at the designated grade, it will 

consider the use of market forces supplements in accordance with its relevant 
policies. 

 
5.5 Where the Council remains unable to recruit chief officers under a contract of 

employment, or there is a need for interim support to provide cover for a 
vacant substantive chief officer post, the Council will, where necessary, 
consider engaging individuals under ‘contracts for service’. These will be 
sourced through a relevant procurement process ensuring that the Council not 
only meets it statutory obligations but can also demonstrate the maximum 
value for money benefits in securing the relevant service. 

 
5.6 The Council does not currently have any chief officers engaged under such 

arrangements. 
 
 

6. Additions to Salary of Chief Officers 
 
6.1 The Council does not apply any bonuses, performance related pay, or any 

other benefits to its chief officers. 
 
Chief Officer Remuneration Details 

 
6.2 The Council publishes in the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts details 

of remuneration in respect of chief officer posts where the annual sum paid is 
at least £60,000. It is important to note that whilst Teaching posts are outside 
the scope of this Pay Policy, any Teacher whose earnings are over the 
£60,000 threshold will still be recorded within the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts. The Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts can be accessed via 
the following link:-  

 
 http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/PerformanceBudgetsandSpending/State

mentofAccounts.aspx 
 

Tudalen 171

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/PerformanceBudgetsandSpending/StatementofAccounts.aspx
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/PerformanceBudgetsandSpending/StatementofAccounts.aspx


6.3 The Council must appoint a returning officer (currently the Director of Legal & 
Democratic Services). All fees paid in relation to the performance of the 
returning officer duties are determined by the Secretary of State for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities for reserved elections/Minister for Finance and 
Local Government for devolved elections and published in the Fees Order for 
the relevant election/referenda or in the case of County Borough elections by 
the Council itself. The details of any such fees paid are published in the 
Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts. The Council has determined that no 
fees shall be payable to the returning officer for duties associated with 
undertaking the County Borough elections. 

 
7. Payments on Termination 
 
7.1 The Council’s approach to statutory and discretionary payments on 

termination of employment, prior to reaching normal retirement age, apply to 
all staff including chief officers and is set out within its policy statement in 
accordance with Regulation 6 of the Local Government (Early Termination of 
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006 and 
Regulations 30(6), 30(7) and 30(8) of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013.  

 
7.2 Applications under these schemes are made in accordance with the Council 

Constitution and Scheme of Delegation and are agreed by the Council’s 
Voluntary Early Retirement Panel (and full Council as necessary). All 
applications for early retirement will be considered objectively. The schemes 
will apply to the following groups of staff: 

 
• JNC for Chief Executives 

• JNC for Chief Officers 

• NJC for Local Government Services 

• Staff employed under Soulbury terms and conditions  

7.3 Redundancy Payments are made in accordance with the Redundancy 
Payments (Continuity of Employment in Local Government) (Modification) 
Order 1999, for the purposes of continuous service, as is any such declared 
re-employment by a body covered by the Modification Order. 

 
7.4 Welsh Government recommends that full Council should be offered the 

opportunity to vote before severance packages for chief officers of £100,000 
and above are approved for senior staff leaving the organisation.  Within 
Rhondda Cynon Taf, any such severance package will firstly be considered 
by the Voluntary Early Retirement Panel. This Panel will make a 
recommendation to full Council as to whether or not the Council should agree 
a particular severance package. Following consideration by full Council a vote 
will be taken on whether to agree the severance package. 

 
 
 

Tudalen 172



7.5 However, Members must be made aware of the statutory or contractual 
entitlements due to an employee and the consequences of non approval by 
Council which may allow an employee to claim damages for breach of 
contract.  

 
The Welsh Government considers the following components of a severance 
package for chief officers should be included when determining whether the 
package exceeds £100k:  
 

(i) salary paid in lieu;  
(ii) lump sum redundancy / severance payment; and  
(iii) cost to the authority of the strain on the pension fund.  

 
7.6 Any other payments falling outside the provisions or the relevant periods of 

contractual notice shall be subject to a formal decision made in accordance 
with the Council Constitution and Scheme of Delegation. 

 
8. Re-employment 
 
8.1 The Council will not re-employ or re-engage either as an employee, agency 

worker or consultant, any officer in receipt of an enhanced severance or 
redundancy payment which formed part of their early retirement. Those 
officers not of retirement age who accepted an enhanced severance payment 
as part of their voluntary redundancy will be precluded from being an 
employee, agency worker or consultant for a two-year period following their 
termination. 

 
9. Publication 
 
9.1 Upon approval by the full Council, this statement will be published on the 

Council’s website. 
 

10. Pay Relativities 
 
10.1  The lowest paid employee of the Council is paid at Grade 1 of the Council’s 

pay and grading structure. 
 
10.2 The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid and chief officers 

is determined by the processes used for determining pay and grading 
structures as set out earlier in this statement. 

 
10.3 In accordance with the requirements of Section 38(2) of the Act this statement 

must state the relationship between the remuneration of chief officers and the 
remuneration of its employees who are not chief officers. 

 
10.4 The statutory guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers under Section 40(2) of 

the Act recommends the use of pay multiples as a means of measuring the 
relationship between pay rates across the workforce and that of senior 
managers, as included within the Hutton ‘Review of Fair Pay in the Public 
Sector’ (2010). 

Tudalen 173



10.5 Hutton recommended the publication of an organisation’s pay multiple, the 
ratio between the highest paid employee and the median average earnings 
across an organisation, as a means of illustrating that relationship and 
concluded that the most relevant measure for the median earnings figure 
should be the full time equivalent earnings of all staff employed. 

 
10.6 In accordance with the recommendation of the Hutton report the ratio between 

the Chief Executive’s pay and the median earnings of the workforce 
calculated using current pay levels within the Council is 1:6. 

 
10.7 Whilst there is no legal requirement within Wales to publish separately, in the 

interests of transparency and equity, it is considered good practice to report 
on the Gender Pay Gap. Utilising the recommended calculation method, the 
combined pay gap within Rhondda Cynon Taf currently stands at 8.1%.  

 
 

11. Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
11.1 In accordance with Section 143A of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 

2011 the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (“the IRP”) has powers 
to make recommendations in relation to any policy in an authority’s pay policy 
statement which relates to the salary of the Chief Executive.  

 
11.2 If the Council proposes to change the salary value of the Chief Executive 

(except one which is commensurate to a change affecting the authority’s other 
staff more generally) then the Council is obliged to consult the IRP about the 
proposed change.  The Council is then required to have regard to the IRP’s 
recommendations on the proposal. 
 

 
12. Accountability and Decision Making 
 
12.1 The Council Constitution and Scheme of Delegation sets out the procedure 

for decision making in relation to the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions 
and severance arrangements in relation to all employees of the Council. 

 
13. Reviewing the Policy 
 
13.1 This Pay Policy Statement will be kept under review and developments 

considered in the light of external best practice and legislation. The Council 
will ensure the Pay Policy Statement is updated on an annual basis in line 
with the requirement of the Localism Act 2011. The annual Pay Policy 
Statement will be submitted to full Council each year for approval. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 174


	Agenda
	3 Cofnodion
	Cofnodion

	5 Cwestiynau gan yr Aelodau
	RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
	MEMBERS QUESTIONS ON NOTICE
	REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES & COMMUNICATION.
	REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES & COMMUNICATION.

	Item:  MEMBERS QUESTIONS ON NOTICE

	Background Papers

	6 Strategaeth Cyllideb Refeniw 2024/25
	RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
	MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023-2024
	REPORT OF:
	THE CABINET
	13.0 THE 2024/25 MACRO REVENUE BUDGET
	Table 4: Proposed Resources in 2024/25
	Table 5: Application of the 2024/25 Outline Budget Strategy
	14.0 SPECIFIC GRANTS
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 1a
	Atodiad 2
	CONTENTS
	1.	INTRODUCTION
	2.	BACKGROUND
	3.	METHODOLOGY
	4.	Consultation Findings

	Atodiad 3
	Atodiad 4
	Atodiad 5

	7 PENDERFYNIAD TRETH Y CYNGOR 2024/25
	Table 1
	(a) Robustness of Estimates
	(b) Adequacy of Financial Reserves


	8 RHAGLEN GYFALAF 2024/25 – 2026/27
	Adult & Children’s Services
	Atodiad 1
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	3a
	3b
	3c
	3d
	3e


	9 STRATEGAETH RHEOLI'R TRYSORLYS 2024/2025
	*****

	10 ADRODDIAD STRATEGAETH GYFALAF 2024/25
	Indicator 8 : Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream
	Indicator 9 : Ratio of Net Income from Commercial and Service Investments to Net Revenue Stream

	11 DATGANIAD 2024/25 Y CYNGOR AR BOLISI CYFLOGAU

